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Chairman’s statement

Developments in 2010
As a result of the fi nancial crisis, the composition 
and patterns of business fl ows in the securities 
services sector where Euroclear operates have 
changed considerably. Client needs have evolved, 
with ever-increasing demand for improvements 
in our services and lower fees. Competition has 
increased signifi cantly for many of our businesses. 
In order to respond to the challenges of this 
changing business environment, the Board asked 
Tim Howell, our new Chief Executive Offi  cer, to 
undertake a major review of all the longer-term 
aspects of Euroclear’s business model.

As a result of this review, your Board has reached 
three conclusions.

First, it has directed management to continue 
the programme of cost reductions which the group 
initiated in 2008. Th anks to this programme, 
annual operating costs, excluding restructuring 
and exceptional charges, thus far have been 
reduced by €128 million.

Second, the Board has concluded that it would 
be prudent to record a €300 million impairment 
charge in the goodwill value of the investments in 
Euroclear UK & Ireland and Euroclear Finland. 
Th is is the result of a re-assessment of the long-
term profi tability of these Euroclear group CSDs 
in light of continuing diffi  cult market conditions. 
Th e impairment in the value of Euroclear UK & 
Ireland largely refl ects the nature of the company’s 
revenue sources and pricing structure. Euroclear 

UK & Ireland’s revenues depend mostly on the 
number of transactions booked, unlike other group 
CSDs, where the sources of revenues are more var-
ied. Th e impairment in Euroclear Finland refl ects 
concerns about declining business volumes, as 
Finnish investor transactions and accounts may 
be internalised at Finnish banks rather than 
remaining with the CSD. In addition, as a result 
of changes to the group’s business model, the 
Board considers it prudent to impair €117 million 
of deferred tax benefi ts. As a result, we have 
reported a net loss in 2010 of €280 million 
compared with a net loss of €38 million in 2009.
None of the impairments aff ect the valuation or 
regulatory capital of Euroclear Bank.

Finally, as I reported in my 2009 statement, 
diffi  culties have arisen in the building of the single 
platform. At the request of the Board, manage-
ment has carried out a fundamental review of the 
group’s major IT developments. Th is review has 
led to the implementation of a new IT strategy, 
which is centred on more economical, speedier and 
effi  cient ways of delivering most of the customer 
benefi ts originally envisaged in the single platform 
programme. Th e objective of this revised strategy 
is twofold: to enable Euroclear to deliver the neces-
sary functionalities to clients sooner; and to priori-
tise those service improvements that will provide 
the most value to the market, such as enhanced 
collateral management services and further 
corporate actions processing harmonisation.

Sir Nigel Wicks, Chairman

As I anticipated in my statement last year, business conditions for the post-trade industry 

in 2010 have continued to be challenging. Securities issuance and trading, which represent 

the core of the group’s business, have still to regain their former buoyancy. Interest rates, 

which are a major determinant of the group’s net interest earnings, have remained at 

historically low levels. In spite of these diffi cult trading conditions, I can report that the 

group has maintained a consistent level of consolidated pre-tax operating profi ts. 

In 2010, this amounted to €186 million (before the impairment, on which I comment below), 

compared to €184 million in 2009. Based on the operating results for the year, your Board is 

proposing a dividend of €11.00 per share as compared to €11.46 per share for 2009. 

This represents a total payment of €42.1 million versus €43.9 million for 2009.
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The future 
Although we are cautiously optimistic about a con-
tinued market recovery in 2011, our programme 
of cost controls and reductions remains a key 
priority for management. In addition, management 
will continue to integrate recently acquired entities 
to maximise business effectiveness. The integration 
of EMXCo’s business into Euroclear UK & Ireland, 
which took place in September 2010, was carried 
out to offer the best possible fund transaction 
processing services to the market, while delivering 
greater back-office efficiencies and cost savings. 
The integration into the group of the trade match-
ing and reporting specialist Xtrakter, which we 
acquired in 2009, is also progressing as planned.

Euroclear’s main priorities will continue to centre 
upon the provision of high-quality services and 
support to our clients, in the context of reliable 
and robust systems that operate within a carefully 
risk-managed environment. Expert and knowledge-
able staff at Euroclear is ready to assist the market 
in handling any future extreme events.

We will pursue new opportunities to strengthen 
our competitive position in the market, and we will 
continue to invest in new products and services to 
retain and attract business. 

Future partnerships or strategic transactions will 
be considered where the Board believes there are 
clear client-oriented and/or strategic benefits for 
the company. 

Regulation in the post-trade sector
It is inevitable that the changes being made to 
European financial services legislation will concern 
the post-trade infrastructure. Euroclear will support 
regulatory change wherever it promotes market 
efficiency and fair competition between the entities 
providing settlement and custody services. 

The European Commission’s proposals to regulate 
CSDs and (I)CSDs consistently across Europe are 
welcome and we hope that they will result in a level 
regulatory playing field for competition between 
(I)CSDs. This is vital if CSDs are to compete on 

equal terms for business from issuers in the future, 
as the Commission proposes. In addition, we hope 
that new legislation will effectively ensure the access 
and interoperability provisions foreseen in the Code 
of Conduct agreed in 2006.

Structural reforms of legislation always carry the 
risk of unintended consequences. It is therefore 
essential that legislative change safeguards the 
ability of CSDs and (I)CSDs to operate in a 
legislative environment where they can provide not 
only stability and efficiency to the European and 
international capital markets, but also innovative 
post-trade services to their clients.

In parallel, the European Commission is reviewing 
the possibilities of harmonising the laws for holding 
and transferring securities within the EU. 
This review could have significant benefits for 
the market if it simplifies the areas of law which 
make cross-border settlement so complex today. 
In particular, it should be structured so as to 
ensure consistent application across the wide 
variety of legal regimes and securities holding 
structures across the EU.

T2S
The European Central Bank’s (ECB) proposed 
TARGET2-Securities (T2S) programme is a 
central development for our industry. Euroclear 
is ready to integrate the benefits that the T2S 
platform promises to deliver into our service 
portfolio. Drawing upon the experience gained 
in harmonising the market practices of Belgium, 
France and the Netherlands, Euroclear is ready 
to assist the ECB in developing its planned 
pan-European settlement system.

To that effect, we continue to participate in the 
advisory and working groups that are preparing 
for the launch of T2S in September 2014, and 
contractual discussions are ongoing. The length 
of these discussions is not surprising given the 
complexities and scale of the outsourcing 
arrangement that the Eurosystem is inviting 
CSDs to undertake. Your Board will take a 
decision later in 2011 on whether to contractually 

outsource settlement to the Eurosystem, after a 
comprehensive review of the possible services, 
mutual obligations, liabilities and risks, as well as 
the business opportunities arising fromT2S.

The Board
The Board welcomes Drew Douglas of HSBC 
Holdings, Tsutomu Hattori of Mitsubishi UFJ 
Global Custody SA, Vivien Levy-Garboua of BNP 
Paribas and Nils-Fredrik Nyblaeus of SEB AB as 
new members of the Euroclear plc and Euroclear 
SA/NV Boards. 

We also welcome the appointment, in the course 
of the year, of Tim Howell, Frédéric Hannequart 
and Lieve Mostrey as Executive Directors on the 
Board of Euroclear SA/NV. Tim Howell, formerly 
of HSBC Holdings, resigned from the Board of 
Euroclear plc to take up the position of CEO 
and Chairman of the Management Committee 
of Euroclear SA/NV upon the departure of 
Pierre Francotte. Frederic Hannequart, a member 
of the Management Committee, was appointed to 
the Board upon the departure of Ignace Combes. 
Lieve Mostrey, formerly of BNP Paribas Fortis, 
resigned from the Board of Euroclear plc to 
join Euroclear SA/NV as Chief Technology and 
Services Officer and a member of its Management 
Committee.

Akihiro Kanayasu of Mitsubishi UFJ Global 
Custody SA, David Nicol of Morgan Stanley and 
Tom Ruud, one of the independent directors, 
resigned from their positions as directors on the 
Boards of Euroclear plc and Euroclear SA/NV. 
I thank them all for their services and contribution. 

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to 
thank all Euroclear employees for their invaluable 
contribution under very challenging conditions.

Sir Nigel Wicks

Chairman
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Chief Executive Offi cer’s review

On the right track
In many ways, we are continuing to pursue the 
strategic direction for Euroclear that was defi ned 
5 to 10 years ago. However, we will take a 
diff erent route with reorganised priorities and 
roll-out schedules to arrive at the fi nal destination. 

For example, the fi nancial industry is attaching 
greater importance and value to eff ective collateral 
management. Before the crisis, the possibility 
that a buy-side fi rm might post assets as collateral 
with a prime broker and then be unable to recover 
these assets was inconceivable. Th is has now 
changed. Risks that many thought to be largely 
theoretical are now recognised to have huge practi-
cal importance. Th e demand for sound collateral 
management is one consequence of this process 
– and Euroclear is prioritising enhancements to its 
collateral management service portfolio in response 
to recent events and in line with delivering more 
of the most critical benefi ts faster to our clients. 

Asset servicing harmonisation remains a priority 
for Euroclear. It is imperative that we continue to 
reduce, if not eliminate, the complexities and costs 

associated with diverse market rules and 
practices in servicing our clients’ assets as they 
pursue opportunities across borders. Moreover, 
we will continue our own harmonisation 
initiatives while others strive to reach common 
ground on moving forward with a pan-European 
market-practice harmonisation agenda.

In addition, Euroclear remains committed to 
promoting electronic communication via ISO-
standard messaging. Th is is an integral part of our 
broader set of initiatives to promote asset servicing 
harmonisation and improve straight-through 
processing rates across transaction types.

Th is is not to say that Euroclear will be tackling 
these challenges alone. You can expect us to partner 
with specialists in asset servicing and other areas 
to accomplish shared objectives. We are entering 
an era of greater collaboration, as it makes good 
business sense to work with proven service 
providers rather than taking the risk to build 
something better ourselves in each instance.

Tim Howell, CEO of

Euroclear SA/NV

As I near my fi rst anniversary as Chief Executive Offi cer of Euroclear, you might expect my 

pause for refl ection to be brief. However, the accomplishments of the Euroclear group during 

2010 were signifi cant and pivotal in that we redefi ned our business model to provide greater 

operational effi ciencies and service benefi ts to our clients more quickly, on a more frequent 

basis, and with less risk and cost. 

We recognised that the fi nancial instability evidenced globally over the past two-to-three 

years required a hard look at the various parameters guiding our plans. Continued market 

volatility is forcing our clients to examine carefully the risks, costs and priorities associated 

with their businesses. In addition, market participants are confronted by a growing number 

of new and amended regulations. These trends demanded a greater sense of agility and 

fl exibility in how Euroclear plans – in fact, delivers – timely, relevant and client-driven 

enhancements to our service portfolio.

As the priorities and needs of our clients are changing quite rapidly in this unpredictable 

marketplace, Euroclear responsiveness is crucial. Therefore, Euroclear management and the 

Board agreed that it is no longer appropriate to be working towards the completion of our 

long-term business model in its original form when the challenges confronting Euroclear’s 

clients are shifting radically.  
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A new era of change
The Euroclear brand has evolved substantially 
since its early days, when many viewed Euroclear 
predominantly as a eurobond house. These days, 
Euroclear Bank and the Euroclear CSDs extend 
a wide range of post-trade services across a broad 
range of instruments and markets. Increasingly, 
Euroclear is being approached by partners outside 
of Europe to help them develop their post-trade 
capital market infrastructures. This represents an 
exciting opportunity, given that some of these 
markets have little legacy infrastructure in place 
and can move directly to industry-leading 
technology and market practices. 

In early 2011, we are again seeing waves of 
proposed infrastructure consolidation between 
stock exchanges, both on a trans-Atlantic basis and 
regionally. Thus, after a hiatus, it seems that the 
globalisation of our capital markets is moving 
closer to becoming a reality. 

On the other hand, competition is performing 
its role admirably – prices are declining and new 
services are offered. Some of the multi-lateral 
trading facilities (MTFs), such as Chi-X and BATS 
Europe, are gaining greater and greater market 
share by the week. In a period of just three years, 
MTFs have attracted nearly 50% of all FTSE-100 
equity trading in London and more than 25% of 
all continental European equity trading activity.

While the trading and clearing sectors are 
increasingly competitive, they have simultaneously 
introduced greater market fragmentation and com-
plexity. There is a particularly strong need to ensure 
that the operational risks and costs in our new 
environment are kept to a minimum. This dual 
objective creates considerable challenges for both 
infrastructure service providers and our clients. 

Robust risk management
Infrastructure service providers can help firms avoid 
the cost of developing individual risk management 
solutions at their own expense. We can also ensure 
coherence of such solutions across markets, giving 
banks and regulators additional comfort regarding 
‘consistency of response’ from the market to new 

demands for risk control. For example, stan-
dardising or automating procedures that help to 
increase straight-through processing rates and avoid 
error-prone manual intervention is an important 
contribution. 

In my opinion, risk management and process-
ing efficiency improvements go hand in hand, as 
processing inefficiency is a source of operational 
risks. With Basel II and III, the focus has increased 
on increasing capital requirements to manage 
operational risks and, therefore, such infrastructure 
solutions are increasingly seen as one of the ways 
for firms to manage their capital requirements, 
especially in an environment where the cost of 
capital is high. More and more clients are seeking 
to better understand how infrastructure service 
providers like Euroclear can help.  

Underscoring our low-risk profile and strong risk 
management practices, we are very pleased to report 
that for the 10th consecutive year, Euroclear Bank’s 
AA+ credit rating was reconfirmed by Standard & 
Poor's and Fitch Ratings.   
   
Strengthening our future
Euroclear and the securities services industry have 
recognised for a number of years that settlement 
is becoming commoditised. As such, it is not a 
revelation that some of Euroclear’s CSDs will lose 
settlement revenue upon the release of T2S. If 
this were a surprise, it would suggest fundamental 
weaknesses in our long-term planning. As it is said, 
one is not killed by the train one sees approach-
ing. Thus, we have plenty of time to implement 
our business strategy to continue delivering value 
to clients in a T2S environment. As you will note, 
settlement fees are no longer a major contributor 
to the revenue streams of many CSDs; it has been 
eclipsed by revenues generated through corporate 
actions processing, with collateral management and 
related services coming on-stream strongly.

In line with the group’s pre-tax profit results, and in 
spite of difficult business conditions, our operating 
performance in 2010 was solid. The value of securi-
ties the Euroclear group held for clients rose to a 
record €21.9 trillion, 10% above 2009 levels. 

The value of securities transactions settled for 
clients rose 5% to €526 trillion in 2010, with 
more than 150 million transactions processed by 
Euroclear during the year, although 14% less than 
in 2009. The daily average of collateral outstanding 
managed by Euroclear for clients was €520 million, 
with Euroclear Bank administered triparty 
collateral management deals outstanding surging 
42% in 2010. These results reinforce our strategic 
direction to focus on delivering strong asset 
protection, improved asset servicing and collateral 
management services.   

Excellent progress also has been achieved in our 
multi-year plan to reduce administrative and 
other costs. Following on from earlier efforts, the 
programme will continue in the coming three 
years. Initiatives include a wide range of procure-
ment spend management measures, procedure and 
process automation, less use of contractual workers 
and initiatives such as ‘Lean’ from which we have 
derived equally important benefits in terms of 
efficiency and productivity improvements. Client 
satisfaction is rising while our overall headcount 
decreased. At the end of 2010, costs have been 
reduced by €130 million since the plan 
commenced in 2008. 

Looking ahead to the next five years, I believe 
Euroclear’s core business markets will still be 
centred in Europe, given the strong foundations 
we have in the region. However, our international 
presence and ability to deliver new services faster 
on a global basis is likely to accelerate, particularly 
through collaborative arrangements.

Euroclear is seen by many as an important partner 
in sustaining market stability, as a risk-conscious 
organisation that invests in water-tight asset 
protection and as a capital market infrastructure 
that supports economic development. We aim to 
strengthen this reputation: it’s all about doing the 
right things the right way.

Tim Howell
CEO
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• Th e value of securities held for Euroclear 
clients at the end of 2010 was a record 
€21.9 trillion, 10% higher than the 
€20.0 trillion at year-end 2009.

• Turnover, or the value of securities transac-
tions settled, was €526.1 trillion in 2010, 
a 5% increase compared with €500.0 trillion 
in 2009.

• Th e number of netted transactions settled 
in the Euroclear group decreased by 14% 
to 150.4 million in 2010 compared with 

 175.2 million in 2009. 

• Th e combined daily value of collateral 
provision outstanding in Euroclear Bank 
rose 42% in 2010. When combined with 
Euroclear UK & Ireland, the total value 
declined by 4% in 2010 to €520.1 billion 
from €544.2 billion at the end of 2009. 

1 The data includes intra-group holdings/transactions, as relevant.
2 The data for Euroclear UK & Ireland excludes self-collateralising repos; the data for Euroclear France excludes ‘pensions 

livrées’ with Banque de France. The 2008 data for Euroclear Sweden and Euroclear Finland for turnover and number
 of netted transactions settled only comprises the months of November and December 2008.
3 Securities in the UK are held through Euroclear UK & Ireland on the books of registrars.
4 The data for Euroclear UK & Ireland consists of Delivery-by-Value (DBV) and money-market instrument repo 

transactions. Not all are intermediated transactions.
5 Some data in 2009 were restated marginally to harmonise the calculation method used by all Euroclear entities.
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Daily collateral provision outstanding 
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During 2010, we started to see early signs of 
recovery following the economic recession that 
began in 2008. Our low risk profi le and strong 
risk management culture have contributed to 
protect the company’s solid reputation. 

Total operating income increased by €18 
million to €952 million, of which €834 million 
was generated from 10% increased net fee 
and commission income and €88 million was 
generated from the more volatile net interest 
income, impacted by historically low interest 
rates. 

Simultaneously, the cost base decreased by 
5% on a comparable basis, excluding one-off  
restructuring charge and facilities provisions for 
a total of €57 million.

In the course of the year, a reassessment of the 
remaining components of the single platform 
being developed by Euroclear SA/NV led to 
a new IT development strategy. Th is resulted in 
the discontinuation of several IT applications. 
In this context, Euroclear SA/NV is expected to 
absorb the development costs incurred for such 
applications impacting its profi tability going 
forward.

Euroclear’s net loss amounted to €280 million, 
including a €45 million restructuring charge, 
€12 million facilities provisions together with 
impairment charges on goodwill for €300 mil-
lion and on deferred tax assets for €117 million 
largely due to the review of the single platform 
delivery. 

Th e Board is proposing a dividend of €11.00 
per share, compared to €11.46 in 2009.

Dividend per share (in € per share) Shareholders’ equity (in € million)

Operating income (in € million) Operating profi t before impairment 
and taxation (in € million)

Euroclear plc consolidated (in € million) 2010 2009

For the year ended 31 December

Operating income 952.3 933.8
Loss for the year (280.3) (38.4)
Net earnings per share (€) (73.2) (10.0)
Dividend per share (€) 11.00 11.46
At 31 December

Total assets  11,462.1  11,002.5
Subordinated liabilities 299.5 299.2
Shareholders, equity 2,829.9   3,133.4
Shareholders, equity/Total assets 24.7% 28.5%
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Euroclear plc summarised consolidated income statement (in € million)

 2010   2009

Net interest income 87.6  98.2
Net fee and commission income 834.0  758.7
Dividend income 0.3  17.8
Realised gains on available-for-sale financial assets 20.7  33.8
Realised gains on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 0.0  2.1
Net gains on financial assets or liabilities held for trading 1.8  10.5
Net losses on foreign exchange (5.4) (2.1)
Other operating income 13.3  14.8
Operating income 952.3  933.8

Administrative expenses (765.9) (749.4)
Operating profit before impairment and taxation 186.4 184.4

Impairment (304.5) (184.9)
Operating loss before taxation (118.1)  (0.5)

Taxation (162.2) (37.9)
Loss for the year (280.3) (38.4)

First signs of recovery in 2010 
Following the economic recession that began in 
2008, we started to see early signs of recovery 
during 2010. Our low risk profile and strong 
risk management culture have contributed to 
protect the company’s solid reputation.

Operating income for the year amounted to 
€952 million, of which: 

•	 €834	million	was	generated	from	net	
 fee and commission income which increase  
 by 10% compared to prior year; and 

•	 €88	million	was	generated	from	the	more		
 volatile net interest income, which   
 represents a decrease of 10% compared  
 to the prior year as it was impacted  
 by historically low interest rates. 

The operating profit before tax and goodwill 
impairment for the year reached €186 million, 
compared with €184 million in 2009.

The average number of persons employed 
by the group during the year was 3,851 
compared to 3,961 in 2009, including only 

an eight-month contribution for Xtrakter’s 
employees. This is the result of non-replaced 
departures and the restructuring the group has 
undertaken in the course of the year.

Financial performance highlights
The detailed results for the year are set out 
on page 17 of the Euroclear plc financial 
statements.

Loss for the year: the Euroclear group’s loss 
after tax for the year reached €280 million, 
compared to €38 million last year. This was due 
to a €304 million impairment split over the 
Euroclear UK & Ireland and Euroclear Finland 
operating segments. In addition there was a 
€117 million write off of the deferred tax assets 
largely due to the review of the single platform 
delivery and a €45 million charge relating to 
one-off restructuring charges.

In the course of the year, a re-assessment on the 
remaining components of the single platform 
that was under development at Euroclear  
SA/NV led to a new IT development strategy. 
This resulted in the discontinuation of several 
IT applications.

 
 
Financial review
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In this context, Euroclear SA/NV is expected 
to absorb the development costs incurred for 
such applications impacting its profitability 
going forward, which has been translated into 
deferred tax asset impairments at consolidated 
level. 

Excluding the impairment charges for goodwill 
and deferred tax assets, the Euroclear group’s 
normalised profit before tax for the year 
reached €243 million, a strong improvement 
over the €147 million for 2009.

Operating income reached €952 million, an 
increase of €18 million compared to 2009.

Net interest income reached €88 million. The 
implications of the financial crisis are still being 
felt with interest rates remaining at a historically 
low level throughout the year (see below table). 
This had a negative impact on interest earnings 
with a 10% reduction compared to 2009.  

Average deposits increased by 16% and average 
overdrafts by 11% as a result of higher settle-
ment activity with increased focus from clients 
on liquidity management and reduction of 
interest costs. Our interest income stems princi-
pally from Euroclear Bank’s overnight redeposits 

of clients’ cash balances. It also stems from the 
investment of Euroclear Bank’s capital, retained 
earnings and the proceeds from subordinated 
debt.

Net fees and commission income increased 
by 10% to €834 million, reflecting the impact 
of the slight market recovery. Net fees and 
commission income represents 88% of 2010 
total operating income. A significant share of 
our fees and commission income is generated 
by fixed income securities. In particular, this 
comes from the securities held in custody, 
for which safekeeping fees are charged on 
the nominal amount. Furthermore, the large 
government stimulus packages financed by 
debt issuance helped sustain business resilience 
in Euroclear, which contributed to protecting 
group revenues.

Administrative expenses increased by 2% to 
€766 million in 2010. However, excluding the 
restructuring charge and the facilities provisions 
for a total of €57 million, the administrative 
expenses decreased by 5% compared to the 
prior year.

Impairment charges were recognised for 
a total amount of €304 million, €250 
million for Euroclear UK & Ireland, €50 
million for Euroclear Finland and a further 
charge of €4 million recorded in the group 
consolidated financial statements to align the 
remaining values of goodwill with those in the 
consolidated financial statements of Euroclear 
SA/NV.

Operating loss before tax was €118 million, 
an increase of €118 million compared to 2009, 
mainly reflecting the increased impairment 
charge.

Dividend: on 10 March 2011, the directors 
decided to recommend a dividend distribu-
tion to ordinary shareholders of €42.1 million, 
representing €11.00 per share (compared with 
€11.46 per share in 2009). This dividend level 
reflects the objectives of the group regard-
ing capital strength under the current market 
environment as well as our continued commit-
ment to ensuring shareholders are adequately 
remunerated for their capital investment. 

Balance sheet: total assets stood at €11,462 
million on 31 December 2010, up €460 
million on the previous year. Deposits and 
loans increased by 10% to €7,750 million  
and €8,246 million respectively. 

Total shareholders’ equity decreased by 10% to 
€2,830 million in 2010.

The group continues to hold strong regulatory 
capital levels with a Tier 1 ratio and a total 
capital adequacy ratio (after dividend) both 
reaching 43% at 31 December 2010 compared 
with 34% in 2009.
 

 
 
Financial review

Overnight  2010 2009 
interest rate (average)  (average)

EUR 0.36% 0.60%
USD 0.25% 0.22%
GBP 0.44% 0.52%

€ million  2010 2009

Operating profit before impairment and taxation 186 184

Adjustments 

Dividend received from LCH.Clearnet Group Limited  (18) 
Realised gain on disposal of LCH.Clearnet Group Limited shares  (17)
Realised gain on re-purchase of Hybrid Tier I debt   (2) 
Facilities provisions 12 
Group restructuring charges  45
Normalised profit before tax for the year 243 147
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Euroclear plc summarised consolidated statement of financial position (in € million)

 2010 2009

Assets  

Cash and balances with central banks 444.2  945.4
Loans and advances 7,801.5  6,544.4
Available-for-sale financial assets 1,309.3  1,274.3
Held-to-maturity financial assets 297.9  298.7
Financial assets held for trading 5.7  6.0
Derivatives used for hedging 1.5  0.3
Current income tax assets 8.0  16.8
Deferred income tax assets 63.6  155.8
Other assets 310.4  252.2
Pre-payments and accrued income 116.0  89.1
Property, plant and equipment 109.7  127.0
Goodwill and intangible assets 994.3  1,292.5
Total assets 11,462.1  11,002.5

Liabilities 

Deposits from central banks 223.5  1,493.7
Deposits from banks and customers 7,526.4  5,542.2
Financial liabilities held for trading 5.5  4.1
Derivatives used for hedging 2.0  2.7
Other liabilities 275.1  264.9
Accruals and deferred income 203.5  202.2
Current income tax liabilities 16.3  4.8
Deferred income tax liabilities 4.1  3.0
Provisions for liabilities and charges 41.1  9.2
Pension deficit 35.2  43.1
Subordinated liabilities 299.5  299.2
Shareholders’ equity 2,829.9  3,133.4

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 11,462.1  11,002.5
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Share capital of Euroclear plc on 10 March 2011

 Authorised Issued

 Number Nominal value Number Nominal value
(€ denominated)

Ordinary shares of €1 each 3,330,556 3,330,556 3,330,556 3,330,556
‘S’ shares of €1 each 500,120 500,120 500,120 500,120
Unclassified shares of €1 each 169,324 169,324 - -
Total 4,000,000 4,000,000 3,830,676 3,830,676

(£ denominated) 

Preferred non-voting redeemable sterling shares of £1 each1 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

1  Under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the preferred non-voting redeemable sterling shares are considered as debt in the consolidated financial 
statements of the group.

Euroclear Bank credit ratings

 Short-term Long-term

 
Fitch-IBCA F1+ AA+
Standard & Poor’s A-1+ AA+
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Management assertion statement
Euroclear SA/NV and its subsidiaries maintain effective controls to comply with the Euroclear 
Inter-company Transaction Policy (the ‘Policy’). The controls include those processes and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
 inter-company transactions and arrangements (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to comply with the Policy, and those transactions and arrangements are being made 
only in accordance with authorisations of management or directors of Euroclear SA/NV and its subsidiaries. 
Our system contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they 
are identified.

The Policy, which has been established by Management and approved by the Board of Directors of each 
of the Euroclear entities, complies with the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines of July 1995, including 
subsequent amendments.

The Policy is designed to ensure that for any goods or services which are provided between entities, 
agreements are in place for ‘at arm’s length’1 remuneration between those entities.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining processes and procedures to ensure compliance 
with the Policy.

Management has assessed the application of the Inter-company Transaction Policy for the period 1 January 
2010 through to 31 December 2010.

Based on our assessment, and taking into account the above assertions, Euroclear SA/NV believes that, for 
the period 1 January 2010 through to 31 December 2010, the Inter-company Transaction Policy has been 
in accordance with the OECD Guidelines and was applied effectively amongst Euroclear SA/NV and its 
subsidiaries.

10 March 2011
Tim Howell
CEO of Euroclear SA/NV

 
Inter-company Transaction  
Policy audit

The Euroclear group has committed 
itself to the policy of no cross-subsidy 
between the group ICSD and CSDs.

Every year, we request an independent 
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, 
to conduct an audit and provide an 
attestation to the Euroclear Board. The 
conclusions of this report are published 
in the Euroclear annual report. The 
audit takes the form of a yearly 
confirmation that the Euroclear Inter-
company Transaction Policy complies 
with the Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development (OECD) 
Transfer Pricing Guidelines and that 
these guidelines are applied by the 
Euroclear group. Such an attestation 
has been included in the annual report 
since 2003.

A copy of the independent auditor’s 
attestation for 2010 is included on the 
opposite page. The related Euroclear 
management assertion statement 
regarding Inter-company Transaction 
Policy provided to the independent 
auditor with respect to 2010 can be 
found on this page. 

Euroclear remains the only settlement 
service provider furnishing this type of 
independent third-party verification.

1 Arm’s length definition according to the OECD Guidelines
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Report of the Independent Auditor regarding the inter-company 
transaction policy for the year ended 31 December 2010

Upon request from Euroclear SA/NV’s Board, in light of their stated objective to avoid cross-subsidy 
between the parent companies and the (I)CSDs of the Group, we have examined Euroclear SA/NV’s 
Management Committee’s assertions on the inter-company transactions, stating that:

•	 Th	 e	Euroclear	Inter-company	Transaction	Policy	(“Policy”)	complies	with	the	OECD	Transfer	Pricing	
Guidelines of July 1995, including subsequent amendments; and

•	 Eff	ective	internal	control	over	compliance	with	the	Policy	has	been	maintained	during	the	year	ending	
31 December 2010.

Euroclear SA/NV’s Management Committee is responsible for the assertions. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the assertions based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants (SSAE No. 10) and, accordingly, included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting management’s assertions and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines, the management’s assertions as referred to 
above are fairly stated in all material respects.

11 March 2011

PricewaterhouseCoopers Reviseurs d’entreprises scrl
Represented by

Robert Peirce
Partner

13
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As required by law, the statutory annual accounts, 
the Board of Directors’ report and the Statutory 
Auditors’ report are filed with UK Companies House.

A paper copy of these documents is available on  
request from:

The Company Secretary
Euroclear plc
Baarermatte
6340 Baar, Switzerland

The auditors have delivered an unqualified opinion on 
the 2010 consolidated and parent company financial 
statements of Euroclear plc. 

The management’s assertion statement, together 
with the auditor’s statement on the Inter-company 
Transaction Policy implemented by the Euroclear group 
is available on the previous pages. 

 
 
Annual accounts and auditors’ opinion
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Directors' report 
 
 
The directors of Euroclear plc are pleased to present their report, together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements of Euroclear plc and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’), for the year 
ended 31 December 2010. A review of the group’s business and future developments, along 
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group, is set out in the 
Chairman’s statement and the Chief Executive’s review on pages 2 and 4 of the Annual Report, 
all of which should be read in conjunction with this report. 
 
 
Results and dividends 

 
The group results for the year are shown in the consolidated income statement on page 15. The loss attributed to the company’s ordinary 
shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2010, including a goodwill impairment charge of 304 million, amounted to 280 million 

compared to 38 million for the year ended 31 December 2009, including an impairment charge of 185 million. 
 
The Board is pleased to propose a final dividend of 11.00 (2009: 11.46) per ordinary share for payment on 10 June 2011 to shareholders 

on the register at the close of business on 30 April 2011. This dividend is evidence that even in the current difficult market conditions, the 
group stays committed to deliver long-term value to shareholders; it leaves sufficient means for the group to fund its activity going forward. 
 

 
Principal activities 
 

The company is a holding company which owns, directly or indirectly, the entire issued ordinary share capital of various companies 
operating in the European post-trade market infrastructure, including, inter alia, Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear Bank, Euroclear Belgium, 
Euroclear France, Euroclear Nederland, Euroclear UK & Ireland, Euroclear Finland and Euroclear Sweden, Xtrakter Limited (Xtrakter) and 

EMX Company Limited (EMXCo). (The full list is provided in Note II on pages 105 and 106 of the Parent company financial statements). 
 
These main group companies are engaged principally in providing clearance and settlement systems and related services for domestic and 

international securities transactions, covering bonds, equities, investment funds and derivatives. While Euroclear SA/NV provides system 
development and support services, the other entities mentioned act as Central Securities Depositories (CSDs) for Belgian, Dutch, Finnish, 
French, Irish, Swedish and UK securities Euroclear Bank acts as an International CSD (ICSD) for international securities.  

 
Xtrakter is a provider of market data, operational risk management, trade matching and regulatory reporting services and owns a 
transaction reporting system named TRAX.  

 
EMXCo acted as an investment-fund order-routing company. On 1 September 2010, the business of EMXCo was transferred to Euroclear 
UK & Ireland. This merger is part of our strategy to streamline our corporate structure, save costs and offer the best possible post-trading 

services for all asset classes. 
 
 

Business review 
 
Key business parameters   

 

Our financial performance is measured in terms of net fee income and net interest income set against operating costs. These were 
influenced by several key drivers in 2010: 

• Net fee income is mainly a function of the value of securities deposited in our (I)CSDs, the number of settlement transactions and the 
daily value of collateral provision outstanding. The value of bonds is based on nominal value and provides a stable base. For equities, 
their market value is taken into consideration, as detailed in the ‘Performance highlights’ section on page 3 of the annual report. 

• Net interest income derives from the prevailing interest rates and the level of cash balances deposited by clients. The level of clients’ 
cash balances throughout 2010 confirmed that we are perceived as a low risk counterparty and safe harbour. The implications of the 
financial crisis are still being felt with interest rates remaining at a historically low level. 

• Operating expenses, excluding the cost restructuring charge, decreased by 5%. 

Operating highlights 

• The value of securities held for Euroclear clients at the end of 2010 was a record of 21.9 trillion, 10% higher than the 20.0 trillion at 

year-end 2009. 
 
• Turnover or the value of securities transactions settled increased by 5% to a record of 526.1 trillion in 2010 compared to the 500.0 

trillion in 2009.  
 
• The number of netted transactions settled in the Euroclear group was 150.4 million in 2010, a 14% decrease compared to the 175.2 

million reported in 2009. 
 
• The combined daily value of collateral provision outstanding in Euroclear Bank and Euroclear UK & Ireland decreased by 4% in 2010 

to 520.1 billion from 544.2 billion at the end of 2009.
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First signs of recovery in 2010  

 
Following the economic recession that began in 2008, we started to see early signs of recovery in 2010. Our low risk profile and strong risk 
management culture have contributed to protecting the company’s solid reputation. 

 
Operating income for the year amounted to 952 million, of which:  
 

• 834 million was generated from net fee and commission income which increase by 10% compared to prior year; and  
• 88 million was generated from the more volatile net interest income, which represents a decrease of 10% compared to prior year as it 

was impacted by historically low interest rates.  

 
The operating profit before goodwill impairment and taxation for the year reached 186 million, compared to 184 million in 2009. 
 

The average number of persons employed by the group during the year was 3,851 compared to 3,961 in 2009, including only an eight-
month contribution for Xtrakter’s employees. This is the result of non-replaced departures and a restructuring of the group over the course 
of the year. 

 
Financial performance highlights 
 

The detailed results for the year are set out on page 15 of the Euroclear plc financial statements 
 
Loss for the year: the Euroclear group’s loss after tax for the year reached 280 million, compared to 38 million last year. This was due to 

a 304 million impairment split over Euroclear UK & Ireland and Euroclear Finland operating segments. In addition there was a 117 million 
write off of the deferred tax assets largely due to the review of the single platform delivery and a 45 million charge relating to one-off 
restructuring charges. 

 
Indeed, in the course of the year, a re-assessment on the remaining components of the Single Platform being developed by Euroclear 
SA/NV led to a new infrastructure development strategy. This resulted in discontinuing a large part of Single Platform application 

development. 
 
In this context, Euroclear SA/NV will absorb the development costs incurred for such applications impacting its profitability going-forward 

which translate into deferred tax asset impairments at a consolidated level.  
 
Excluding the impairment charges for goodwill and deferred tax assets, the Euroclear group’s normalised profit before tax for the year 

reached 243 million, a strong improvement over the 147 million for 2009. 
 

 million 2010 2009 

Operating profit before impairment and taxation 186 184 

Adjustments   

Dividend received from LCH.Clearnet Group Limited  (18) 

Realised gain on disposal of LCH.Clearnet Group Limited shares  (17) 

Realised gain on re-purchase of Hybrid Tier I debt  (2) 

Facilities provisions 12  

Group restructuring charges 45  

Normalised operating profit before impairment and taxation 243 147 

 
 
Operating income reached 952 million, an increase of 18 million compared to 2009. 

 
Net interest income reached 88 million. Interest rates remained at a historically low level throughout the year (see below table) which had 
a negative impact on interest earnings with 10% reduction compared to 2009.  

 

Overnight interest rate 2010 (average) 2009 (average) 

EUR 0.36% 0.60% 

USD 0.25% 0.22% 

GBP 0.44% 0.52% 

Average deposits increased by 16% and average overdrafts by 11% as a result of higher settlement activity with increased clients’ focus on 

liquidity management and reduction of interest costs. Our interest income stems principally from Euroclear Bank’s overnight re-deposits of 
clients’ cash balances. It is also derived from the investment of Euroclear Bank’s capital, retained earnings and the proceeds from 
subordinated debt.  

 
Net fees and commission income increased by 10% to 834 million, reflecting the impact of the slight market recovery. Net fees and 
commission income represented 88% of 2010 total operating income. A significant share of our fees and commission income is generated 

by fixed income securities and, in particular, this comes from the securities held in custody, for which safekeeping fees are charged on the 
nominal amount. Furthermore, the large government stimulus packages financed by debt issuance helped sustain business resilience in 
Euroclear, which contributed to group revenues. 

 
Administrative expenses increased by 2% to 766 million in 2010 However, excluding the cost restructuring charge and the facilities 
provisions for a total of 57 million, administrative expenses decreased by 5% compared to the prior year. 
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Impairment charges were recognised for a total amount of €304 million, €250 million for Euroclear UK & Ireland, €50 million for Euroclear 
Finland and a further charge of €4 million recorded in the group consolidated financial statements to align the remaining values of goodwill 
with those in the consolidated financial statements of Euroclear SA/NV. 
 
Operating loss before tax was €118 million, an increase of €118 million compared to 2009, mainly reflecting the increased impairment 
charge. 
 
Dividend: on 10 March 2011, the directors recommended a dividend distribution to ordinary shareholders of €42.1 million, representing 
€11.00 per share (compared to €11.46 per share in 2009). This dividend level reflects the objectives of the group regarding capital strength 
under the current market environment as well as our continued commitment to ensuring shareholders are adequately remunerated for their 
capital investment.  
 
Balance sheet: total assets stood at €11,462 million on 31 December 2010, up €460 million from the previous year. Deposits and loans 
increased by 10% to €7,750 million and €8,246 million, respectively.  
 
Total shareholders’ equity decreased by 10% to €2,830 million in 2010. 
 
The group continues to hold strong regulatory capital levels with a Tier 1 ratio and a total capital adequacy ratio (after dividend) both 
reaching 43% at 31 December 2010 compared to 34% in 2009. 
 
 
Share capital 
 
The share capital of Euroclear plc on 10 March 2011 is shown in the table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Post balance sheet events 
 
Sale of Held-to-Maturity (HTM) securities 
 
In January 2011, in view of credit concerns about the sovereign debt of certain countries, Euroclear Bank decided to sell €200 million of its 
€290 million Held-to-Maturity (HTM) portfolio, realising a pre-tax loss of €1,261,000. These securities, representing the reinvestment of the 
proceeds from Euroclear Bank’s hybrid capital issued in 2005, had been classified as HTM in accordance with management's intention, at 
that time, to keep them until maturity. As a consequence of these sales, and in accordance with IAS 39, the remaining €90 million of the 
HTM portfolio has been reclassified as Available-for-Sale (AFS) at its fair value on the date of transfer. No securities may be classified as 
HTM before January 2014. 
 
 
Business development  
 
Asset servicing 
 
In 2010, our asset servicing developments focused mainly on ISO improvements and tax, where the group launched improved services with 
TaxGenix in Euroclear Bank and Taxmill in Euroclear Finland. 
 
Improvements also came from our extended use of Euroclear Bank’s Hong Kong branch to provide corporate action services across time 
zones for corporate actions involving the US market. We also extended Euroclear Capinews to Euroclear Belgium and Euroclear 
Nederland. 
 
Collateral management 
Besides improved processing of pledge transactions and the addition of a new external valuation option, Euroclear Bank introduced a 
fundamentally simplified, ‘fast-track’ set-up procedure for new triparty counterparties. 
 
Fixed income 
 
Euroclear Bank improved its input deadlines for 27 markets – reducing the necessary buffer to an absolute minimum. An important 
milestone, in terms of coverage, was achieved when the fast rising offshore Renminbi was accepted as a denominating currency. And the 
central role of Euroclear Bank in the European domestic market was confirmed by its appointment as a settlement platform for Spanish 
bonds cleared by LCH Clearnet Ltd. 
 
Loans 
 
Euroclear Bank’s LoanReach service welcomed its first clients onboard in 2010 and introduced its trade matching and DVP settlement 
services. 
 

 (€ Denom inated) Number Nominal value Number Nominal value
Ordinary shares of  €1 each 3,330,556 3,330,556 3,330,556 3,330,556
'S' shares of  €1 each 500,120 500,120 500,120 500,120
Unclassif ied shares of €1 each 169,324 169,324 - -
Total 4,000,000 4,000,000 3,830,676 3,830,676

(£ Denom inated)*
Preferred non-voting redeemable sterling shares of  £1 each 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

* Under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the preferred non-voting redeemable sterling shares are considered as debt in the 

consolidated financial statements of the group.

Authorised Issued
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Funds 
 
2010 was a pivotal year for the group’s funds service offering. We completed the two-way link between the EMX Message System and 
Euroclear Bank’s FundSettle platform and introduced a new FundSettle ‘order routing only’ service. We also developed a new approach to 
processing and servicing hedge funds in FundSettle. Euroclear Sweden launched its domestic funds service – initially providing automated 
order routing and cash settlement. We also made strong inroads in Asia in 2010, with Korea Securities Depository (KSD) adopting the 
FundSettle platform as part of its fund processing infrastructure. 
 
 
Research and development 
 
Our aim to deliver service improvements through harmonisation and integration remains at the heart of our strategy. 
 
For the seventh consecutive year, the Euroclear group has invested in research and development as part of its harmonisation and 
integration strategy.  
 
Difficulties arose in the building of the single platform which lead consequently to a repositioning of our investment programme. The group 
continues to invest in developments in line with its mission to provide increasingly commoditised market infrastructure services cheaper, 
speedier and more efficiently for the customer as originally envisaged from the single platform. For example, with T2S, the clients will be 
able to choose through a combination of services and service levels from one of our CSDs, Euroclear Bank or a combination of both.  
 
Euroclear is a founding member of TransConstellation, an organisation centre promoting Belgium as a centre of excellence in financial 
transaction processing. During 2010, a number of Euroclear group employees attended the training modules offered by the 
TransConstellation Academy, a training centre run in collaboration with the Solvay Business School in Brussels. 
 
 
Risk management in the Euroclear group  
 
Well established risk management culture and rigorous standards 
 
Euroclear has a well established risk management culture, shared by all areas of the organisation. Risks are managed under a 
comprehensive Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework, with policies related to each of the relevant risks and a governance 
structure that makes clear the responsibilities for monitoring and control.  
 
Euroclear’s ERM framework is based on relevant market and regulatory standards. The larger Euroclear entities publish audited Statement 
on Auditing Standards (SAS) 70 control reports on their control environments. In addition, our CSDs and Euroclear Bank update annually 
the Disclosure Framework for Securities Settlement Systems, which is one of the requirements for compliance with the Recommendations 
for Securities Settlement Systems (RCSS) of the European System of Central Banks and the Committee of European Securities 
Regulators. Finally, we make an annual public disclosure on risk management in line with Pillar 3 of Basel II. 
 
In 2010, Euroclear continued to implement Basel II. The final regulatory decision on the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) was 
communicated in November. This allowed Euroclear to lift the temporary add-on and to rely on its AMA model in full for the determination of 
the capital requirements for operational risk under Pillar 1. For Pillar 2, Euroclear worked closely with the CBFA, which conducted the 
Supervisory Evaluation Process in 2010. 
 
The continued strength of risk management activities and processes will continue to be one of the highest priorities for 2011.  
 
Enterprise Risk Management: a coherent framework 
 
We use an ERM framework to ensure a coherent approach to risk management, with effective controls in line with our intention to maintain 
a low risk profile.  
 
Core to the framework is the Risk Register, which captures the risks that we face in pursuing our corporate objectives. To manage these 
risks, the Board and management set limits on the amount of risk that Euroclear entities can absorb (risk tolerance) and/or are prepared to 
accept (risk appetite). These are either explicit (for market, credit, liquidity and operational risk) or implicit (for business, strategic and 
strategic programme risk) through the definition of targets and objectives. 
 
The Risk Register is supported by High Level Control Objectives (HLCOs), encompassing all high-level processes that need to be realised 
effectively to allow individual business areas to achieve their business objectives. These HLCOs are supported by level two control 
objectives, agreed with business management, explaining in more detail how business areas can achieve their HLCOs. The level two 
control objectives are supported by detailed controls and control processes, designed by the business and describing how to mitigate the 
risks impacting business activities.  
 
These control objectives are the foundation of Euroclear’s Internal Controls System and the basis of the annual qualitative Risk & 
Control Self-Assessments (RCSAs). During the self-assessments, facilitated by Risk Management, both the HLCOs and level two control 
objectives are re-validated with each of the owners, with Risk Management challenging business owners’ assessments. 
 
Operational risks  
 
All our entities face operational risk. The daily monitoring of key risk and key performance indicators (KRIs and KPIs), the systematic risk 
assessments associated with the new product or service approval process, and self-assessment processes contribute to facilitating pro-
active identification. We have an assessment and rating methodology which enables operational risks to be classified according to their 
impact on the risk profile of the relevant business areas. 
 
Effective monitoring of operational risks is supported by the use of databases of potential risks and the careful reporting of incidents. Our 
database has more than 10 years of historical data on operational losses. Internal data is complemented by external loss data from the 
international Operational Riskdata eXchange (ORX) database. Benchmarking operational risk losses revealed that we tended to incur 
significantly lower losses than other banks.  
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We identify and rank information security risks (IS) and put in place an effective IS ICS in line with the defined risk appetite. We have a 
standardised threat profile, supplemented annually by a more strategic IS threat assessment. This informs the annual IS risk assessment 
from which risk treatment plans are derived.  
 
The IS ICS is part of the ERM framework, and is aligned with international frameworks such as ISO 27001:2005, Control Objectives for 
Information and related Technology (CobIT) and Information Technology Infrastructure Library (ITIL).  
 
Euroclear is designated as critical infrastructure in Belgium, Finland, France, The Netherlands and the United Kingdom. We regularly 
receive threat assessments from the national security agencies of these countries and can draw upon their expertise to resolve IS issues. 
These agencies conduct periodic assurance reviews of our security standards and procedures. 
 
To ensure continuous availability of business-critical services, we carefully review our use of technology, buildings and staff using 
RSSS and BS25999:2005. All entities perform annual business impact analyses to identify their critical business services and recovery time 
objectives.  
 
We have three data centres sufficiently distanced from each other to sustain operations in the event of a regional-scale disaster. The 
effectiveness of data centres and recovery procedures is assured through production activity switches between sites every two months and 
regional disaster recovery exercises twice a year. We also maintain dual office structures and adequate backup facilities ensure appropriate 
availability of critical information and expertise, in accordance with the specific needs of each entity. 
 
Business continuity plans have been harmonised throughout the group and are regularly maintained and tested through a comprehensive 
crisis management training programme. 
 
Financial risks 
 
We manage our financial risks according to demanding standards. Such risks are borne mainly by the ICSD, Euroclear Bank, in its role as 
single-purpose settlement bank. The CSDs of the group have a very low risk appetite. They offer only securities settlement services in 
central bank money and do not provide credit to clients. They do not engage in operations with counterparties, except for the investment of 
their own funds. 
 
The risk of a credit loss for Euroclear Bank is very low, and its conservative credit practices have prevented any such loss from ever 
materialising. As a settlement institution, its exposures are concentrated within a business day. This significantly limits the probability of an 
unanticipated default, the more so as our client base consists mainly of highly-rated financial institutions and central banks. In addition, we 
almost exclusively grant credit secured by high quality collateral. Average collateralisation levels exceed 99%. In addition, Euroclear Bank 
also incurs treasury exposure resulting from the placing of clients’ end-of-day positions in the market with high quality counterparties. Where 
possible, reverse repurchase agreements are used but some exposure is unsecured. The risks are limited by their short duration (mainly 
overnight) and policy caps.  
 
Liquidity is necessary for Euroclear Bank to perform its settlement operations efficiently. Euroclear therefore has a strong liquidity risk 
management framework, in line with international standards. The framework includes appropriate measurement and monitoring, as well as 
extensive stress testing of liquidity needs and available funding. It also allows for a high level of preparedness to cope with unexpected 
liquidity shocks. To cover potential liquidity shortfalls, we have reliable and tested contingency liquidity sources for the major currencies and 
we can re-use the collateral pledged by our clients, up to the level of their debits. 
 
For its daily liquidity needs, Euroclear Bank can rely upon a large network of cash correspondents and settlement banks and direct access 
to TARGET 2, the large-value-payments system of the ESCB (European System of Central Bank). With its excellent name in the market, 
Euroclear Bank has access to a broad range of counterparties. 
 
Market risk arises as a by-product of the investment of Euroclear Bank’s capital, and from variations in business earnings and hedging 
strategy. As we do not have a trading book, no capital requirements result from the interest rate risk that we face. Interest rate and foreign 
exchange risks are limited by the risk tolerance level set by the Board of Directors, determined by the economic capital allocated annually 
for such risks. This is reinforced by internal daily market limits, such as Value-at-Risk, and legal or regulatory limits.  
 
Euroclear Bank enters into currency forwards in order to protect its revenue stream from adverse movements in foreign exchange rates; 
such transactions are classified as cash-flow hedges. In addition, forex hedging is used by the companies of the Euroclear group to 
economically hedge the fair value of some specific liabilities expressed in foreign currencies. Finally, Euroclear SA/NV hedges its foreign 
currency exposure associated with its net investment in foreign subsidiary undertakings. Unrealised and realised exchange gains and 
losses are recorded on the balance sheet until the disposal of the net investment with the relevant amount being transferred to the income 
statement when a dividend is received. As a general rule, such hedge contracts are rolled over every three months. 
 
Under IFRS, the results of interest rate derivatives contracts qualifying as hedges under Belgian GAAP must be recorded directly in the 
income statement. 
 
More information on Risk Management can be found in the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
 
 
Going concern  
 
The Note III on page 28 of the financial statements includes the group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its 
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity 
risk.  
 
The group has appropriate financial resources and, as a consequence, the directors believe that the group is well placed to manage its 
business risks successfully despite the current uncertain economic outlook.  
 
After making enquiries, the directors have formed a judgement, at the time of approving the financial statements, that there is a reasonable 
expectation that Euroclear plc has adequate resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the directors 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
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Disclosure of branches 
 
Euroclear SA/NV operates three branches in Amsterdam, London and Paris and Euroclear Bank operates one branch in Hong-Kong. 
 
 
Directors 
 
The directors of the group who have held office during the period 1 January 2010 to the date of this report are listed on page 13. 
 
 
Directors' interests 
 
The directors of Euroclear plc have no interest in the shares or in options over shares of the parent company, or any of the other companies 
in the group. 
 
 
Directors' options  
 
Directors of Euroclear plc do not participate in a stock option scheme. 
 
 
Corporate governance  
 
Euroclear is committed to strong corporate governance and believes that good corporate governance, based on transparency and 
accountability, facilitates responsible corporate behaviour that can deliver the long-term success of the group. 
 
Euroclear continuously strives to better align its governance practices with the emerging national, European and international corporate 
governance principles, provisions and guidelines. 
 
Euroclear plc (the Company), as the ultimate parent company of the group, has voluntarily applied the UK Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance (the Code) since 2004. Being unlisted, certain areas of the Code are less relevant to the Company, such as Section II on 
Institutional Shareholders. However, the Board believes that the Code does provide valuable standards and benchmarks against which 
corporate structures and behaviours can be assessed both internally and externally. 
 
This section of the annual report describes the Company’s governance arrangements by reference to the Code. The Board considers that, 
during 2010, the Company has applied the Main Principles set out in Section 1 of the Code. It has done so by complying with the 
associated provisions except where specifically indicated below. 
 
The Board of Directors 
 

• Board composition 
 
At the end of 2010, the Company’s Board was composed of twenty-four non-executive directors. Twenty directors were senior executives 
from firms representing a cross-section of users of Euroclear services and shareholders of the Company. The other four non-executive 
directors (Sue Concannon, Herschel Post, Jean-Jacques Verdickt and Sir Nigel Wicks) had no affiliation with Euroclear users or 
shareholders. The list of the Company’s directors is contained on page 13. 
 
The Board is chaired by Sir Nigel Wicks. Sir Nigel is also a non-executive director of The Edinburgh Investment Trust plc and a member of 
the Jersey Financial Services Commission, a statutory body responsible for the regulation and supervision of the financial services industry 
on the island of Jersey. 
 
 
The Board’s Deputy Chairman, Jean-Jacques Verdickt, assists the Chairman in carrying out his role, particularly with regard to governance 
matters.  
 
The Board of the Company considers all the directors of the Company to be independent in character and judgement within the meaning 
set out in the Code, having examined each director against the independence criteria described in the Code. Given that the directors are 
largely drawn from the user community, several of them have links with each other outside of Euroclear. However, none of these links are 
deemed by the Board to be significant or to impede the independence of the directors in question in the exercise of their function on the 
Board. Similarly, the three directors appointed by Sicovam Holding SA, which holds 13.1% of the Company’s share capital, (i.e. Michel 
Berthezène, Vivien Levy-Garboua and François Marion) are considered by the Board to be independent in judgement and character 
notwithstanding that they are appointed by the shareholder. Furthermore, David Nicol (who resigned on 31 December 2010) was 
considered by the Board to be independent notwithstanding his tenure of more than nine years on the Board, as the Board concluded that 
he had retained his independence in character and judgement. Given that most of the directors are drawn from users of the group’s 
services, the Board has agreed and applied objective guidelines to evaluate whether the business relationship between Euroclear and the 
relevant user companies could adversely impact the independence of such directors and have concluded, based on those objective 
guidelines, this is not the case for any director. In line with the provisions of the UK Companies Act 2006, Board members have an 
obligation to report their commitments outside Euroclear and any changes to such commitments to enable the Nominations & Governance 
Committee (NGC) to review the outside interests of each individual director with a view to identifying conflicts or potential conflicts. Upon 
receipt of such reporting, the NGC satisfies itself as to whether such commitments could conflict with their duties as directors of the 
Company and responds accordingly. A list of the mandates exercised by the directors outside the Euroclear group is available on 
www.euroclear.com. 
 
The Board has designated the chairman of the NGC as the Senior Independent Director, ex officio. The position is currently held by Mark S. 
Garvin.  
 
As directors are usually drawn from shareholders or significant users of Euroclear services, and are senior executives within their firms and 
generally well known in the industry, the Board did not need to rely on an external search agency or open advertising in the appointment of 
the new directors during 2010.  
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For the same reason, the Board does not deem it necessary for new directors to have meetings with major shareholders as part of their 
induction programme. The wide shareholder representation on the Board and the relatively static nature of the shareholder base give the 
Board confidence that it has a continued understanding of the objectives and views of the Company’s shareholders as a whole. 
 

• Board role 
 
The direction of the Euroclear group is divided between the Board of the Company and that of Euroclear SA/NV, the Company’s indirect 
Belgian subsidiary, which is in turn the direct or indirect parent of the main operating subsidiaries of the group. There is a clearly defined 
division of responsibilities between the two boards, which comprise the same non-executive directors to ensure consistency across the 
group.  
 
The Board of the Company is responsible for all shareholder matters, including agreeing dividend policies and payments, setting values and 
standards in governance matters and ensuring that necessary financial resources are in place to meet strategic aims.  
 
The Board of Euroclear SA/NV has as its principal responsibilities setting group strategy and overseeing its implementation, ensuring 
effective controls are in place to enable risk to be properly managed and setting the framework for group policies. The section headed 
“Enterprise Risk Management: a coherent framework” on page 5 contains an explanation of the work of the Board in maintaining a sound 
system of internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management systems.  
 
As there is no executive management at the level of the Company, the provisions of the Code in respect of executive management do not 
apply.  
 
As in previous years, the Board and Board committees of the Company undertook a self evaluation to assess their performance in 2010, 
including the performance of the Board Chairman and their individual performance. This annual performance evaluation was facilitated 
internally and the results were reviewed first by the NGC which prepared a summary of the results which was then reviewed by the Board. 
Based on the results of the self evaluation, the Board agreed upon action items to address weaknesses identified and further improve its 
effectiveness. 
 
During 2010, the Board of the Company met four times. A table detailing directors’ attendance at the Board meetings during 2010 is set out 
on page 13. 
 
Board committees 
 
In order for the Board to fulfill its responsibilities efficiently, committees with different expertise and powers have been established. Their 
terms of reference, which include details of the role and responsibilities of each of these committees, can be found on www.euroclear.com. 
 
The Company currently has four Board committees – Audit, Nominations & Governance, Remuneration (which are joint committees of both 
Euroclear plc and Euroclear SA/NV) and Operations. These committees have been established as advisory committees and have been 
delegated limited specific decision making powers by the Board.  
 
The Chairman and the Deputy Chairman are invited to attend all Board committee meetings (either in their capacity as member, ex-officio 
member or invitee of the committees).  
 
The committees meet on a regular basis and each committee chairperson reports at the Board meeting immediately following a committee 
meeting. 
 
The table on page 13 sets out the membership of each committee, and their attendance, during 2010. 
 

• Audit Committee  
 
The Audit Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board in relation to the Company’s and the group’s financial results, the 
financial reporting process and the integrity of such reporting, the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems, the 
effectiveness of the processes for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and business continuity, the whistle blowing 
arrangements for employees, the adequacy and effectiveness of the group’s internal audit function as well as its activities, the appointment 
and terms of engagement of the external auditor as well as its independence and the external audit plans. It also approves the annual 
internal audit plan, the internal audit charter, the appointment, removal and remuneration of the chief internal auditor, the annual 
engagement letter and fees of the external auditor, the adequacy of the compliance function and the non-material changes to accounting 
policies (provided that changes that have a material impact on profit should be reviewed by the Board). 
 

• Nominations & Governance Committee 
 
The former Nominations, Remuneration & Governance Committee was renamed into “Nominations and Governance Committee” (NGC) on 
30 September 2010 as the responsibility for setting and reviewing the non-executive directors’ remuneration has been transferred to the 
Remuneration Committee. The NGC still leads the process for identification of prospective Board and Board committee members in 
accordance with selection criteria set out in the Board Composition Policy approved by the Board. The Board Composition Policy’s criteria 
cover the integrity, availability, experience and seniority of directors as well as their knowledge of the markets and of the group’s core 
business lines. Also taken into consideration is whether the candidate is drawn from the shareholders and/or significant users of Euroclear 
services.  
 
The Committee seeks to ensure that the Board and Board committees overall possesses the necessary balance of skills and experience to 
carry out their duties. It regularly reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board and Board committees and makes 
recommendations to the Board with regard to changes.  
 
The NGC also advises the Board on governance matters (with the assistance of the General Counsel) and has received the powers to 
approve conflicts of interest and conflicts of interest procedures under the UK Companies Act, the amendments to the conflicts of interest 
board policy, the corporate governance section in the annual report and the letters of appointment for the directors. 
 
 
 



Euroclear plc annual report 2010 Directors’ report (continued) 

 

   
   

9 

• Remuneration Committee 
 
On 30 September 2010, the Boards of Euroclear SA/NV and the Company approved the creation of a new (joint) Remuneration Committee 
(RC) with new and extended responsibilities compared to those of the former Executive Compensation Committee of Euroclear SA/NV. As 
reflected in its Terms of Reference, the RC advises the Board on the global compensation philosophy for the Euroclear group, makes 
recommendations with respect to remuneration (and associated matters) of the Company’s directors and advises the Board on the 
compensation pool for the staff based on the results of the Balanced Scorecard, which measures performance across the group for the 
year. As it was the case for the former Executive Compensation Committee before, the RC continues to advise the Board of Euroclear 
SA/NV on compensation matters for the members of the Management Committee and Group Management Team and it is chaired by the 
Chairman of the Board, as he has the broadest relationship with the executive management of Euroclear SA/NV. 
 

• Operations Committee 
 
The Operations Committee, which is responsible for handling operational and administrative matters arising between Board meetings, met 
twice during the year to approve the opening of a Bulletin Board (BB) session and other shareholder related matters. The BB, which is 
accessible to shareholders twice a year for a period of three weeks each, was established by the Board to promote liquidity in the shares of 
the Company. The BB provides in fact a mechanism allowing shareholders to post indications to buy/sell shares of the Company and, if 
they so wish, negotiate a trade by contacting each other outside of the BB facility. The BB also provides shareholders with consolidated, 
abridged financial results for the Company unaudited for the first six months and audited for the twelve months of the year. 
 
 
Market value of land and buildings  
 
Euroclear Bank owns 51% of an office building in Brussels through a joint venture between its wholly-owned subsidiary, Calar Belgium, and 
Cabesa which has the remaining 49% interest in the property. Calar Belgium’s interest in the building is now recorded in the consolidated 
balance sheet at a depreciated cost of €30 million. 
 
Euroclear France owns two office buildings located in the Paris area, minor portions of which are subject to third-party rental agreements. 
The buildings are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at a total depreciated cost of €10 million. 
 
Euroclear Properties France also owns property in the Paris area. These premises host one on the group’s data centres and are included in 
the consolidated balance sheet at a depreciated cost of €17 million. 
 
There is no indication that the related market values would differ significantly from these depreciated costs. 
 
 
Euroclear people  
 
In 2010, we have been focusing on the post-crisis financial landscape. There will be significant changes to the way the financial industry 
conducts its business from now on, and the people who will be most effective in this new era are those who are able to see the changes 
required and adapt accordingly.  
 
Client First 
 
The Client Survey reflects the emphasis we have placed on meeting our clients’ needs.  
 
Again in 2010, our clients have recognised the quality and breadth of our product and service offering, our market knowledge, our stability 
and risk awareness. And this year they have emphasised the quality of the support they have received from our staff.  
 
We are building on this encouraging feedback to ensure clients really do come first. Above all, we are committed reducing costs and risks in 
the market and we have been focusing on delivering the services that our clients need, more quickly and incrementally than before. 
 
Talent management 
 
Retaining excellent people is a priority for the group. A few years ago we introduced a programme of internal mobility to reduce our external 
recruitment costs by redeploying staff wherever possible.  
 
We recognise that training and development are key to successfully redeploying and retaining our staff. This year they attended a total of 
11,500 training days, covering market and product knowledge, technical skills development, soft skills and leadership.  
 
 
We have been rolling out the lean management methodology across the group over several years, and we have now covered more than 
90% of the teams and departments in the group. With its emphasis on standardisation, communication and sharing best practices, Lean is a 
significant aid in helping people to take up roles in new areas. 
 
As the recruitment market becomes more difficult, this policy of redeployment will prove to be even more beneficial for the group and for our 
clients than it has been in the past, as we retain our experience and talent whilst shaping the organisation for challenges of the future.  
 
Values 
 
Our core principles are captured in new values, which give prominence to our clients as well as our people. They were created by members 
of staff from all levels and locations in the group, who came together to express the most important standards for the group as we look 
forward to the future. 
 
Our new values are: 
 

• Respect: Our diversity stimulates our thinking and creativity. I treat everyone with respect and trust. I listen to clients and 
colleagues. I express and consider dissenting views.  
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• Effective: We do only what matters to the clients and adds value to the company. We use our resources and each other’s time 
efficiently. 

• Accountable: Over and above my own contribution, I am committed to the end result and take the initiative to do what’s needed. 
I do what I say. At all times I am courageous and honest. 

• Client first: Proud to provide the right solution for our clients. Proud to deliver what we promise. 
• Helpful: Across teams, divisions and locations, together we drive success by helping each other, learning from our mistakes and 

sharing ideas and solutions.  
 
We are putting in place a number of programmes to reinforce our new values and to make them part of our culture, and if you deal with 
Euroclear, as a client, a board member a supplier or a regulator, we want you to notice the difference.  
 
Climate Survey 
 
Our strategy is to become recognised as one of the pre-eminent employers in our sector, able to attract and hold onto the talent we need. 
As we build for the future, we continue to encourage our people to share their views about the group through our annual Climate Survey. 
This year we wanted to go further to improve our response to their feedback.  
 
We have set up a series of People Champion workshops, which are being run by staff, to establish actions plans for areas such as 
communication, training and developing and career planning. Over the course of 2011 we will roll out their action plans to provide our 
people with the environment that they need to be effective in supporting the market. 
 
We often hear that our people are our most valuable asset, but in this time of change and continued uncertainty, it is especially true. We are 
committed to developing our talented workforce to support our clients whatever the challenges ahead. And in turn, their commitment and 
expertise will benefit Euroclear and all our clients as we build an exciting future together. 
 
 
Corporate social responsibility  
 
In 2010 Euroclear continued to serve as a cornerstone of financial market sustainability and professionalism, including in our corporate 
responsibility strategies.  
 
Excelling the professionalism 
 
Euroclear is a founding member of TransConstellation, an organisation promoting Belgium as a centre of excellence in financial transaction 
processing. During 2010, a number of Euroclear group employees attended the training modules offered by the TransConstellation 
Academy, a training centre run in collaboration with the Solvay Business School in Brussels. 
 
Serving markets responsibly 
 
By meeting our responsibilities as a market infrastructure, we help build trust not only in our services but in the financial system as a whole. 
In our specific role as a leading provider in post-trade market infrastructure services, we have a duty to ensure the continuous, secure and 
efficient running of operations, and the capacity to assume extreme market volatility. Our robust infrastructure and procedures put us in a 
leadership role in terms of business continuity, allowing us to sustain operations even in the event of a regional-scale disaster. 
 
In parallel, we have a duty to deliver for the long-term benefit of the market by continuously enhancing efficiency, thereby reducing the cost 
and risks for the markets we serve.  
 
Taking care of people and the environment 
 
Euroclear is also convinced of the value of corporate responsibility in its more conventional sense. We have robust policies and various 
initiatives in place to protect and offer opportunities to people, both within and outside of the company.  
We recognise that it is necessary to make every effort to provide a supportive, flexible and healthy environment if the people we rely on are 
to develop and grow. We have a dedicated team to monitor wellbeing at work, and in 2010 several initiatives took place to provide support 
to our employees. These included teleworking initiatives, health promotions and subsidised membership to various sports clubs. 
 
A policy of non-discrimination underpins our employment policy. We also provide opportunities for people with disabilities according to their 
capabilities. We consult regularly with employees, or their representatives, in compliance with national employment law. 
 
Our longstanding principles of honesty, fairness and ethical conduct towards our clients, employees, contractors and other stakeholders are 
central to our reputation for integrity and stability. These principles are set out in our Board policies and procedures, applicable to all 
employees. They include but are not limited to our Ethical Conduct, Legal and Compliance Risk Board policy and the Board Code of Ethics.  
We are committed to health and safety and the protection of people, property and the environment. We are continuously refining our 
policies and procedures in order to provide an even more robust health and safety management system.  
 
Recognising that we have our part to play in responding to climate change, we are committed to achieving material improvements in our 
carbon footprint. In 2010 we further increased cooperation across the group by making employees more aware of environmental matters 
and sharing best practices between locations. Other initiatives included purchase of 100% green energy in Belgium, optimised waste 
disposal and installation of improved cooling systems with less environmental impact. 
 
Supporting the wider community 
 
We also encourage and support charities in the countries where we operate. In 2010, Euroclear supported over 40 charities. Our 
employees have also contributed to charity through various other initiatives, such as the Gift in a Shoebox scheme in Belgium and the 
Telethon in France.  
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Charitable contributions 

 
The total charitable donations given by the group and its subsidiary undertakings during the year ending 31 December 2010 was 579,000, 
a portion of which was donated through the individual 'gift matching' scheme in which Euroclear offers to match every donation its 

employees make to charitable organisations that meet the programme’s criteria.  
 
 

Supplier payment policy  
 
The group’s policy concerning the payment of its trade creditors is to discharge suppliers’ invoices for the provision of goods and services in 

conformity with the terms and conditions of the purchase within previously agreed payment terms. For all trade creditors, it is the group’s 
policy to agree the terms of payment at the start of trading with that supplier (usually 30 days after receipt of invoice), ensure that suppliers 
are aware of the terms of payment, and pay in accordance with its contractual and other legal obligations. 

 
 
Political donations  

 
No political donations were made during the year. 
 

 
Non-statutory audit services  
 

The amount of fees charged to Euroclear plc and its subsidiaries for non-statutory audit services amounted to 815,000. Details of fees for 
audit and non-audit services are provided in note XIII on page 60 of the financial statements. 
 

 
Auditors  
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their willingness to continue in office. A resolution to reappoint Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP 
as auditors of the group will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 19 May 2011. 
 

 
Insurance  
 

Directors benefit from directors' and officers' liability insurance purchased by the Company. 
 
By order of the Board 
 

 
 

Sir Nigel Wicks  
Chairman of the Board  
10 March 2011 
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Statement of Directors' responsibilities 
In relation to the financial statements 
 
 
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditors’ reports on pages 
100 and 123, is made with the purpose of distinguishing for shareholders the responsibilities of the Directors 
from those of the auditors in relation to the financial statements. 
 
The Directors are required by the Companies Act 2006 to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors 
have prepared the group and parent company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as adopted by the European Union. In preparing the group financial statements, the Directors have also elected to comply with IFRS, 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the group and the parent company at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the group and the 
parent company for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to: 
 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state that the financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and IFRS issued by IASB; and 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group will continue in 

business. 
 
The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions 
and disclose with reasonable accuracy and at any time the financial position of the group and the parent company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
parent company and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
Each person who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that: 
 
• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and 
• each director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. 
 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418(2) of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
By order of the Board 
 

 
 
Sir Nigel Wicks 
Chairman of the Board  
10 March 2011 
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Euroclear plc Board and Committees composition during 2010 
 

NAME Euroclear plc 
Board 

Audit 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee**  

Nominations & 
Governance 
Committee 

Operations 
Committee 

Sir Nigel Wicks 
 (Chairman) 

4(4)* 7*** 1(1) 3(3) 2(2) 
(Chair) 

Jean-Jacques Verdickt 
 (Deputy Chairman) 

3(4) 7 1(1) 3(3) 2(2) 

Joseph C. Antonellis 
State Street Corporation 

2(4)   1(3)  

Michel Berthezène 
Appointed by Sicovam Holding 
Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations 

3(4)     

Alain Closier 
Société Générale 

2(4)  1(1) 2(3)  

Sue Concannon 2(4) 2(7)    
Stephen Davies 
Bank of America Merrill Lynch 

4(4)     

Drew Douglas 
HSBC Holdings 
[appointed 30 September 2010] 

1(2)     

Erik Dralans 
ING 

3(4)  1(1)   

Mary M. Fenoglio 
Citigroup 

3(4) 7(7)  
(Chair) 

  2(2) 

Mark S. Garvin 
Senior Independent Director 
JP Morgan plc 

4(4)  1(1) 3(3) 
(Chair) 

 

Tsutomu Hattori 
Mitsubishi UFJ Global Custody SA 
[appointed 27 May 2010] 

1(2)     

William Higgins 
The Royal Bank of Scotland 

3(4)  0(1)   

Tim Howell 
HSBC Holdings 
[resigned 5 April 2010] 

1(3) 3(3)   1 

Junichi Ishii 
Mizuho Trust & Banking (Luxembourg) SA 

4(4)     

Peter T. Johnston 
Goldman Sachs & Co 

3(4)   2(3)  

Akihiro Kanayasu 
Mitsubishi UFJ Global Custody SA 
[resigned 2 April 2010] 

1(1)     

Timothy F. Keaney 
The Bank of New York Mellon 

3(4)  0(1)   

Vivien Levy-Garboua 
Appointed by Sicovam Holding 
BNP Paribas 
[appointed 27 April 2010] 

1(3)     

Francois Marion 
Appointed by Sicovam Holding 
CACEIS 

4(4) 7(7)   2(2) 

Neil Martin 
Credit Suisse 

3(4)     

Lieve Mostrey 
BNP Paribas Fortis 
[resigned 27 May 2010] 

1(2)     

David Nicol 
Morgan Stanley 
[resigned 31 December 2010] 

3(4) 6(7)   2(2) 

Nils-Fredrik Nyblaeus 
SEB AB 
[appointed 16 December 2010] 

1 0(0)    

Herschel Post 3(4) 1 1(1) 3(3)  

Tom Ruud 
[resigned 16 December 2010] 

3(4)   1(3)  

Martin Slumbers 
Deutsche Bank AG 

3(4) 4(7)    

John Stewart 
UBS AG 

3(4) 2(3)    
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Jean-Francois Théodore 
NYSE Euronext 
[resigned 18 February 2010] 

0(0)     

Frank DeCongelio  X        
(External 
advisor) 

   

 

[*] The figure in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings the director could have attended 
[**] Committee established on 30 September 2010    
[***] Figures in bold italic indicate attendance as invitee (without a figure in brackets)  
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Consolidated income statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2010 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Interest income VI 120,520               138,174               
Interest expense VI (32,934) (39,944)

Net interest income 87,586                 98,230                 

Fee and commission income VII 1,195,027            1,103,468            
Fee and commission expense VII (360,980) (344,743)

Net fee and commission income 834,047               758,725               
Net interest and fee income 921,633               856,955               

Dividend income VIII 307                      17,814                 
Realised gains on available-for-sale financial assets IX 20,654                 33,770                 
Realised gains on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost X -                           2,088                   
Net gains on financial assets and liabilities held for trading XI 1,768                   10,452                 
Net losses on foreign exchange (5,350) (2,141)
Other operating income XII 13,280                 14,829                 

Operating income 952,292               933,767               

Administrative expenses XIII (765,910) (749,346)

Operating profit before impairment and taxation 186,382               184,421               

Impairment XIV (304,472) (184,912)

Operating loss before taxation (118,090) (491)

Taxation XV, XVI (162,194) (37,900)

Loss for the year (280,284) (38,391)

 
For the companies included in the group, see Note II to the parent company financial statements. 
 
The Notes on pages 20 to 99 form part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 2010 
 
 

(€'000) Notes Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net

Changes in Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale financial assets XIX, XXXVI (15,390) 5,328            (10,062) (10,351) (65) (10,416)
Cash flow hedges XXII, XXXVI 463               (157) 306               (2,596) 1,163            (1,433)
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations XXII, XXXVI (9,051) -                   (9,051) (13,966) -                   (13,966)
Foreign currency translation reserve XXXVI 36,596          -                   36,596          27,453          -                   27,453          
Defined benefit plans XXXII 4,478            (1,586) 2,892            10,877          (3,384) 7,493            

Other comprehensive income for the year 17,096          3,585            20,681          11,417          (2,286) 9,131            

Loss for the year (118,090) (162,194) (280,284) (491) (37,900) (38,391)

Total Comprehensive income for the year (100,994) (158,609) (259,603) 10,926          (40,186) (29,260)

2010 2009

 
The Notes on pages 20 to 99 form part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2010 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks XVII 444,228               945,344               
Loans and advances XVIII 7,801,446            6,544,348            
Available-for-sale financial assets XIX 1,309,250            1,274,321            
Held-to-maturity financial assets XX 297,910               298,729               
Financial assets held for trading XXI 5,702                   6,022                   
Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,523                   268                      
Current income tax assets XV 8,008                   16,845                 
Deferred income tax assets XVI 63,608                 155,845               
Other assets XXIII 310,382               252,228               
Pre-payments and accrued income XXIV 115,956               89,066                 
Property, plant and equipment XXV 109,704               127,015               
Goodwill and intangible assets XXVI 994,347               1,292,508            

Total assets 11,462,064          11,002,539          

Liabilities
Deposits from central banks XXVII 223,516               1,493,662            
Deposits from banks and customers XXVIII 7,526,348            5,542,157            
Financial liabilities held for trading XXI 5,507                   4,136                   
Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,974                   2,663                   
Other liabilities XXIX 275,121               264,948               
Accruals and deferred income XXX 203,451               202,195               
Current income tax liabilities 16,319                 4,811                   
Deferred income tax liabilities XVI 4,123                   2,985                   
Provisions for liabilities and charges XXXI 41,103                 9,197                   
Pension deficit XXXII 35,211                 43,143                 
Subordinated liabilities XXXIII 299,496               299,245               
Redeemable preference shares XXXIV 15                        14                        

Total liabilities 8,632,184            7,869,156            

Shareholders' equity
Called up share capital XXXV 3,831                   3,831                   
Share premium account 143,223               143,223               
Other reserves XXXVI 931,982               1,164,598            
Retained earnings 1,750,844            1,821,731            

Total shareholders’ equity 2,829,880            3,133,383            

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 11,462,064          11,002,539          

 
The Notes on pages 20 to 99 form part of these financial statements. 
 
These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 
 
Sir Nigel Wicks, Chairman of the Board 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2010 
 
 

Share Other Retained Total
(€'000) Notes Capital premium reserves  earnings equity

At 1 January 2010 3,831            143,223          1,164,598       1,821,731       3,133,383       
Changes in Other comprehensive income for 2010
- Available-for-sale financial assets XXXVI -                   -                      (10,062) -                      (10,062)
- Cash flow hedges XXXVI -                   -                      306                 -                      306                 
- Hedge of net investment in foreign operations XXXVI -                   -                      (9,051) -                      (9,051)
- Foreign currency translation reserve XXXVI -                   -                      36,596            -                      36,596            
- Transfer to legal reserve XXXVI -                   -                      92                   (92) -                      
- Defined benefit plans -                   -                      -                      2,892              2,892              
- Transfer to retained earnings XXXVI -                   -                      (250,497) 250,497          -                      
Loss for the year -                   -                      -                      (280,284) (280,284)
Dividends paid XXXVII -                   -                      -                      (43,900) (43,900)

At 31 December 2010 3,831            143,223          931,982          1,750,844       2,829,880       

At 1 January 2009 3,831            143,223          1,188,507       1,905,573       3,241,134       
Changes in Other comprehensive income for 2009
- Available-for-sale financial assets XXXVI -                   -                      (10,416) -                      (10,416)
- Cash flow hedges XXXVI -                   -                      (1,433) -                      (1,433)
- Hedge of net investment in foreign operations XXXVI -                   -                      (13,966) -                      (13,966)
- Foreign currency translation reserve XXXVI -                   -                      27,453            -                      27,453            
- Transfer to legal reserve XXXVI -                   -                      4,453              (4,453) -                      
- Transfer to non distributable reserve XXXVI -                   -                      55,000            (55,000) -                      
- Defined benefit plans -                   -                      -                      7,493              7,493              
- Transfer to retained earnings XXXVI -                   -                      (85,000) 85,000            -                      
Loss for the year -                   -                      -                      (38,391) (38,391)
Dividends paid XXXVII -                   -                      -                      (78,491) (78,491)

At 31 December 2009 3,831            143,223          1,164,598       1,821,731       3,133,383       

 
The Notes on pages 20 to 99 form part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows  
For the year ended 31 December 2010 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations XXXVIII 621,329               (2,138,647)
Tax paid (44,477) (61,723)
Net cash from operating activities 576,852               (2,200,370)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) -                           (4,682)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets XIX (1,656,602) (1,389,248)
Proceeds from redemption of available-for-sale financial assets IX, XIX 1,603,850            1,244,725            
Purchase of property, plant and equipment XXV (15,276) (11,053)
Purchase of intangible assets XXVI (804) (7,707)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 80                        14                        
Dividends received VIII 307                      17,814                 
Net cash used in investing activities (68,445) (150,137)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid on redeemable preference shares XXXIV (1) (1)
Interest paid on subordinated liabilities (12,451) (12,708)
Repurchase of subordinated liability X, XXXIII -                           (3,890)
Equity dividends paid XXXVII (43,900) (78,491)
Net cash used in financing activities (56,352) (95,090)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 452,055               (2,445,597)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year XXXVIII 7,208,735            9,744,826            
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 439,713               (90,494)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year XXXVIII 8,100,503            7,208,735            

 
The Notes on pages 20 to 99 form part of these financial statements. 
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I. General information 
 
 
Euroclear plc (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together, the group) arrange for the provision of clearance and settlement systems and related 
services, including banking services in the case of Euroclear Bank, for domestic and international securities transactions, covering bonds, equities 
and investment funds. 
Euroclear plc is a limited liability company and is incorporated in the United Kingdom. The address of its registered office is: 
Euroclear plc 
2  Lamb's Passage 
London EC1Y8BB 
United Kingdom 

The Company is domiciled in Switzerland, with its executive office located at: 

Baarermatte  
6340 Baar  
Switzerland 
The full list of subsidiaries of the group can be found in Note II to the parent company financial statements. 
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II. Accounting policies 
 
 
Basis of preparation 

The group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and International 
Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and interpretations issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (together IFRS), endorsed for use by the European Union (EU). 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments. 

The EU has not endorsed IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement as issued by the IASB, deciding instead to amend 
some of the hedge accounting requirements. The group has not applied these hedge accounting requirements and has therefore effectively 
also complied with IAS 39 in full as issued by the IASB. 

1) Adoption of amendments to standards and interpretations 
 
The following amendments to standards and interpretations became effective on 1 January 2010: 
 
- Revised IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of IFRS 
- Amendments to IFRS 1 Additional exemptions for first time adopters  
- Amendments to IFRS 1 Additional IFRS 7 disclosures exemption  
- Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 Embedded Derivatives  
- Improvements to IFRS (issued in April 2009) 
- Amendments to IFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions 
 
The application of these amended standards and interpretations has no impact on the entity's financial statements in this period of initial 
application. 
 
The group had chosen to early adopt the revision to IFRS 3 Business Combinations and Amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements in 2009. 

2) Amended standards, new and amended interpretations endorsed by the EU but effective on 1 January 2011 
 
The group has chosen not to early adopt: 
 
- Amendments to IAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues 
- Revised IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures  
- IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 
- Amendment to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
 
The application of these amended standards, and new and amended interpretations, will have no impact on the entity's financial 
statements in the period of initial application. 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. Unless otherwise 
stated, these policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented. 

Consolidation 

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a 
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that control is transferred to the 
group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

In accordance with IFRS 3, the cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. 

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the group's share of the identifiable net assets is recognised as goodwill. If the 
cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the group's share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
directly in the income statement. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. Where permitted under local 
legislation, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies of the group. 
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II. Accounting policies 
 
 
Business combinations involving entities under common control were specifically excluded from the scope of IFRS 3 Business 
combinations. The group has therefore applied the guidance provided by IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and 
errors, which requires management to consider the requirements and guidance in other international standards and interpretations dealing 
with similar issues. Management have therefore applied the UK GAAP requirements of Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 6 Mergers and 
acquisitions, for such business combinations involving entities under common control. This standard allows the assets and liabilities of the 
parties to the combination to be retained at their book value. 

Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses.  

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The 
chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the Euroclear SA/NV management committee. 

Foreign currency translation 

1) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is 
the Company's functional and presentation currency. 

2) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when 
deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. Translation differences on non-monetary items 
measured at fair value through profit or loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on other non-mone-
tary items are included in the foreign currency translation reserve. 

3) Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the group's entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
 
- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date; 
- income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and 
- the resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. 
 
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other 
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders' equity, in the foreign currency translation 
reserve and hedge of net investments in foreign operations reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are 
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

None of the group companies has used the currency of a hyperinflationary economy as its functional currency. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate. 

Revenue recognition 

1) Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all instruments measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating the interest income 
or interest expense over the relevant accounting periods. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the instrument 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the future expected cash 
flows are estimated after considering all the contractual terms of the instrument but not future credit losses. 

Group loans to, and deposits from, banks and customers are principally related to Euroclear Bank Participants' cash accounts operated in 
connection with their securities settlement activity, with balances generally changing on a daily basis. Time deposits and the re-deposits of 
surplus funds rarely have maturities of more than three months and accordingly the effective interest rate method is not used. 

Interest income and expense on derivative instruments are recorded in profit and loss on an accrual basis. 
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II. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 
2) Fee and commission income and expense 
Fee and commission income and expense, which respectively represent a return and cost for services rendered (e.g. safekeeping, 
settlement and custody), are recognised in the income statement when the related service is performed. Rebates granted are deducted 
from fee and commission income when declared. 
 
Fee and commission income and expense, which represent a return for credit risk borne or which are in the nature of interest (securities 
borrowing), are recognised in the income statement over the period of the loan, or on a systematic basis, over the expected life of the 
transaction to which they relate, net of rebates granted. 

3) Dividends 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when the group's right to receive payment is 
established. 

4) Gains and losses on disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment, determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount, are included 
in the income statement in other operating income and administrative expenses respectively. 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets are classified into held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, held for trading, or loans and 
receivables. The group has not designated any financial instrument as at fair value through profit or loss. 

1) Held-to-maturity investments 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the group's 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. In accordance with IAS 39, the disposal of any more than an 
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets will result in the entire category being tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale for a 
period of two years (provided no further tainting occurs). Held-to-maturity assets are recognised in the balance sheet on settlement date at 
fair value plus any directly related transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less any impairment losses. 

2) Available-for-sale investments 
Available-for-sale investments are those financial assets including debt securities and equity shares which are intended to be held for an 
indefinite period of time, but which may be sold in response to changes in the group's financial environment. 
 
Available-for-sale investments are recognised in the balance sheet on settlement date at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of such assets are recognised directly in equity, until the asset is either sold, matures or becomes impaired, at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is released to the income statement. Interest revenues are recognised using the 
effective yield method. The fair value of listed debt securities and equity shares reflects the published price at the balance sheet date. In the 
case of investments with no listed market price, a valuation technique (e.g. recent transactions between willing and knowledgeable parties, 
discounted cash flows and market multiples) is applied. Where the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured, 
they continue to be valued at cost.  

3) Held for trading  
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is: 

- acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term; 
- part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 

pattern of short term profit taking; or 
- a derivative that is not a designated and effective hedging instrument. 

4) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They 
are initially recognised in the balance sheet on settlement date at fair value plus directly related transaction costs, if any, when cash is 
advanced to the borrowers. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Long-term loans or receivables that carry no interest are initially recognised at the net present value of all future cash receipts discounted 
using applicable market interest rates at origination. The difference between nominal value and net present value is recognised in the 
income statement over the life of the investment using the effective interest rate. 

Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being the issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the 
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Preference shares, which carry a mandatory coupon, or which are redeemable on a fixed or determinable future date, are classified as 
financial liabilities and are presented in other borrowed funds. The coupon on these preference shares is recognised in the income 
statement as interest expense. 
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II. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

All derivative financial instruments are recognised, and subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivative fair values are determined from 
quoted prices in active markets where available. Where there is no active market for an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the 
derivative's components using appropriate pricing or valuation models. 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of a derivative are recognised as they arise in profit and loss, unless the derivative is 
part of a qualifying hedge. 

Hedge relationships are formally documented at inception. The documentation includes identification of the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument and explains the risk that is being hedged and the way in which effectiveness of the hedge relationship will be assessed at 
inception and during the period of the hedge. If the hedge is not highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows attributable 
to the hedged risk, consistent with the documented risk management strategy, hedge accounting is discontinued. In such circumstances, 
the ineffective portion retained in equity is immediately recycled to profit and loss. 

The group may enter into three types of hedges: hedges of changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or firm commitment 
(fair value hedges), hedges of the variability in cash flows from a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction (cash flow hedges), 
and hedges of the net investment in a foreign entity (net investment hedges). 

1) Fair value hedges 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and which qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the profit and loss 
account, together with the gain and loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. 

2) Cash flow hedges 
In the case of a cash flow hedge, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge 
should be recognised directly in equity and released to profit and loss when the forecast transaction affects profit and loss. The ineffective 
portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account. 

3) Net investment hedges 
A hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation is accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. The portion of the gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity and released to profit and loss on disposal of 
the foreign operation. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the profit and loss 
account. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
classified as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or loans and receivables is impaired. A financial asset or portfolio of financial assets is 
impaired and an impairment loss recognised where there is objective evidence that an event occurring after initial recognition of the asset, 
has adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows and this effect can be reliably estimated. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original market rate of return for a 
similar financial asset. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables (less than three months) generally are not discounted. Impairment 
losses are recognised immediately in profit and loss. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment or bad debt loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the recognition of the original loss, this loss is reversed. The reversal 
shall not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.  

For financial assets carried at fair value, if there is objective evidence of impairment of an available-for-sale financial asset, the cumulative 
net loss (difference between amortised acquisition cost and current fair value less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or 
loss) that has previously been recognised in equity is removed and recognised in the income statement. If in a subsequent period, the fair 
value of an available-for-sale debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the loss was 
recognised, the loss may be reversed through profit or loss. Impairments on investments in equity securities cannot be reversed. 

Purchase and resale agreements 

Securities purchased under agreements to resell ('reverse repos') are recorded as loans and advances to other banks or customers, as 
appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using 
the effective interest method. 

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements ('repos') are not entered into by the group. 
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II. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 
Goodwill and intangible assets 

1) Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group's share of the identifiable net tangible and 
intangible assets of an acquired entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses and tested 
for impairment annually or more frequently where events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units, the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. If impairment is identified, the carrying value of goodwill 
is written down to its net recoverable amount. Impairment losses are immediately recognised in profit and loss and are not subsequently 
reversed. 

2) Computer software 
Computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 
 
These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis. 
 
Costs associated with the development phase of computer software being developed by, and for use of, the group are capitalised only 
when the following can be demonstrated: 

- technical feasibility; 
- intention to complete; 
- ability to use or sell the asset; 
- generation of probable future economic benefits; 
- availability of technical, financial and  
- other resources; and 
- reliable measurement of attributable expenditure. 
 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or development of software are considered as part of the cost of the software. 

The cost of internally developed software is amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life. Impairment tests are 
performed annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. 

Costs associated with maintaining or upgrading computer software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

3) Other intangible assets 
At the time of a business combination, part of the cost might be attributed to one or more intangible assets when these are separable or arise 
from contractual or other legal rights (such as contractual customer relationships), provided a fair value can be measured reliably. 

For each asset, the expected useful life is also assessed. Where this is a finite period, the cost of the asset will be amortised using the straight-line 
method over that period. The estimated useful life is assessed to be indefinite when, following an analysis of all of the relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. In such circumstances, the cost will not be 
amortised. 

The amortisation period and amortisation method for assets with a finite life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end, and changed when 
necessary. 

For assets with an indefinite life, impairment tests are performed annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset 
might be impaired. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major 
components having different useful lives, these components are accounted for separately. 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset are considered as part of the cost of the asset. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost can be measured reliably. All other costs are charged to the 
income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is determined using the straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amount (difference 
between the cost and the residual value) over its estimated useful life. 

Land is not depreciated. 
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II. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 
Leases 

Contracts to lease assets are classified as finance leases where they transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to the 
customer. Contracts not deemed to be finance leases are treated as operating leases. 
 
Assets provided under finance leases are included within fixed assets at cost and depreciated over their economic useful lives taking into account 
anticipated residual values.  

Operating lease income and charges are adjusted where relevant by lease incentives and are recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease. 

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor, or received from the 
lessee by way of penalty, is recognised as an expense or income in the period in which termination takes place. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with an original maturity of not more than three 
months, including cash and non-restricted balances with central banks, and loans and advances to banks and other customers. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised where: 

- there is a present obligation arising from a past event, 
- there is a probable outflow of resources, and 
- the outflow can be estimated reliably. 

Provisions are recognised in respect of onerous contracts where the unavoidable costs of the future obligations under the contract exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be received. 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of one or more uncertain future events not wholly under 
the control of the group. For those present obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain, or in the rare cases where these outflows 
cannot be measured reliably, this will give rise to a contingent liability. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are 
disclosed, unless they are remote. 

Employee benefits 

1) Pension obligations 
The group operates a number of post-retirement benefits schemes for its employees, including both defined contribution and defined benefit 
pension plans.  
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions. 
 
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. 

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the 
related pension liability. For countries without a deep corporate bond market, reference is made to the redemption yield on government 
bonds. 

All actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in equity in the period in 
which they occur. 

Past service cost is recognised in the profit and loss account over the average period until the benefits become vested. If the benefits are already 
vested, the past service cost is recognised immediately. 

The costs of defined contribution plans are charged to the income statement in the period in which they fall due. 

2) Other post-retirement benefits 
Some group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the 
period of employment using an accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments, and changes in actuarial assumptions, are charged or credited to equity. These obligations are valued annually by 
independent qualified actuaries. 
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II. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 
Current and deferred income taxes 

Current tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law in each jurisdiction, is recognised as an expense in the period in which profits 
arise. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary timing differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

The principal temporary differences arise from: 

- depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortisation of intangible assets; 
- revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities including derivative contracts; 
- provisions for pensions and other post-retirement benefits; 
- tax losses carried forward; and 
- in relation to acquisitions, the difference between the fair values of the net assets acquired and their tax base. 

Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities other than those acquired in a business combination are not recognised 
unless the transaction affects accounting or taxable profit. 
 
Deferred tax assets, including those related to income tax losses available for carry forward, are recognised when it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where: 

- the timing of the reversal of the temporary timing difference is controlled by the group; and 
- it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise in the same entity and where there is both a legal right of offset and the intention to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Deferred tax related to a transaction or event which is charged or credited directly to equity (e.g. fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale 
investments and cash flow hedges), is also credited or charged directly to equity and is subsequently recognised in the income statement 
together with the deferred gain or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

Dividends 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity and as a liability in the period in which they are approved by the Company's 
shareholders. 

Dividends for the period that are declared after the balance sheet date are not recognised as a liability and are instead disclosed as subsequent 
events. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment 
 
 
1. Managing business in a risk controlled environment 
 
1.1. Entreprise Risk Management: a coherent framework 
 
Euroclear has organised its risk management function at group level to ensure a complete and consistent management of the risks faced by each 
of its services or entities. Working with the business areas, the risk management function has developed a comprehensive risk framework, based 
on an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) approach, an internal view on the capital needed by each entity, as well as appropriate policies and 
procedures. These cover both day-to-day operational processes and risk/control processes which include the identification, monitoring and 
mitigation of risks and incident handling processes. The framework is supported by a governance structure that makes clear the responsibility for 
control monitoring.  
 
Euroclear’s ERM framework is based on relevant market and regulatory standards. These include:  
- the work of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), which has established a common internal 

control model against which companies may assess their control systems; 
- ISO 31000:2009 principles and generic guidelines on risk management, and ISO 27001:2005 for Information Security; 
- the Recommendations for Securities Settlement Systems (RSSS) published by the European System of Central Banks (ESCB) and the 

Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR); 
- other relevant requirements, standards and guidelines issued by international, European and local regulatory bodies, including Basel II.  
 
Several Euroclear entities, including Euroclear Bank, make audited SAS 70 control statements to inform clients and other stakeholders about their 
control environments.  
 
Euroclear uses the ERM framework to ensure a coherent approach to risk management, with effective controls in line with Euroclear’s intention to 
maintain a low risk profile. The ERM framework helps risk owners take decisions in line with the Company's risk appetite. 
 
Core to the framework is the risk register, which captures the risks that Euroclear faces in pursuing its corporate objectives. Seven principal 
risk categories have been identified (“enterprise risks”). Credit, liquidity and operational risks arise from the provision of day-to-day services. 
Market, business and strategic risks relate to the environment in which Euroclear and one risk (strategic programme risk) is addressed 
separately, as it is particularly important for the organisation and is managed independently from day-to-day services.  
 
To manage these risks, the Board and management set limits on the amount of risk that Euroclear entities can absorb (risk tolerance) 
and/or are prepared to accept (risk appetite). These are either explicit (for market, credit, liquidity and operational risk) or implicit (for 
business, strategic and strategic programme risk) through the definition of targets and objectives. 
 
The risk register is supported by High Level Control Objectives (HLCOs), established by the Management Committee to mitigate the risks in 
the risk register. These HLCOs encompass all high-level processes that need to be realised effectively to allow individual business areas to 
achieve their business objectives. Control objectives provide guidance to the organisation on the expected level of internal control in each 
entity and division of the group. Each of the HLCOs has a senior business management owner who is accountable for ensuring that risks 
are appropriately mitigated.  
 
The HLCOs are supported by level two control objectives, agreed with business management, explaining in more detail how business areas 
can achieve their control objectives. The level two control objectives are supported by detailed controls and control processes, designed by 
the business and describing how to mitigate the risks impacting business activities. These control objectives are the foundation of 
Euroclear’s Internal Controls System (ICS).  
 
The control objectives are the basis of the annual Risk & Control Self-Assessments (RCSAs). These qualitative self- assessments and the 
complementary quantitative Horizontal Self-Assessments (HSAs) are key components of the ERM framework. The RCSAs and HSAs aim 
to:  
- assess accurately and consistently the ICS, i.e. achieve a good understanding of the risk profile of the business; 
- increase risk awareness and promote an ongoing assessment of risks and controls by business managers; 
- identify new risks by bringing together experts and less experienced people in brainstorming sessions; 
- obtain quantification of the risks faced by Euroclear at risk event level, service level and entity level; 
- ensure that individual risks are identified proactively and addressed adequately; and 
- help management make a well-founded statement on the effectiveness of the ICS. 
 
During the self-assessments, facilitated by Risk Management, both the HLCOs and level two control objectives are re-validated with each of 
the owners, with Risk Management challenging business owners’ assessments. Risk Management then consolidates and summarises the 
results of these self-assessments, discusses them with the Management Committee of Euroclear SA/NV and its subsidiaries and reports 
them to the Board of Euroclear SA/NV. 
 
1.2. Regulatory and economic capital needs 
 
The internal view on Euroclear Bank’s capital needs is based on an economic capital model that is continuously kept up-to-date and regularly 
validated by an independent party. Euroclear Bank is therefore fully confident that the resulting capital requirements are adequate to support the 
risks that it faces. The model covers operational, market and credit risks, as well as business risks. Liquidity risk is addressed through strong 
liquidity plans and strategic risk receives constant qualitative attention from the management. Because Euroclear Bank systematically seeks to 
minimise risk, the base case figures are small in relation to Euroclear Bank's actual capital, but the capital also aims at covering the worst stress 
test amongst all risk types, and also includes substantial buffers for model risk and capital stability. This conservative approach to capital, 
combined with Euroclear's strong risk management and effective controls, has helped Euroclear Bank maintain its current AA+ rating in times of 
market stress. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
Euroclear has been working on the implementation of the Basel II framework since the early stages of the Basel Committee’s work. Euroclear 
Bank, Euroclear SA/NV, and Euroclear plc as the parent company, received at the end of 2006, the regulator’s accreditation to use the  
Foundation Internal Ratings Based Approach for credit risk under Basel II’s first Pillar. Euroclear has been using Basel II as from 1 January 2007 
to compute the group’s regulatory capital needs for credit risk.  
 
Euroclear has also obtained the regulatory accreditation to use the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) to calculate regulatory capital 
requirements for operational risk as from the first quarter of 2008. This accreditation was accompanied by a number of terms and conditions which 
were implemented during 2008 and 2009. In 2008, the CBFA imposed an add-on, which was reduced in 2009. The add-on brought capital 
requirements for operational risk with the AMA to a higher level than would be the case with the Basic Indicator Approach (BIA). The final 
regulatory decision on the AMA methodology was communicated in November 2010. The decision allowed Euroclear to lift the add-on and 
to rely on its model in full for the calculation of capital requirements for operational risk under Pillar 1.  
 
Euroclear finalised its Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) framework in 2008 and ensured that it was implemented 
appropriately at the level of the entities. In December 2009, the CBFA initiated the Supervisory Review Process. Discussions are still 
ongoing on the outcome of the process.  
 
Finally, Euroclear delivered a public disclosure under Pillar 3 of Basel II for the third time in 2010. Further details can be found on the website. 
This disclosure is annual. 
 
2. Euroclear group financial risk management 
 
Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss (direct or contingent) arising from the failure of a counterpart to meet its obligations to Euroclear. Liquidity 
risk is the risk of loss arising from Euroclear being unable to settle an obligation for full value when due. Liquidity risk does not imply that Euroclear 
is insolvent since it may be able to settle the required debit obligations at some unspecified time thereafter. Market risk is the uncertainty on future 
earnings and on the value of assets and liabilities (on or off balance sheet) due to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 
 
The framework put in place at Euroclear ensures that financial risks are tightly controlled. At the level of Euroclear Bank, the core of this 
framework is formed by separate Board policies for market, credit and liquidity risk. These Board policies formulate a risk and control statement, 
and the principles by which Euroclear Bank seeks to ensure effective assessment and management of these risks. The policies define the risk 
appetite of Euroclear Bank. The Euroclear Bank Board, through the Audit Committee, oversees the implementation of the risk Board policies, and 
reviews the policies at least every two years or when required. Board policies are complemented by management resolutions and implementing 
procedures. The risk control framework of the Euroclear CSDs reflects the limited purpose statutory goal of these entities, as well as their risk-
averse nature and the stringent regulatory regime in which they operate. 
 
3. Credit risk 
 
Euroclear Bank  
The risk of a credit loss for Euroclear Bank is very low and Euroclear Bank has never suffered a credit loss in its entire history, not even during the 
period of market turmoil. This is largely due to the very short duration of the credit exposure which, in general, is intra-day. Additionally, Euroclear 
Bank applies very strict collateralisation rules, resulting in average collateralisation levels for its client credit exposure above 99%. These 
exposures are mostly secured with very high quality collateral. Euroclear Bank’s clients that are granted secured credit facilities usually pledge 
financial assets deposited in Euroclear Bank to secure their credit usage. In order to accurately determine the value of the collateral it takes, 
Euroclear Bank has developed a dynamic internal collateral valuation model to compute adequate haircuts, by security, considering market, 
credit, country and liquidity risks. Haircuts are computed at least once a day for all securities, reflecting the latest market risk factors and market 
conditions. The collateral valuation model is back-tested and stress-tested yearly. The collateral valuation model has provided continued 
adequate valuations, even in a period of very highly volatile markets.  
 
In addition, Euroclear Bank also has treasury exposures resulting from clients’ end-of-day positions. Such positions are usually re-deposited in the 
market with high quality counterparties. Where possible, repos are used but some exposures remain unsecured. The risks are limited by their 
short duration (mainly overnight), as well as policy limits.  
 
To comply with the qualitative and quantitative requirements of Basel II, Euroclear Bank has been using an internal rating model since the end of 
2005. The model allows credit officers to rate all Participants and counterparties that are granted credit or market facilities and all the countries 
where Euroclear Bank has credit exposure. The rating scale is composed of 15 different rating grades and each internal rating is mapped to a 
probability of default. As Euroclear Bank has no default history, it uses external data to calibrate the probability of default. 
 
The Euroclear CSDs 
As their transactions settle in central bank money, the CSDs have no direct cash relationship with their clients. Consequently, they cannot extend 
loans or credit facilities to their customers. The CSDs can potentially face a certain level of credit risk arising from the non-payment of fees by their 
clients, albeit for limited amounts considering both the frequency of the billing and their relatively broad customer base. Therefore each CSD of 
the group is required by its home regulator to hold enough liquidity to cover such risks. Finally, the CSDs are also exposed to the credit risk 
related to the reinvestment of their cash surplus with their bank counterparties. To limit the credit risk taken on such counterparties, the banks that 
are considered for these investments should at least have a rating of AA- or above. However, in the current market context, where a large number 
of institutions suffered from issuer credit rating downgrades, a list of A+ rated banks has exceptionally been considered, where government 
support is provided to them. The type of instruments used is limited to short-term or overnight deposits. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
3.1. Maximum credit exposure 
 
The table below summarises the maximum exposure to credit risk (net of any impairment losses recognised in accordance with IAS 39), 
which for the purpose of this annex is defined as the net carrying amount as reported in the financial statements, without taking into account 
any collateral held or other credit enhancement attached. 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Financial assets
- Cash and balances with central banks XVII 444,228               945,344               
- Loans and advances XVIII 7,801,446            6,544,348            
- Available-for-sale financial assets XIX 1,309,250            1,274,321            
- Held-to-maturity financial assets XX 297,910               298,729               
- Financial assets held for trading XXI 5,702                   6,022                   
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,523                   268                      

Total financial assets 9,860,059            9,069,032            

Securities lending indemnifications XXXIX 9,417,945            6,954,266            

 
 
 
The credit quality of balances with central banks and the portfolio of loans and advances can be assessed by reference to the internal rating system 
adopted by the group. 
 

Rating (in %) 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Eaaa 5% 12%
Eaa 34% 50%
Ea 58% 36%
Ebbb+ and Ebbb 1% 1%
Ebbb- and below 2% 1%

Total 100% 100%

 
 
The internal rating 'Eaa' shown above sums up the ratings 'Eaa-', 'Eaa' and 'Eaa+' of Euroclear Bank’s internal ratings scale. Accordingly, the 
internal rating 'Ea' sums up the ratings 'Ea-', 'Ea' and 'Ea+' of the internal ratings scale. 
 
The table below presents an analysis of the held-to-maturity financial assets and the available-for-sale financial assets (excluding the equity shares) 
by rating agency designation at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, based on Standard & Poor's ratings or their equivalent. 
 

Rating (in %) 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
AAA 78% 12%
AA+ 13% 62%
AA 6% 25%
AA- 0% 1%
A1 3% 0%

Total 100% 100%

 
 
A1 is a short-term rating corresponding to a AAA/AA long-term rating. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
3.2. Credit risk mitigation 
 
As mentioned, Euroclear Bank aims at mitigating most of the credit exposure on its Participants, preferably by relying on the collateral held and 
pledged within the Participants’ accounts in the Euroclear System. However, other means, such as statutory lien, external collateral, pledged time 
deposits, reverse repos, letters of credit and guarantees are used as well. Frequent monitoring shows that more than 95% of the collateral pledged 
in the Euroclear System has investment grade quality. Due to the international scope of its activities and the multipurpose and multicurrency nature 
of the credit facilities granted to its Participants, the collateral pledged to Euroclear Bank is not specifically attributable to any of the different types of 
credit exposures Euroclear Bank has on one Participant. This means that all the collateral pledged from a specific Participant is there to guarantee 
all the obligations it has with Euroclear Bank without differentiating within the nature of the exposure and the original currency.  

Euroclear Bank’s unsecured exposure is almost exclusively treasury exposure resulting from Participants’ end-of-day positions, which are usually 
re-deposited in the market. Where possible, reverse repurchase agreements are used but the remainder of the exposure is unsecured. The risks 
are limited by the high quality of the counterparties, the short duration (mainly overnight) of the exposure, and policy limits. In case of market wide 
stress, Euroclear Bank may deposit excess cash balances at the central bank for each of the major currencies.  

 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Secured exposure 14,390,671          9,722,757            
Unsecured exposure 4,861,210            6,272,345            
Accrued interest income on financial assets 26,123                 28,196                 

Total 19,278,004          16,023,298          

 
3.3. Concentration risk 
 
Concentration limits are set to ensure that the group does not take a too large exposure on too few Participants or counterparties. European and 
Belgian banking regulations also impose risk concentration limits that have to be respected for each applicable exposure. 
 
Large individual exposures above 25% of the own funds (Tier 1 + Tier 2 – deductions) are reported as breaches under the large exposures 
regulation. Until 31 December 2010, the sum of all large exposures combined had to remain below 800% of the own funds.  
 
Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Belgium, both located in Belgium, are subject to capital adequacy regulations equivalent to those applicable to 
Euroclear Bank. This stems from their regulatory status, under regulations applicable in Belgium, of “settlement institution” for Euroclear Belgium, 
and “company assimilated to a settlement institution” for Euroclear SA/NV. Consequently, both entities have to make sure that they do not breach 
the same concentration limits as defined above for Euroclear Bank. 
 
In order to mitigate their concentration risk, Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Belgium invest their cash surplus with a minimum of two external 
counterparties. For best practice reasons, the same is applied for other group CSDs, even if the latter are not stricto sensu subject to the same 
capital adequacy rules. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
3.3.1. Geographical concentration of financial assets and liabilities  
 
 

(€'000) Notes Europe Americas Rest of the world Total

At 31 December 2010
Financial assets

- Cash and balances with central banks XVII 411,321               3                          32,904                 444,228               
- Loans and advances XVIII 6,601,667            419,686               780,093               7,801,446            
- Available-for-sale financial assets XIX 1,309,250            -                           -                           1,309,250            
- Held-to-maturity financial assets XX 297,910               -                           -                           297,910               
- Financial assets held for trading XXI 5,702                   -                           -                           5,702                   
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,013                   -                           510                      1,523                   

Total financial assets 8,626,863            419,689               813,507               9,860,059            

Financial liabilities
- Deposits from central banks XXVII 84,528                 405                      138,583               223,516               
- Deposits from banks and customers XXVIII 3,793,002            1,373,028            2,360,318            7,526,348            
- Financial liabilities held for trading XXI 5,507                   -                           -                           5,507                   
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,858                   -                           116                      1,974                   
- Subordinated debt XXXIII 299,496               -                           -                           299,496               

Total financial liabilities 4,184,391            1,373,433            2,499,017            8,056,841            

At 31 December 2009
Financial assets

- Cash and balances with central banks XVII 911,778               3                          33,563                 945,344               
- Loans and advances XVIII 5,959,184            225,574               359,590               6,544,348            
- Available-for-sale financial assets XIX 1,274,321            -                           -                           1,274,321            
- Held-to-maturity financial assets XX 298,729               -                           -                           298,729               
- Financial assets held for trading XXI 6,022                   -                           -                           6,022                   
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 268                      -                           -                           268                      

Total financial assets 8,450,302            225,577               393,153               9,069,032            

Financial liabilities
- Deposits from central banks XXVII 1,171,326            1,588                   320,748               1,493,662            
- Deposits from banks and customers XXVIII 2,609,862            1,235,847            1,696,448            5,542,157            
- Financial liabilities held for trading XXI 4,136                   -                           -                           4,136                   
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 2,663                   -                           -                           2,663                   
- Subordinated liabilities XXXIII 299,245               -                           -                           299,245               

Total financial liabilities 4,087,232            1,237,435            2,017,196            7,341,863            
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
3.3.2. Rating concentration of financial assets 
 
On average, in 2010, some 98% of the settlement exposure (secured and unsecured) of Euroclear Bank was taken on investment grade rated 
Participants, while about 99% of treasury exposure was taken on investment grade counterparties. In addition, on average more than 99% of the 
settlement exposure is secured and most of this exposure is intra-day. Therefore, there are no expected credit losses and no impairment 
provision has ever been required. 
 
As for the exposure Euroclear Bank takes on its investment book, Euroclear Bank follows a conservative approach stating that any security held 
in the investment book, which in IFRS terms is to be understood as all fixed income securities belonging to the available-for-sale or held-to 
maturity portfolios, needs to have a credit rating equal to, or greater than, AA-. 
 
Finally, as mentioned earlier, the surplus cash of Euroclear SA/NV and of the CSDs is invested short-term with counterparties whose rating is, as 
a general rule, at least equal to AA-. This places strong limits on the credit risk they face.  
 
4. Liquidity risk  
 
4.1. Liquidity risk at Euroclear Bank 
  
Liquidity is an important component for offering efficient settlement and custody services in Euroclear Bank: it ensures the timely cross-
border settlement with domestic markets, it supports the new issues and custody activity, and liquidity allows clients to wire out the sales 
and income proceeds in a timely manner.  
 
As a single purpose bank, Euroclear Bank's liquidity risk is therefore largely intra-day and transactional and results from the secured intra-
day credit it extends to facilitate delivery-versus-payment settlement. Euroclear Bank's overnight settlement process, allowing clients to 
settle a wide range of currencies within a single time window efficiently recycles and minimises liquidity needs, as clients only have to fund 
the resulting net debit position.  
 
Although the daily incoming and outgoing cash payments are typically matched, clients may still end up with residual cash positions at the 
end of the day. On a daily basis, Euroclear Bank is typically long in cash, which is then invested by Euroclear Bank mainly on an overnight 
basis, to match the volatility of clients' settlement and money transfer activity. 
 
4.2. Liquidity risk appetite  
 
While the liquidity requirements and associated risks are limited by nature, Euroclear Bank's liquidity risk appetite is very low, given the 
criticality of intra-day liquidity for the efficient delivery of its settlement and custody services. Euroclear Bank has therefore adopted a strong 
risk management framework to anticipate, monitor and manage the intra-day liquidity flows to ensure the quality of its services and prevent 
problems. The liquidity risk is further mitigated by Euroclear Bank's strict admission policy and continuous credit assessment of its clients, and 
by the fact that the transactional credit is secured and very short-term (usually intraday). In order to support the daily payment activity, 
Euroclear Bank relies on a wide network of highly rated cash correspondents and has direct access to TARGET2 for euro payments. 
 
4.3. Funding  
 
There is an efficient recycling of liquidity. While Euroclear Bank settles €1,022 billion (average over 2010) every day, it only usually extends 
between €80 and €100billion of secured credit on an intra-day basis to its clients, given back-to-back transactions and an efficient Lending and 
Borrowing programme. Since Euroclear Bank’s daily cash flows are typically matched, i.e. the receipts match the payment obligations, additional 
liquidity is only there to smoothe or accelerate the payment process or to deal with some timed payments spread throughout the day. Euroclear 
Bank has built access to a wide range of liquidity sources, including the intra-day liquidity provided by a large network of cash correspondents and 
settlement banks as well as the National Bank of Belgium. Furthermore, Euroclear Bank has developed a broad access to the inter-bank market 
and has put in place contingency liquidity sources for the major currencies. Most of Euroclear Banks’ capital is reinvested in European System of 
Central Banks (ESCB) eligible securities that can be pledged to obtain liquidity. Euroclear Bank continues to develop strategic initiatives to ensure 
adequate access to liquidity on a day-to-day basis and in contingency situations. These initiatives include extending the ability for Euroclear Bank 
to re-use collateral from Participants to obtain funding intraday and overnight. 
 
The adequacy of the bank’s liquidity capacity is assessed and approved quarterly by the Credit and Assets and Liabilities Committee (CALCO). 
It monitors the trend of liquidity risk that Euroclear Bank faces through liquidity key risk indicators, which allow it to identify, among other things, 
changes in Participants’ cash management practices that may affect Euroclear Bank’s liquidity. A first indicator shows the timing at which funds 
are received throughout the day, as late credit confirmations can impact remaining wire transfers. A second indicator focuses on the adequacy 
of collateral to support cross-border activity. A third finally monitors whether the liquidity risk arising from credit provision to Participants can be 
supported by Euroclear Bank’s liquidity sources. A complementary analysis focuses on all elements that could create further pressure on 
Euroclear Bank’s liquidity management across all currencies by looking at events that may detrimentally affect Euroclear Bank if they 
materialise or if they become more frequent or more severe. Additionally, the Banking and Risk Management Divisions inform the CALCO of 
any notable change in Euroclear Bank liquidity capacity in the major currencies. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
4.4. Management of intra-day and end-of-day liquidity 
  
Euroclear Bank ensures that it has permanent access to enough liquidity to support its core services. It therefore forecasts, monitors and 
measures the net intra-day funding requirements, which are derived from the cross-border settlement activity, Clearstream Bridge activity, new 
issues and advanced income payments, in a timely manner and at different critical moments. Euroclear Bank anticipates and monitors the end-
of-day position at each of the cash correspondent banks. End-of-day long balances may be invested short term provided that end-of-day 
liquidity limits, defined by currency and maturity buckets, are respected. 

Euroclear Bank maintains a network of treasury counterparties to ensure sufficient borrowing capacity for the few occasions in which it has to 
fund short end-of-day balances 
 
4.5. Liquidity stress testing  
Euroclear Bank performs on a regular basis both idiosyncratic and market wide liquidity stress test scenarios to assess the liquidity strains 
and to ensure that Euroclear Bank has access to enough liquidity sources to fund potential liquidity shortfalls. For the group CSDs and 
Euroclear SA/NV, liquidity stress testing is also performed to ensure, where applicable, their respective compliance with local regulatory 
liquidity obligations as well as their adequate funding. 

Currently, three types of stress-tests are conducted regularly:  
- quarterly stress-tests based on historical data enable Euroclear Bank to assess whether or not it complies with recommendation 9 of the 

RSSS, which states that securities settlement systems should be able to withstand a payment failure from the Participant with the largest net 
debit obligation;  

- a set of scenarios that assess the potential impact on Euroclear Bank’s liquidity during exceptional, but not impossible, events. It allows to 
quantify the potential liquidity gap which would materialise under a variety of idiosyncratic and market strains. At the same time, it allows to 
verify the adequacy of mitigating actions and to check the readiness of operational contingency procedures; and  

- ad hoc stress-tests, conducted as role-play based on plausible extreme scenarios. This type of stress-test, which involves different layers of 
management, from the operational managers to the senior management of the company, is conducted at least once a year. It includes 
stress-testing for liquidity risk and all relevant risks to which Euroclear Bank is exposed. 

 
In addition, Euroclear Bank and Euroclear SA/NV comfortably comply with the regulatory liquidity stress test ratio. The ratio was monitored 
since Q2 2009 and became a regulatory requirement on 1 January 2011. It is designed to reflect the liquidity position of the institution under 
exceptional circumstances (combining an idiosynchratic shock with a general liquidity crisis), by comparing the potential liquidity needed 
and the potential liquidity available. In this exercise, the CBFA assumes that unsecured financing or credit lines from counterparties are 
unavailable and on-demand deposits from wholesale clients are lost. Credit lines at the central bank, financing through repos, sale of assets 
and re-use of collateral remain accessible. The ratio is calculated for maturities of one week and one month. 
 
4.6. Liquidity contingency plan  
 
Euroclear Bank maintains an appropriate liquidity contingency plan to ensure business continuity of its core settlement and custody services, 
in line with recommendation 9 of RSSS. The plan documents the relevant operational procedures and ensures access to (contingency) 
liquidity in the event of an operational or financial crisis. On top of its own capital, a wide access to the inter-bank market and a selective 
network of highly rated cash correspondents and collateral providers, Euroclear Bank has negotiated committed liquidity lines and can call 
upon a €1.37 billion syndicated backstop facility. The contingency plan and the availability of contingency liquidity is regularly tested and 
reviewed through stress-testing. 
 
4.7. Liquidity risks in Euroclear SA/NV and the CSDs  
 
Both for Euroclear SA/NV and the CSDs, two types of cash are to be distinguished from a liquidity perspective, i.e. the cash position linked to 
the regulatory liquidity requirements, for entities where such requirements apply, and the surplus cash, which includes the working cash 
needs of these entities: 
 
-  the stable cash position linked to the regulatory liquidity requirements should be invested on a roll-over basis; and 
-  surplus cash investments should always be cash flow driven, which means that the amount and period of the investments should take into 

account the evolution of working cash needs and capital expenditure.  
 
The type of instrument to be used is limited to overnight or term deposits whose duration should not exceed six months.  
 
The table below shows the consolidated financial liabilities analysed by remaining contractual maturity at the balance sheet date. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows at spot rate and the book value for the derivatives. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
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At 31 December 2010
Financial liabilities

- Deposits from central banks XXVII 223,516       -                  -                   -                   -                   -                  223,516        223,516        
- Deposits from banks and customers XXVIII 7,204,267    306,032       5,064            402               11,863          -                  7,527,628     7,526,348     
- Financial liabilities held for trading XXI 2,572           -                  116               -                   1,278            1,541           5,507            5,507            
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,562           104              104               204               -                   -                  1,974            1,974            
- Subordinated liabilities XXXIII -                  -                  12,451          -                   343,804        -                  356,255        299,496        

Total financial liabilities 7,431,917    306,136       17,735          606               356,945        1,541           8,114,880     8,056,841     
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At 31 December 2009
Financial liabilities

- Deposits from central banks XXVII 1,493,662    -                  -                   -                   -                   -                  1,493,662     1,493,662     
- Deposits from banks and customers XXVIII 5,244,759    278,294       4,737            574               12,464          3,064           5,543,892     5,542,157     
- Financial liabilities held for trading XXI -                  75                -                   -                   1,135            2,926           4,136            4,136            
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII -                  2,108           228               327               -                   -                  2,663            2,663            
- Subordinated liabilities XXXIII -                  -                  12,451          -                   49,804          306,451       368,706        299,245        

Total financial liabilities 6,738,421    280,477       17,416          901               63,403          312,441       7,413,059     7,341,863     
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
4.8. Fair value of financial instruments  
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as 
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, 
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. These instruments are included in level 1.  
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation 
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available. If all significant inputs that are required to fair value an instrument are 
observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 
 
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. 
 
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 
- quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instrument; 
- the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves; 
- the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined by using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date, with the resulting 

value discounted back to present value; and  
- other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value of remaining financial instruments. 
   
 
The table below shows the three-level hierarchy of the financial instruments measured at fair value: 
 
1. Quoted prices in active markets for the same instruments; 
2. Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, or other valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are based on 

observable market data; 
3. Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data. 
 
 

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total.            

Available-for-sale financial assets XIX
- Equity shares 1,482                   -                           10,959                 12,441                 
- Debt instruments issued by central governments and central banks 1,296,809            -                           -                           1,296,809            

Financial assets held for trading XXI
- Forward foreign exchange -                           2,883                   -                           2,883                   
- Stock options 2,819                   -                           -                           2,819                   

Derivatives used for hedging XXII
- Forward foreign exchange -                           1,523                   -                           1,523                   

Total financial assets 1,301,110            4,406                   10,959                 1,316,475            

Financial liabilities held for trading XXI
- Forward foreign exchange -                           2,688                   -                           2,688                   
- Stock options 2,819                   -                           -                           2,819                   

Derivatives used for hedging XXII
- Forward foreign exchange -                           528                      -                           528                      
- Foreign exchange options XXII -                           1,446                   -                           1,446                   

Total financial liabilities 2,819                   4,662                   -                           7,481                   

Financial assets

(€'000)

Financial liabilities

At 31 December 2010
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total.

Available-for-sale financial assets XIX
- Equity shares 1,185                   -                           10,958                 12,143                 
- Debt instruments issued by central governments and central banks 1,247,627            -                           -                           1,247,627            
- Debt instruments issued by financial institutions 14,551                 -                           -                           14,551                 

Financial assets held for trading XXI
- Interest rate options -                           845                      -                           845                      
- Interest rate swaps -                           17                        -                           17                        
- Interest rate futures 1,015                   -                           -                           1,015                   
- Forward foreign exchange -                           84                        -                           84                        
- Stock options 4,061                   -                           -                           4,061                   

Derivatives used for hedging XXII
- Forward foreign exchange -                           268                      -                           268                      

Total financial assets 1,268,439            1,214                   10,958                 1,280,611            

Financial liabilities held for trading XXI
- Interest rate options -                           -                           -                           -                           
- Interest rate swaps -                           14                        -                           14                        
- Forward foreign exchange -                           61                        -                           61                        
- Stock options 4,061                   -                           -                           4,061                   
 

Derivatives used for hedging XXII
- Forward foreign exchange -                           2,663                   -                           2,663                   

Total financial liabilities 4,061                   2,738                   -                           6,799                   

(€'000)

At 31 December 2009
Financial assets

Financial liabilities
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
5. Market risk 
 
5.1. Market risk in Euroclear  
 
5.1.1. Interest rate risk 
 
The majority of the interest rate risk is concentrated at Euroclear Bank. As part of the Market Risk Board Policy, an adequate risk framework 
has been put in place to measure, monitor and control the interest rate risk supported by Euroclear Bank. Value-at-Risk (VaR) 
methodologies are used to measure interest rate risk. The Management Committee of Euroclear Bank sets VaR limits for all currencies 
combined, which are monitored daily. As from January 2010, the Earnings-at-Risk (EaR) framework, which measured the interest rate risk 
relative to future earnings, was replaced by a more transparent and comprehensive benchmarking of the performance of the outstanding 
hedges, to be applied when relevant. It is not applied today as Euroclear Banks does not currently have any outstanding interest rate hedges. 
The economic capital model for market risk takes both the interest rate risk on the economic value of the bank’s books and the risk on 
future interest rate earnings into account. 
 
The core equity (shareholder equity plus retained earnings) is invested in risk-free assets. The duration of these assets is limited to five 
years by policy and is currently around three years. The VaR is limited. Regarding the reinvestment of subordinated debts, Euroclear Bank 
applied the matching principle, which allows for the best risk reduction: all proceeds from the debt issued were invested in high quality 
assets with maturity close to the maturity of the debt. It eliminates any uncertainty on the value of the cash flows and reduces considerably 
the interest rate risk on the mark-to-market of the portfolio. The interest rates VaR on the Treasury Book and the Hedging Book are also 
very limited. 
 
Interest rate risk exists only to a limited extent in the CSDs and in Euroclear SA/NV. Indeed, the CSDs do not operate commercial cash 
accounts but invest their cash position linked to the regulatory liquidity requirements, for entities where such requirements apply, and their 
surplus. The duration of the investments cannot exceed six months, and the types of instruments to be used are limited to straight overnight 
or term deposits. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
The tables below reflect the maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December, based on the earlier of maturity date and interest rate 
resetting date. 
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At 31 December 2010
Assets
- Cash and balances with central banks 444,187      -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   41                 444,228        
- Loans and advances 6,137,555   1,525,133   133,472      -                   -                   -                   5,286            7,801,446     
- Available-for-sale financial assets -                 150,566      50,390       50,295          724,242        303,463        30,294          1,309,250     
- Held-to-maturity financial assets -                 -                 -                 -                   293,665        -                   4,245            297,910        
- Financial assets held for trading 1,621         -                 1,254         -                   1,278            1,541            8                   5,702            
- Derivatives used for hedging 1,254         68              68              133               -                   -                   -                   1,523            
- Current income tax assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   8,008            8,008            
- Deferred income tax assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   63,608          63,608          
- Other assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   310,382        310,382        
- Pre-payments and accrued income -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   115,956        115,956        
- Property, plant and equipment -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   109,704        109,704        
- Goodwill and intangible assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   994,347        994,347        

Total assets 6,584,617   1,675,767   185,184      50,428          1,019,185     305,004        1,641,879     11,462,064   

Liabilities
- Deposits from central banks 223,516      -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   -                   223,516        
- Deposits from banks and customers 7,203,925   305,964      4,589         402               10,862          -                   606               7,526,348     
- Financial liabilities held for trading 2,565         -                 116            -                   1,278            1,541            7                   5,507            
- Derivatives used for hedging 1,562         104            104            204               -                   -                   -                   1,974            
- Other liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   275,121        275,121        
- Accruals and deferred income -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   203,451        203,451        
- Current income tax liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   16,319          16,319          
- Deferred income tax liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   4,123            4,123            
- Provisions for liabilities and charges -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   41,103          41,103          
- Pension deficit -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   35,211          35,211          
- Subordinated liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   292,673        -                   6,823            299,496        
- Redeemable preference shares -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   15                 -                   15                 

Shareholder's equity -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   2,829,880     2,829,880     

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 7,431,568   306,068      4,809         606               304,813        1,556            3,412,644     11,462,064   

Total interest sensitivity gap (846,951) 1,369,699   180,375      49,822          714,372        303,448        (1,770,765) -                   

Cumulative gap (846,951) 522,748      703,123      752,945        1,467,317     1,770,765     -                   -                   
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
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At 31 December 2009
Assets
- Cash and balances with central banks 945,180      -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   164               945,344        
- Loans and advances 5,030,230   1,475,505   34,690       -                   -                   -                   3,923            6,544,348     
- Available-for-sale financial assets -                 151,080      11,085       157,788        711,440        209,719        33,209          1,274,321     
- Held-to-maturity financial assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   294,483        4,246            298,729        
- Financial assets held for trading 71              12              1,261         600               -                   -                   4,078            6,022            
- Derivatives used for hedging -                 108            59              101               -                   -                   -                   268               
- Current income tax assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   16,845          16,845          
- Deferred income tax assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   155,845        155,845        
- Other assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   252,228        252,228        
- Pre-payments and accrued income -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   89,066          89,066          
- Property, plant and equipment -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   127,015        127,015        
- Goodwill and intangible assets -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   1,292,508     1,292,508     

Total assets 5,975,481   1,626,705   47,095       158,489        711,440        504,202        1,979,127     11,002,539   

Liabilities
- Deposits from central banks 1,493,662   -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   -                   1,493,662     
- Deposits from banks and customers 5,244,446   278,260      4,185         574               11,096          2,958            638               5,542,157     
- Financial liabilities held for trading -                 61              -                 -                   -                   -                   4,075            4,136            
- Derivatives used for hedging -                 2,108         228            327               -                   -                   -                   2,663            
- Other liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   264,948        264,948        
- Accruals and deferred income -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   202,195        202,195        
- Current income tax liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   4,811            4,811            
- Deferred income tax liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   2,985            2,985            
- Provisions for liabilities and charges -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   9,197            9,197            
- Pension deficit -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   43,143          43,143          
- Subordinated liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   292,422        6,823            299,245        
- Redeemable preference shares -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   14                 -                   14                 

Shareholder's equity -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   -                   3,133,383     3,133,383     

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 6,738,108   280,429      4,413         901               11,096          295,394        3,672,198     11,002,539   

Total interest sensitivity gap (762,627) 1,346,276   42,682       157,588        700,344        208,808        (1,693,071) -                   

Cumulative gap (762,627) 583,649      626,331      783,919        1,484,263     1,693,071     -                   -                   

 
A negative interest rate sensitivity gap exists when more liabilities than assets re-price or mature during a given period. A negative gap position 
tends to benefit net interest income in a declining interest rate environment, and vice versa. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
The table below shows the interest rate sensitivity of Euroclear’s banking book positions. The figures relate to Euroclear SA/NV 
consolidated, as communicated to the CBFA in the framework of the standardised reporting under Pillar 2 of Basel II. The figures for 
Euroclear plc are not expected to diverge materially from the content of this table. Assets and liabilities held in the banking book are 
predominantly denominated in euro, and they are expressed at market value for the purpose of this disclosure. The economic value of the 
banking book is computed by discounting the future cash-flows for assets and liabilities present in this book. 
 
The sensitivity of the economic value of the banking book to interest rate shocks is presented in the 1st column of the table below. The 
change in value mainly arises from the assets held in the investment and hedging books of Euroclear Bank. Indeed, assets and liabilities of 
the treasury book are almost fully matched and have no material impact on this sensitivity measure. 
 
The remainder of the table illustrates to which extent the net interest income of Euroclear Bank is sensitive to interest rate movements, 
compared to the amount earned in 2010. For the purpose of this disclosure, the latter is limited to pounds sterling, US dollars and euros, as 
is the analysis of the future earnings sensitivity. 
 
 

Interest result
Economic value Effective

(€'000) of banking book 2010 2011 2012 2013

Interest rate increase/(decrease), in basis points

300 1,442,296 183,473 248,539 281,407

200 1,477,133 157,759 210,570 245,413

100 1,513,789 131,345 171,372 207,445

- 1,552,385 62,854 101,541 130,204 167,394

(100) 1,593,052 68,805 77,806 124,648

(200) 1,635,931 54,732 48,958 65,021

(300) 1,681,177 49,012 44,559 39,177

Expected
Income sensitivity - interest result
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
5.1.2. Foreign exchange risk 
 
The group's entities have the euro as their functional currency with the exception of subsidiaries located in the United Kingdom and Sweden.  
 
The group's structural currency exposures as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 were as follows: 
 

(€'000) Notes

Net
investment in

non-euro 
operations

Currency
hedges

other than
borrowings

Remaining.
Structural.
Currency.

Exposures.

Functional currency of the operation involved 
At 31 December 2010
- Pound sterling XXII 89,695                 (88,447) 1,248                   
- Swedish krona XXII 44,284                 (43,500) 784                      

At 31 December 2009
- Pound sterling XXII 107,134               (107,791) (657)
- Swedish krona XXII 15,233                 (17,558) (2,325)

 
 
The majority of the foreign exchange risk is concentrated at Euroclear Bank. As part of the Market Risk Board Policy, an adequate risk 
framework has been put in place to measure, monitor and control the foreign exchange risk supported by the Bank. VaR methodologies are 
used to measure currency risk. The Management Committee of Euroclear Bank sets VaR limits for all currencies combined, which are 
monitored daily. As from January 2010, the EaR framework, which measured currency risk on future income streams, has, in principle, been 
replaced by a more transparent and comprehensive benchmarking of the performance of the outstanding hedges. However, as plan rates 
have been locked in for the whole year, monitoring daily the performance of outstanding hedges would not be meaningful. The economic 
capital model for market risk takes both the actual foreign exchange risk and the currency risk on future income streams into account. 
 
Foreign exchange risk exists only to a limited extent in the CSDs and in Euroclear SA/NV. Indeed, to avoid the potential foreign exchange risk 
that would arise from the investment of their surplus cash, their investments can only be made in their local currency, i.e. in EUR for entities 
whose functional currency is EUR, in GBP for the entities located in the United Kingdom, and in SEK for the Swedish entities. The most 
significant source of foreign exchange risk stems from the potential change in net asset values of the non-EUR Euroclear SA/NV’s 
participation (e.g.: Euroclear UK & Ireland, Euroclear Sweden). This exposure is hedged on a rolling basis. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
The table below summarises the group's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December. Included in the table are the 
group's assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by currency. 
 
 

Concentration of assets and liabilities per currency Japanese Pound
(€'000) Notes Euro US dollar yen sterling Other Total

At 31 December 2010
Assets
- Cash and balances with central banks XVII 411,268        7                   -                   92                 32,861          444,228        
- Loans and advances XVIII 2,976,944     2,121,936     841,850        730,414        1,130,302     7,801,446     
- Available-for-sale financial assets XIX 1,309,239     -                   -                   9                   2                   1,309,250     
- Held-to-maturity financial assets XX 297,910        -                   -                   -                   -                   297,910        
- Financial assets held for trading XXI 5,694            8                   -                   -                   -                   5,702            
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,523            -                   -                   -                   -                   1,523            
- Current income tax assets XV 5,130            -                   -                   1,077            1,801            8,008            
- Deferred income tax assets XVI 61,718          -                   -                   1,830            60                 63,608          
- Other assets XXIII 223,533        44,952          11,256          21,016          9,625            310,382        
- Pre-payments and accrued income XXIV 80,793          17,136          -                   11,430          6,597            115,956        
- Property, plant and equipment XXV 102,930        -                   -                   4,571            2,203            109,704        
- Goodwill and intangible assets XXVI 762,469        -                   -                   20,898          210,980        994,347        

Total assets 6,239,151     2,184,039     853,106        791,337        1,394,431     11,462,064   

Liabilities
- Deposits from central banks XXVII 121,690        55,429          6,367            12,026          28,004          223,516        
- Deposits from banks and customers XXVIII 2,426,805     2,588,936     838,541        621,812        1,050,254     7,526,348     
- Financial liabilities held for trading XXI 5,500            7                   -                   -                   -                   5,507            
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 1,974            -                   -                   -                   -                   1,974            
- Other liabilities XXIX 49,737          110,835        8,031            26,587          79,931          275,121        
- Accruals and deferred income XXX 158,839        20,089          62                 13,111          11,350          203,451        
- Current income tax liabilities 9,083            -                   -                   3,963            3,273            16,319          
- Deferred income tax liabilities XVI 1,667            -                   -                   -                   2,456            4,123            
- Provisions for liabilities and charges XXXI 34,844          -                   -                   5,553            706               41,103          
- Pension deficit XXXII 32,118          386               -                   -                   2,707            35,211          
- Subordinated liabilities XXXIII 299,496        -                   -                   -                   -                   299,496        
- Redeemable preference shares XXXIV -                   -                   -                   15                 -                   15                 

Shareholders' equity 2,807,134     71                 -                   (2,702) 25,377          2,829,880     

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 5,948,887     2,775,753     853,001        680,365        1,204,058     11,462,064   

Net balance sheet position 290,264        (591,714) 105               110,972        190,373        -                   

 
The net non-euro balance sheet positions mainly reflect a combination of outstanding currency swaps and the net assets of subsidiaries 
and branches located in the UK and Sweden. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 

Concentration of assets and liabilities per currency Japanese Pound
(€'000) Notes Euro US dollar yen sterling Other Total

At 31 December 2009
Assets
- Cash and balances with central banks XVII 911,719        11                 -                   76                 33,538          945,344        
- Loans and advances XVIII 2,537,161     2,029,880     678,536        480,022        818,749        6,544,348     
- Available-for-sale financial assets XIX 1,274,311     -                   -                   8                   2                   1,274,321     
- Held-to-maturity financial assets XX 298,729        -                   -                   -                   -                   298,729        
- Financial assets held for trading XXI 4,990            840               -                   192               -                   6,022            
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 268               -                   -                   -                   -                   268               
- Current income tax assets XV 16,303          -                   -                   282               260               16,845          
- Deferred income tax assets XVI 153,042        71                 -                   2,732            -                   155,845        
- Other assets XXIII 96,674          101,602        1,400            20,044          32,508          252,228        
- Pre-payments and accrued income XXIV 66,706          10,763          -                   10,441          1,156            89,066          
- Property, plant and equipment XXV 118,261        -                   -                   6,829            1,925            127,015        
- Goodwill and intangible assets XXVI 1,078,354     -                   -                   22,917          191,237        1,292,508     

Total assets 6,556,518     2,143,167     679,936        543,543        1,079,375     11,002,539   

Liabilities
- Deposits from central banks XXVII 1,258,490     183,301        4,354            10,554          36,963          1,493,662     
- Deposits from banks and customers XXVIII 1,876,692     1,815,581     674,518        371,546        803,821        5,542,158     
- Financial liabilities held for trading XXI 4,122            8                   -                   6                   -                   4,136            
- Derivatives used for hedging XXII 2,663            -                   -                   -                   -                   2,663            
- Other liabilities XXIX 92,765          129,658        872               21,243          20,410          264,948        
- Accruals and deferred income XXX 164,039        15,071          48                 16,985          6,052            202,195        
- Current income tax liabilities 536               -                   -                   1,609            2,666            4,811            
- Deferred income tax liabilities XVI 1,389            -                   -                   -                   1,596            2,985            
- Provisions for liabilities and charges XXXI 1,529            12                 -                   7,656            -                   9,197            
- Pension deficit XXXII 39,750          450               -                   -                   2,942            43,142          
- Subordinated liabilities XXXIII 299,245        -                   -                   -                   -                   299,245        
- Redeemable preference shares XXXIV -                   -                   -                   14                 -                   14                 

Shareholders' equity 3,158,774     495               -                   (20,275) (5,611) 3,133,383     

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 6,899,994     2,144,576     679,792        409,338        868,839        11,002,539   

Net balance sheet position (343,476) (1,409) 144               134,205        210,536        -                   

 
5.2. Market risk appetite for Euroclear Bank  
 
Market transactions are carried out at the discretion of Euroclear Bank, which accepts market risk only within its risk appetite. The risk 
appetite for market risk in Euroclear Bank is limited by the available capital allocated annually for market risk, which is set by the Board of 
Euroclear Bank. In addition, Euroclear Bank complies with internal market limits, such as Value-at-Risk (VaR), proposed by the CALCO and 
approved by Euroclear Bank’s Management Committee.  
 
Euroclear Bank adheres to the following principles relating to the management of market risk: Euroclear Bank does not engage in any activity 
that is not considered as part of its normal business or a consequence of its Participants’ activity, and as such will not engage in trading 
activity (even if, under IFRS, certain transactions in derivatives do not qualify as hedges and are therefore recognised under trading 
activities). The activities and instruments that Euroclear Bank can engage in must be in line with its low risk profile. Euroclear Bank is not 
exposed to equity risk or to commodity risk. A prudent investment strategy is applied in order to preserve the core equity of Euroclear Bank. In 
particular, the assets of the investment book can only be invested in highly rated and liquid debt instruments (with the exception of intra-
company loans) and an appropriate hedging strategy may be applied so as to protect future earnings against adverse market conditions. 
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
5.3. Market risk mitigation (hedging)  

Euroclear Bank has engaged in a series of market derivatives in order to hedge the market risk exposure resulting from future income 
streams, with the aim of ensuring that the financial results are not adversely affected by market evolutions (‘predictability of future revenues’). 
It is compliant with market expectations that Euroclear conducts its business prudently, as a single purpose bank. This hedging strategy 
occurs on a rolling five quarters time horizon and must comply with strict guidelines: (1) to be hedged, a future cash flow must be expected 
with a sufficiently high level of certainty; (2) a position, once hedged, may not be re-opened; and (3) any position above the anticipated level 
must be reversed. Given the exceptionally low level of interest rates, and therefore the marginal downside risk, Euroclear Bank does not 
currently have any outstanding interest rate hedges. 
 
5.4. Market risk measurement  
 
a) Value-at-Risk 
The market risk relative to the management of the available-for-sale and held-to-maturity portfolios is measured using a VaR methodology. 
The VaR for a portfolio is the maximum loss over a determined time horizon at a given confidence level (99%). The VaR model assumes a 
holding period, until positions can be closed, of one day. The market parameters are derived from volatility and correlation observed from 
historical daily changes. Euroclear Bank has to comply with a global VaR limit, as well as VaR limits by book.  
 
The market risk exposure that Euroclear Bank takes is segregated in the following books: Investment Book (all securities purchased by 
Euroclear Bank with the proceeds of its subordinated issues and its own equity), Treasury Book (assets, liabilities and commitments resulting 
from the activity of the Euroclear Bank Participants) and Hedging Book (market transactions that are conducted to manage the risk exposure 
resulting from future income streams).  
 
Given the low market risk appetite and the fact that Euroclear Bank will not engage in trading activities, the VaR figures are low. The increase 
in VaR between 2010 and 2009 is mainly related to changes in the composition and the maturity of the investment book, as well as to 
higher volatilities in the market for the sovereign debt of Euro-zone countries. 

 

(€'000) 2010 Average 2010 min 2010 max 2009 Average 2009 min 2009 max 

Investment book IR risk 3,320                   1,614                   6,247                   2,576                   1,751                   4,017                   
Treasury book IR risk 75                        11                        261                      73                        10                        697                      
Treasury book FX risk 22                        2                          1,021                   16                        3                          70                        
Hedging book 1,606                   254                      4,493                   931                      182                      2,690                   
Aggregate VaR 3,962                   1,786                   8,148                   3,186                   1,874                   4,769                   

 
b) Benchmarking of outstanding hedges 
As from January 2010, the EaR framework has been replaced by a more transparent and comprehensive benchmarking of performance of the 
outstanding hedges, and is applied when relevant. This benchmark will compare the futures earnings taking into account the actual hedges, 
simulated hedges or no hedge at all. 

c) Economic capital for market risk  
As of 2008, a new methodology has been put in place to estimate the uncertainty on the loss absorption capacity of Euroclear Bank over a 
one-year horizon due to movements in market risk factors (interest rates and foreign exchange rates). The loss absorption capacity is 
defined as the buffer that would be available to Euroclear in the case that it would face a loss. It is made up of the market value of the 
investment book (Tier 1 capital), the unrealised gain or loss on the hedging book and the earnings over the next twelve months. Based on a 
Monte-Carlo process, an economic capital amount for market risk is determined assuming a confidence level that allows Euroclear Bank to 
obtain a AA+ rating. 
 
The economic capital for market risk on 31 December 2010 was only €69 million.  
 
5.5. Back and stress tests 
 
Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme conditions. Stress movements are applied to the 
different risk factors, of which, movements in interest and foreign exchange rates. The stress tests follow the ‘Principles for the management 
and supervision of interest rate risk’ (July 2004) issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.  
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
6. Capital management 
 
6.1. Capital measurement and allocation 
 
The Commission Bancaire, Financière et des Assurances (CBFA) in Belgium is the main supervisor of Euroclear Bank and the lead 
regulator for Euroclear SA/NV, and for consolidated capital adequacy purposes only, Euroclear plc. In addition, individual Central Securities 
Depositories (CSDs) are regulated by their own local supervisors, which set and monitor capital adequacy and liquidity requirements for 
them. 
 
In accordance with the Basel II framework, the CBFA requires each bank and banking group to maintain a ratio of total capital to risk-
weighted assets that cannot fall under a threshold of 8%, and a ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets that must always exceed a 
threshold of 4%. Furthermore, as a company closely associated with a settlement institution, Euroclear SA/NV is subject to certain specific 
requirements regarding its solvency and liquidity position. 
 
Risk-weighted assets take into consideration balance sheet assets and off-balance-sheet exposures that may give rise to credit risk, as 
calculated for both the Bank and the group on a consolidated basis. Collateral and other eligible guarantees are taken into account 
appropriately. 
 
Total capital is divided into two Tiers: Tier 1 is essentially made up of shareholders’ capital, share premium, consolidated reserves and 
retained earnings, while Tier 2 comprises undated subordinated loans. In accordance with capital adequacy regulations, Euroclear monitors 
the proportion of the Hybrid Tier 1 instrument (issued in 2005) that can be considered as Tier 1, and reclassifies the remainder to Tier 2. 
Goodwill and intangible fixed assets are deducted in full from Tier 1 capital. The current regulatory framework stipulates that Tier 2 capital 
cannot exceed Tier 1 capital, a requirement that is very comfortably met by the group. 
 
The group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base and to diversify its sources of capital appropriately, so that an adequate relationship 
between total capital and the underlying risks of the group’s business exists at all times. 
 
As an entity that periodically issues debt instruments, Euroclear Bank has been assigned an AA+ rating by both Fitch and Standard & 
Poor’s. 
 
With effect from 1 January 2007, the regulatory capital requirements for Euroclear Bank started to be determined by the Basel II framework, 
both on a stand-alone and consolidated basis, as well as for all consolidated levels above Euroclear Bank. Within this framework, Euroclear 
determines regulatory capital requirements both for credit and operational risk. 
 
As far as credit risk is concerned, Euroclear has been using the Foundation Internal Ratings Based Approach (FIRBA) as from 1 January 
2007, in accordance with the accreditation received from the CBFA at the end of 2006. Since then, Euroclear has also computed its capital 
needs under Basel I, in parallel with the Basel II methodology, in order to be able to apply, if necessary, the so-called Basel I floors set out 
in the capital adequacy regulation. 
 
With respect to operational risk, Euroclear has been allowed by the CBFA to use the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) for the 
calculation of Pillar 1 capital requirements as from Q1 2008. Euroclear uses a hybrid approach at all consolidated levels above Euroclear 
Bank, by combining the AMA for Euroclear Bank with a Standardised or Basic Indicator Approach for the group’s other entities. 
 
This accreditation was accompanied by a number of terms and conditions which were implemented during 2008 and 2009. In 2008, the CBFA 
imposed an add-on, which was reduced in 2009. The add-on, and a worsening trend in market-wide operational losses recorded by the 
Operational Riskdata eXchange (ORX), which Euroclear uses in its operational risk model to complement data on internal losses, brought capital 
requirements for operational risk with the AMA to a higher level than would be the case with the Basic Indicator Approach (BIA). The final 
regulatory decision on the AMA methodology was communicated in November 2010. The decision allowed Euroclear to lift the add-on and 
to rely on its model in full for the calculation of capital requirements for operational risk under Pillar 1.  
 
With regards to Pillar 2, Euroclear finalised its Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) framework in 2008 and ensured that 
it was implemented appropriately at the level of the entities. In December 2009, the CBFA initiated the Supervisory Review Process. 
Discussions are still ongoing on the outcome of the process. Euroclear has said that it intends to broadly maintain current levels of capital 
while the discussion continues. 
 
The table on the next page sets out the group’s total capital, which comfortably exceeds its regulatory requirements.
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III. Risk management and financial risk management environment (continued) 
 
 
6.2. Regulatory capital position  

The following table analyses the group’s regulatory capital resources at the period end:  

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Risk weighted assets(1) 4,890,003 6,104,357

Capital requirement 391,200 488,350
- Credit risk 77,420 82,000
- Market risk 16,789 18,031
- Operational risk 296,991 388,318

Capital base 2,088,501 2,082,373
- Tier 1 2,087,440 2,081,239
- Tier 2 1,061 1,134

Solvency ratio
- Tier 1 42.7% 34.1%
- Total 42.7% 34.1%

 
 
1 Risk weighted assets (unaudited) represent the total capital requirement multiplied by a factor of 12.5. This means that the risk weighted 
assets do not only relate to credit and market risk, but also comprise the gross-up of the capital requirements related to operational risks. 
For Euroclear, the latter are the main source of capital consumption.  
 
The significant increase of the solvency ratios observed as of 31 December 2010 almost entirely results from the removal of the add-on to 
the capital requirements for operational risk, as referred to above. The other capital requirements, as well as Euroclear’s capital base, have 
remained fairly stable over the last year. 
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IV. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
 
The Euroclear group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. These estimates are considered 
to be important to understand the group’s financial condition, since they require management to make complex and subjective judgements, some of 
which may relate to matters that are inherently uncertain. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments 

The group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the group evaluates 
among other factors, the normal volatility in share price.  
In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector 
performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows. 
Where appropriate, the group has recourse to adequate valuation techniques (e.g. discounted cash flows, market multiples) to estimate the value 
of non-quoted available-for-sale equity investments, as explained in section 4.8 of Note III. 
As far as such investments are concerned, no indicator of impairment has been detected. The group therefore estimates that their respective 
values in the accounts of the relevant acquiring company are still justified. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets is determined by using valuation techniques. Where valuation 
techniques (e.g. models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of the 
area that created them. All models are certified by Risk Management before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs 
reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent that is practical, models use only observable market inputs; however, certain 
pricing parameters such as volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Further information is available in section 4.8 of 
Note III. 
 
Held-to-maturity investments 

The group follows the IAS 39 guidance on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as 
held-to-maturity (HTM). This classification requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the group evaluates its intention and ability to 
hold such investments to maturity. 

At 31 December 2010, the usage of the held-to-maturity category was restricted to these securities that represent those reinvestment of the 
proceeds received upon the issuance of the group’s hybrid Tier 1 capital. 

If the group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close 
to maturity – it will be required to reclassify the entire category as available for sale. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value, not 
amortised cost. 

In early 2011, Euroclear Bank decided to sell a significant amount of the HTM portfolio. See Note XLII. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

The estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment is as follows: 

- freehold and long leasehold buildings: 25 to 40 years; 
- building enhancements: 20 years; 
- leasehold improvements: shorter of economic life and period of lease; 
- data processing and communications equipment: between three and five years; and 
- fixtures, fittings and furnishings: seven to ten years. 

Impairment of goodwill and contractual customers' relationships 
The group tests goodwill and contractual customers’ relationships for impairment annually (during the 4th quarter), irrespective of whether there is 
an indication of impairment. Furthermore, the group remains alert for indicators of impairment throughout the year and conducts a high level 
impairment review at each quarter end. 
 
Such impairment reviews are deemed to detect: 
- overpayment; 
- under-performance compared with expectations; 
- significant changes with an adverse effect on the acquired business. Such changes can stem e.g. from new business parameters or from 

changes in market data used to determine the cost of capital of the acquired businesses. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the recoverable amount of the goodwill is less than its carrying amount (book value). The recoverable 
amount of an asset is the higher of its net selling price and its value in use, both based on present value calculations.  
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IV. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 
 

- Net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm's length transaction between knowledgeable willing parties, 
less the costs of disposal; 

 
- Value in use is the amount obtainable from the use of an asset until the end of its useful life and from its subsequent disposal. Value in 

use is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows. The value in use calculation may take into account not only the 
post-acquisition performance of the acquired entity itself, but also the changes in cash flows in other entities in the group that are 
positively or negatively affected by the acquisition.   

An impairment loss was booked as a result of these reviews in 2009 and 2010. See Note XXVI. 

All other things being equal, an increase of the 10-year government bond rates by 1% across all relevant countries would have led to an 
additional impairment charge of € 60 million at the end of 2010. 

Depreciation of computer software 

The estimated useful life of purchased and internally developed software is three to five years. 
 
Impairment of other intangible assets 

Intangible assets that derive their fair value from e.g. contractual relationships, communication standards or unpatented technologies and 
have a finite useful life are amortised over their estimated useful life. Determining the latter requires an analysis of circumstances and 
judgement by the group’s management. 
 
At each balance sheet date, or more frequently when events or changes in circumstances require, these intangible assets are assessed for 
indications of impairment. If indications are present, these assets are subject to an impairment review. The impairment review comprises a 
comparison of the carrying amount of the asset with its estimated recoverable amount: the higher of the asset’s net selling price and its value 
in use, as defined above.  
 
The most significant amounts of such intangible assets relate to the acquisition of the NCSD group and EMXCo. 
 
Provisions 
 
A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. At each reporting period, the necessity to record or adjust provisions is considered 
based on the latest information available.  
 
Onerous lease provisions are recognised when a decision has been taken to vacate premises leased by the company and when the 
space is expected to remain empty or to be sub-let at terms and conditions below those in the Euroclear lease. The provision 
represents the lower of the cost to breach the contract and the cost of fulfilling it, taking into account the expected benefits that 
might be received under a sub-lease, providing the entity is actively seeking to sub-let the property. 
 
Provisions for redundancy are recognised when a decision has been made, a formal plan exists and the main features are known by those 
affected. The provision represents the best estimate of the full cost to be incurred to implement the plan. 
 
Provisions for dilapidation, or end-of-lease obligations, are recorded when Euroclear is contractually bound to incur such costs and a reliable 
estimate can be made.  
 
Provisions for litigation are recorded when there are strong indications that costs will be incurred to settle the legal cases concerned and a 
reliable estimate can be made.   
 
Defined benefit plans 
 
The present value of the defined benefit plan obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a 
number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of the obligations. 

The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for the plans include the discount rate at the end of each year. This is the 
interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the plan 
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the group considers the interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related plan 
liability. 

Other key assumptions for plan obligations are based in part on current market conditions. 

The major assumptions used are shown in Note XXXII.  
 
Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to reflect the future tax benefit from unused tax losses or tax credits and other temporary differences. If 
there is a concern about the relevant companies’ capacity to utilise the tax assets within a reasonable (10 year) period, the assets are 
impaired, even when there remains a possibility to benefit longer term if sufficient taxable profits arise. 
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V. Segment analysis  
 
 
The Euroclear SA/NV Management Committee receives internal reports for Euroclear Bank, Euroclear SA/NV, Euroclear UK & Ireland, the 
ESES CSDs, NCSD and Xtrakter. 
 
The reportable business segments are as follows: 
- Euroclear Bank (including its Hong Kong branch) is an International Central Securities Depository (ICSD); 
- Euroclear SA/NV (including its branches in Amsterdam, London and Paris) is the provider of software development and non-operational 

support services to the (l)CSDs; 
- Euroclear UK & Ireland is the Central Securities Depository (CSD) subsidiary located in the United Kingdom. This entity took over the 

investment-fund order routing business from EMXCo in September 2010. 
- The ESES segment includes the group’s CSD subsidiaries located in Belgium, France and the Netherlands; and 
- The NCSD segment includes five companies: NCSD Holding AB, Euroclear Sweden (CSD in Sweden), Euroclear Finland (CSD in Finland), 

NCSD Systems AB and VKI AB. 
 
Information reported within ‘Other’ relates to Xtrakter, the parent company, a reinsurance company, a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) 
established in connection with the issuance of subordinated debt qualifying as capital for Euroclear Bank, and two property development 
companies whose properties are leased almost entirely to Euroclear SA/NV. In 2009, it also included a small client relationship subsidiary in 
Brazil (liquidated in July 2009). None of these qualified as a reportable segment in 2009 or 2010. 
 
The risks and returns associated with Euroclear Bank’s ICSD services do not vary geographically, and accordingly it is considered as one 
geographical segment. The activities of all other segments are within Europe, with the exception, for 2009, of the small subsidiary located in 
Brazil (now liquidated).  
 
No single customer generated 10% or more of the group’s revenues. 
 
Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Recharges of software development costs 
and support services are based on formal agreements between the entities concerned. 

Segment assets and liabilities comprise all third party assets and liabilities.  
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V. Segment analysis (continued)  
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Net interest income VI 86,549       859            401            628            255            (1,107) 1                87,586          
Net fee and commission income VII 463,950      (18) 105,327      172,923      73,161       18,782       (78) 834,047        
Intra group recharges 146            473,672      49              19,348       33              363            (493,611) -                   
Other income 25,935       84,658       (424) 6,858         (187) 33,619       (119,800) 30,659          

Operating income 576,580      559,171      105,353      199,757      73,262       51,657       (613,488) 952,292        

Staff costs  XIII (95,148) (247,662) (8,363) (22,352) (19,436) (9,309) -                 (402,270)
Other direct costs  XIII (31,564) (235,095) (5,075) (16,455) (24,253) (12,373) 16,264       (308,551)
Depreciation and amortisation  XXV, XXVI (746) (30,463) (2,273) (1,842) (16,046) (3,719) -                 (55,089)
Royalty fees  XIII (20,179) -                 (368) (517) (261) (1) 21,326       -                   
Group non-operational and
administrative support services (278,991) (19,377) (75,123) (115,334) (3,004) (1,789) 493,618      -                   

149,952      26,574       14,151       43,257       10,262       24,466       (82,280) 186,382        

Impairment  XIV, XXVI (16) (254,168) (77) 23              (50,150) (84) -                 (304,472)

Operating profit/(loss) before taxation 149,936      (227,594) 14,074       43,280       (39,888) 24,382       (82,280) (118,090)

Taxation XV (34,961) (97,442) (4,637) (14,386) (6,219) (4,549) -                 (162,194)

Profit/(loss) for the year 114,975      (325,036) 9,437         28,894       (46,107) 19,833       (82,280) (280,284)

External revenues 977,669      4,906         109,406      159,737      74,034       20,454       -                 1,346,206     
Revenues from other segments 7,592         555,402      304            43,238       33              45,303       (651,872) -                   

Total revenues 985,261      560,308      109,710      202,975      74,067       65,757       (651,872) 1,346,206     

Segment assets 9,770,045   945,116      86,984       176,607      385,624      97,688       -                 11,462,064   
Segment liabilities 8,071,497   149,101      9,021         41,558       31,077       329,930      -                 8,632,184     

2010

Operating profit before impairment and taxation 

 
The €82,280,000 remaining in the Eliminations column relates to dividends received from companies within the group. 
 
As explained, in note XXVI, the impairment charge reported in the Euroclear SA/NV segment principally relates to the goodwill recognised in 
respect of Euroclear UK & Ireland. The goodwill relating to this entity originated from acquisitions preceding the adoption of IFRS by the group. At 
that time, goodwill was considered as a non-monetary asset of the acquirer, and it is therefore recorded under this segment, along with any related 
impairment charge. Other adjustments totalling €4,167,000 were recorded in the Euroclear plc financial statements in order to align the remaining 
values of goodwill with those in the consolidated financial statements of Euroclear SA/NV. 
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V. Segment analysis (continued)  
 
 

(€'000) Notes Eu
ro
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ro
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*
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 C
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 *

G
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 *

Net interest income VI 97,196       (1,355) 563            853            378            595            -                 98,230          
Net fee and commission income VII 399,218      (37) 111,476      160,483      75,383       12,183       19              758,725        
Intra group recharges 40              512,159      21              17,480       75              1,033         (530,808) -                   
Other income 63,792       36,523       (1,319) 7,593         951            58,476       (89,204) 76,812          

Operating income 560,246      547,290      110,741      186,409      76,787       72,287       (619,993) 933,767        

Staff costs  XIII (96,285) (232,550) (9,805) (22,223) (20,994) (8,825) -                 (390,682)
Other direct costs  XIII (36,515) (234,172) (6,990) (13,502) (18,820) (10,049) 16,361       (303,687)
Depreciation and amortisation  XXV, XXVI (705) (29,532) (3,913) (1,997) (15,530) (3,300) -                 (54,977)
Royalty fees  XIII (19,302) -                 (284) (526) (266) (1) 20,379       -                   
Group non-operational and -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
administrative support services (291,430) (17,325) (83,485) (136,317) (1,259) (973) 530,789      -                   

116,009      33,711       6,264         11,844       19,918       49,139       (52,464) 184,421        

Impairment  XIV, XXVI -                 (85,000) (1) (111) (100,120) 320            -                 (184,912)

Operating profit/(loss) before taxation 116,009      (51,289) 6,263         11,733       (80,202) 49,459       (52,464) (491)

Taxation XV (16,347) (1,338) (3,196) (4,144) (8,283) (4,592) -                 (37,900)

Profit/(loss) for the year 99,662       (52,627) 3,067         7,589         (88,485) 44,867       (52,464) (38,391)

External revenues 947,925      2,068         114,379      150,296      77,445       26,341       -                 1,318,454     
Revenues from other segments 11,460       548,365      211            39,202       76              59,340       (658,654) -                   

Total revenues 959,385      550,433      114,590      189,498      77,521       85,681       (658,654) 1,318,454     

Segment assets 9,012,811   1,234,569   115,419      153,303      393,274      93,163       -                 11,002,539   
Segment liabilities 7,339,529   139,449      10,572       27,122       21,827       330,657      -                 7,869,156     

2009

Operating profit before impairment and taxation 

 
*Restated to reflect the transfer of EMXCo business to Euroclear UK & Ireland, reported under “Other” in 2009 financial statements. 
The €52,464,000 remaining in the Eliminations column relates to dividends received from companies within the group. 

The €85,000,000 of impairment charges reported in the Euroclear SA/NV segment relate to the goodwill recognised in respect of Euroclear UK & 
Ireland and the ESES CSDs. The goodwill relating to these cash generating units originated from acquisitions preceding the adoption of IFRS by 
the group. At that time, goodwill was considered as a non-monetary asset of the acquirer, and it is therefore recorded under this segment, along 
with any related impairment charge. 
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VI. Net interest income 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Interest Income
- Cash and balances with central banks 3,004                   2,713                   
- Loans and advances 86,381                 90,948                 
- Available-for-sale financial assets 20,952                 26,078                 
- Held-to-maturity financial assets 9,919                   9,916                   
- Financial assets held for trading 241                      8,392                   
- Derivatives used for hedging (only interest flows) 23                        127                      

Total interest income 120,520               138,174               

Interest expense
- Deposits from central banks 336                      260                      
- Deposits from banks and customers 19,220                 20,056                 
- Financial liabilities held for trading 232                      6,678                   
- Derivatives used for hedging (only interest flows) 444                      125                      
- Subordinated liabilities 12,702                 12,825                 

Total interest expense 32,934                 39,944                 

Net interest income 87,586                 98,230                 
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VII. Net fee and commission income 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Fee and commission income
Clearing and settlement 342,198               304,495               
Custody 520,588               482,825               
Other 332,241               316,148               

Total fee and commission income 1,195,027            1,103,468            

Fee and commission expense
Clearing and settlement 72,533                 53,564                 
Custody 151,920               159,557               
Other 136,527               131,622               

Total fee and commission expense 360,980               344,743               

Net fee and commission income 834,047               758,725               

 
 
Other fee and commission income mainly relates to communication fees and the recovery of out-of-pocket expenses incurred on behalf of clients, 
EMXCo’s and Xtrakter’s fees, issuer services fees earned by Euroclear Finland and Euroclear Sweden and revenue earned by Euroclear UK & 
Ireland Limited for collecting Stamp Duty Reserve Tax on behalf of HM Revenue and Customs in the United Kingdom and Stamp Duty on behalf of 
the Irish Revenue Commissioners. 
 
Other fee and commission expense mainly relates to fees incurred on behalf of clients as well as other fees for collateral leasing and back-
stop facilities. 
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VIII. Dividend income 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Income from available-for-sale financial assets 307                      17,814                 

 
 
This relates to dividends received from Monte Titoli, NYSE Euronext and, for 2009 only, LCH.Clearnet Group Limited. 
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IX. Realised gains on available-for-sale financial assets  
 
 

(€'000) 2010               2009               

Available-for-sale financial assets
- fair value adjustment recognised in equity and released in profit or loss during the period - quoted debt instruments 7,643 7,502              
- realised result recognised in profit or loss during the period - quoted debt instruments 13,011 8,803              
- fair value adjustment recognised in equity and released in profit or loss during the period - equity shares -                      10,532            
- realised result recognised in profit or loss during the period - equity shares -                      6,933              

Total 20,654            33,770            

 
 
During 2010, Euroclear Bank restructured the duration of its Available-for-sale debt securities, realising gains of €20,654,000 (2009: 
€16,305,000).  
 
During 2009, Euroclear Bank also realised a gain of €6,933,000 in connection with the disposal of its shares in LCH.Clearnet Group 
Limited. 
 
A further gain of €10,532,000 was realised on the disposal of these shares in 2009 at the level of the Euroclear plc consolidated financial 
statements. In 2002, Euroclear plc acquired Clearnet SA in exchange for newly issued shares of Euroclear plc. 75% of the Euroclear plc 
shares were issued in February 2002 with the remaining 25% to be issued in February 2004. In February 2002, Euroclear plc dropped down 
the investment in Clearnet SA to Euroclear Bank in exchange for newly issued shares, with no deferred consideration terms. The value of 
the Euroclear plc deferred consideration shares in February 2002 was estimated at €33,444,000 whereas when the shares were issued in 
February 2004, the value was €22,692,000. Additional cash consideration of €220,000 was paid in February 2004. For the purposes of the 
Euroclear plc consolidated financial statements, the shares in Clearnet SA had cost €10,532,000 less than anticipated. When Euroclear 
adopted IFRS in 2006, this amount was considered as part of the Available-for-sale revaluation reserve within Shareholders’ equity. In 
2009, at the time of the disposal of the shares in LCH.Clearnet Group Limited, this amount has been transferred from the Available-for-sale 
revaluation reserve to the consolidated income statement.  
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X. Realised gains on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
- Realised gain -                           2,088                   

Total -                           2,088                   

 
During 2009, Euroclear Finance 2 bought back €6,000,000 of its Hybrid Tier I debt, realising a gain of €2,088,000.
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XI. Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Interest rate instruments and related derivatives 586                      8,405                   
Foreign exchange trading 2,628                   2,047                   
Foreign exchange options - time value (1,446) -                           

Total 1,768                   10,452                 

 
 
The net gains on interest rate instruments and related derivatives relate to contracts initiated by Euroclear Bank in order to reduce volatility 
of its net interest earnings from the reinvestment of its euro, US dollar and pound sterling balances. Under IFRS, such contracts do not 
qualify as hedges and the results are recognised under financial assets and liabilities held for trading (Note XXI). These net gains are 
compensated within the amount of interest income on loans and advances (Note VI). 
 
The net gains on foreign exchange trading relate to: 
- €2,524,000 (2009: €2,924,000) on treasury swaps initiated by Euroclear Bank in order to convert balances in non-core currencies into 

euro or US dollars for re-investment purposes. Under IFRS, these results may not be included within net interest income; 
- €104,000 (2009: €877,000 net losses) on forward foreign exchange contracts initiated by Euroclear plc to cover the company's Swiss 

franc tax liabilities. 
 
Euroclear Bank use foreign exchange options in order to be protected against the foreign exchange risk arising from expected future 
income streams sensitive to foreign exchange movements. Under IFRS, such contracts qualify as hedges. The change in fair value is 
recorded as follows:  
- time value in profits and losses; 
- intrinsic value in other comprehensive income. 
The net losses on the foreign exchange options relate to the time value. The option's time value reflects the probability that the option will 
gain or lose in intrinsic value before it expires. Numerically, this value depends on the time until the expiration date and the volatility of the 
price of the underlying instrument. The time value of an option converges towards zero over time and, at expiration, when the option value 
is simply its intrinsic value, the time value is zero. 
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XII. Other operating income 
 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Occupancy income 3,827                   3,923                   
Other 9,453                   10,906                 

Total 13,280                 14,829                 

 
Other mainly relates to personnel-related subsidies received (e.g. payroll taxes linked to research and development), and net profits arising from 
operational incidents. 
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XIII. Administrative expenses 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Staff costs
- Wages and salaries 296,953               279,360               
- Social security costs 72,053                 72,588                 
- Defined benefit plans XXXII 10,541                 12,888                 
- Defined contribution plans 7,209                   8,251                   
- Other staff costs 15,514                 17,595                 
Auditors' remuneration 2,535                   2,496                   
Consultants' fees 111,612               122,598               
Occupancy 44,985                 48,620                 
Maintenance and repairs 40,929                 41,366                 
Communications 24,754                 22,557                 
Depreciation and amortisation XXV, XXVI 55,089                 54,977                 
Other administrative expenses 50,678                 60,829                 
Provisions for liabilities and charges XXXI 33,058                 5,221                   

Total 765,910               749,346               

 
The average number of persons employed by the group during the year was 3,851 (2009: 3,961) The 2009 average includes an 8-month 
contribution for Xtrakter’s employees.  
 
 
The auditors' remuneration for Euroclear plc and its subsidiary undertakings was as follows: 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of the company's annual accounts 103                      121                      
Fees payable to the company's auditor and its associates for other services:
- The audit of the company's subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 1,617                   1,647                   
- Other services pursuant to legislation 58                        58                        
- Other services (principally SAS 70) 757                      670                      

Fees included in the consolidated financial statements 2,535                   2,496                   
Fees in respect of audit of pension plan 8                          9                          

Total 2,543                   2,505                   

 
Euroclear ensures that the independence of the external auditor is preserved through a specific policy adopted by the Board and agreed to by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. This policy adheres to the highest standards of independence. The engagement of the external auditor for non-core 
services is subject to specific controls, monitored by the Audit Committee. 
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XIV. Impairment 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Impairment charge
Goodwill and intangible assets XXVI 304,167               185,000               
Other assets 305                      (88)

At 31 December 304,472               184,912               

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Impairment of other assets
At 1 January 736                      467                      
- Acquisition of subsidiaries -                           681                      
- Charge to the income statement 305                      (88)
- Amounts used (166) (356)
- Exchange differences 54                        32                        

At 31 December 929                      736                      

 
For other assets, impairment relates to fees receivable from clients in several of the group’s (I)CSD subsidiaries, the recovery of which is at 
least partially in doubt. 
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XV. Taxation 
 
 
Euroclear plc is not treated as a UK resident for UK tax purposes and has no taxable presence itself in the United Kingdom. The UK Corporation 
tax charge relates to the group's subsidiary EMXCo, Euroclear UK & Ireland, Xtrakter Limited and the UK branch of Euroclear SA/NV. The overseas 
tax charges arose in Belgium, Brazil (2009 only), Finland, France, Luxembourg, Sweden, Switzerland and The Netherlands. 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Current income tax expense 66,647                 43,750                 
Adjustments to current tax of prior period (1,295) 182                      

65,352                 43,932                 

Deferred tax charge/(income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 96,798                 (5,942)
Deferred tax charge/(income) resulting from change in tax rate 44                        (90)

Tax expense 162,194               37,900                 

 
 
Further information on deferred tax is presented in Note XVI. 
 
The tax on the group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise from using the standard rate as follows: 
 

Operating profit/(loss) before tax (118,090) (491)

At standard rate of tax(1) (28,590) (101)

Effects of:
- Notional interest on capital (16,719) (16,000)
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 110,796               85,328                 
- Income not subject to tax (5,070) (31,668)
- Different rates in the companies in the group (14,113) 249                      
- Change of tax rate on deferred taxation 44                        (90)
- Impairment of deferred tax assets 117,141               -                           
- Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous period (1,295) 182                      

Tax expense for the year 162,194               37,900                 

 
 
1 A rate of 24.21% (2009:20.54%), representing the effective tax rate (before impairment) for the group, has been used as the standard rate. 
 
Since 1 January 2006, the group entities in Belgium benefit from a tax reduction linked to a notional interest on capital. 
 
The current income tax asset of €8,008,000 at 31 December 2010 (2009: €16,845,000) represents the total of amounts recoverable from 
the tax authorities relating to over-payments of income tax pre-payments, a R&D tax credit (2010 only) and prior year adjustments. 
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XVI. Deferred taxation 
 
 
The details of deferred taxation are as follows: 
 

(€'000) Total
 Maturity on or before 

31 December 2011 
 Maturity after 31 

December 2011 

At 31 December 2010
Assets
Defined benefit plans 11,137               -                                  11,137                    
Available-for-sale securities 2,734                 -                                  2,734                      
Cash flow hedging reserve 49                      49                               -                             
Financial assets/(liabilities) held for trading 699                    492                             207                        
Software development 6,260                 87                               6,173                      
Property, plant and equipment 2,175                 (39) 2,214                      
Tax loss carried forward 3,285                 382                             2,903                      
Other temporary differences 37,269               2,713                          34,556                    

Total 63,608               3,684                          59,924                    

Liabilities
Defined benefit plans (2,661) -                                  (2,661)
Property, plant and equipment 12                      12                               -                             
Other temporary differences 5,104                 880                             4,224                      
Insurance reserve of Euroclear Re SA 1,668                 -                                  1,668                      

Total 4,123                 892                             3,231                      

 
Depending on the total net deferred tax asset or liability, across all types of deferred tax, at year-end for each entity, the analysis is provided 
under deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. At 31 December 2010, Euroclear Re SA and Euroclear Sweden had a net deferred tax 
liability. 
 
During 2010, the Board of Euroclear SA/NV decided to discontinue certain strategic projects and the related capitalised software 
development costs were impaired. One consequence was the reversal of the deferred tax asset related to software development and a 
related charge in the consolidated income statement.  
 
The impairment charges resulted in increased tax losses for Euroclear SA/NV. A further consequence of the discontinuation of these 
strategic projects was that Euroclear SA/NV’s revenue in future years, linked to the recovery of the total project costs from its (I)CSD 
subsidiaries, will significantly reduce, thereby limiting its capacity to benefit from its deferred tax assets. After considering the expected 
capacity to utilise these assets in the next 10 years, the Board decided to impair deferred tax assets of €99,139,000 relating to its tax losses 
carried forward, €11,089,000 relating to the notional interest deduction available to Belgian companies (classified within Other temporary 
differences) and €439,000 relating to a provision for dilapidation (also classified within Other temporary differences). The French branch of 
Euroclear SA/NV also incurred losses in 2010 as a result of severance costs incurred and provided for. After considering the capacity of the 
French branch to utilise its deferred tax assets in the next 10 years, the Board decided to impair €6,474,000. 
 
The total impaired in 2010 therefore amounted to €117,141,000. Since tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely in Belgium and France, 
it may nevertheless still be possible to benefit from €106,052,000 in future years if sufficient taxable profits arise. Under Belgian tax 
regulations, the benefit from the notional interest deduction must be taken within a seven year period and the related €11,089,000 of assets 
impaired is therefore expected to be lost permanently. 
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XVI. Deferred taxation (continued) 

 
 

(€'000) Total
 Maturity on or before 

31 December 2010 
 Maturity after 31 

December 2010 

At 31 December 2009
Assets
Defined benefit plans 13,557               -                                  13,557                    
Available-for-sale securities (2,600) -                                  (2,600)
Cash flow hedging reserve 206                    206                             -                             
Financial assets/(liabilities) held for trading (569) (569) -                             
Software development 67,227               152                             67,075                    
Property, plant and equipment 1,953                 59                               1,894                      
Tax loss carried forward 61,902               -                                  61,902                    
Other temporary differences 14,169               2,852                          11,317                    

Total 155,845             2,700                          153,145                  

Liabilities
Defined benefit plans (2,307) -                                  (2,307)
Property, plant and equipment 6                        -                                  6                            
Other temporary differences 3,897                 203                             3,694                      
Insurance reserve of Euroclear Re SA 1,389                 -                                  1,389                      

Total 2,985                 203                             2,782                      
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XVI. Deferred taxation (continued) 
 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Analysis of movement of the net deferred tax asset and liability balances:

At 1 January 152,860               148,416               
Acquisition of subsidiaries -                           625                      
Income statement XV (96,842) 6,032                   
Deferred tax relating to items (charged) or credited to equity
- Defined benefit plans XXXII (1,586) (3,384)
- Revaluation reserve on available-for-sale financial assets XXXVI 5,328                   (65)
- Cash flow hedging reserve XXXVI (157) 1,163                   
Exchange differences (118) 73                        

At 31 December 59,485                 152,860               

The deferred tax asset recognised at the time of the acquisition of Xtrakter in 2009 related to property, plant and equipment (€625,000). 
 
The deferred tax income/(charge) in the income statement relates to the following temporary differences: 

Notes 2010                    2009                    

Defined benefit plans XXXII (835) (606)
Financial assets/(liabilities) held for trading 1,073                   5,605                   
Software development (60,991) (286)
Property, plant and equipment 188                      (11)
Tax losses carried forward 46,996                 1,669                   
Tax losses carried forward impaired (105,613) -                           
Insurance reserve (279) (191)
Other temporary differences 34,147                 (148)
Other temporary differences impaired (11,528) -                           

Total (96,842) 6,032                   
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XVII. Cash and balances with central banks 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Cash in hand 17                        18                        
Loans and advances 433,821               736,721               

Included in cash and cash equivalents XXXVIII 433,838               736,739               
Monetary reserve 10,390                 208,605               

Total cash and balances with central banks 444,228               945,344               

 
 
At 31 December 2010, Euroclear Bank had deposited €400,000,000 (2009: €700,000,000) of surplus funds with the Belgian National Bank.  
 
Euroclear Bank, like other banks, is required to comply with average monetary reserve requirements determined by the European Central 
Bank (ECB). Throughout each period set by the ECB, Euroclear Bank deposits varying amounts in its monetary reserve account at the 
Belgian National Bank in order to meet the average requirement for that period. 
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XVIII. Loans and advances 
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As at 31 December 2010
Loans and advances to
- central governments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   2                   2                   
- financial institutions 6,130,254 1,525,133     133,472        -                   -                   -                   3,892            7,792,751     
- corporates 7,301 -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1,392            8,693            

Total 6,137,555     1,525,133     133,472        -                   -                   -                   5,286            7,801,446     

 
The amount repayable on demand or within one week includes €2,777,541,000 of securities purchased under agreement to resell ('reverse 
repo') transactions. 
 
Other amounts maturing before 31 March 2011 includes €1,301,146,000 of securities purchased under agreement to resell ('reverse repo') 
transactions. 
 
The fair value of the loans and advances is not materially different from their book value at 31 December. 
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As at 31 December 2009
Loans and advances to
- central governments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   6                   6                   
- financial institutions 5,019,384     1,475,505     34,690          -                   -                   -                   2,599            6,532,178     
- corporates 10,845          -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1,319            12,164          

Total 5,030,229     1,475,505     34,690          -                   -                   -                   3,924            6,544,348     

 
The amount repayable on demand or within one week includes €1,470,786,000 of securities purchased under agreement to resell ('reverse 
repo') transactions. 
 
Other amounts maturing before 31 March 2010 includes €937,513,000 of securities purchased under agreement to resell ('reverse repo') 
transactions. 
 
The fair value of the loans and advances is not materially different from their book value at 31 December. 
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XVIII. Loans and advances (continued) 
 
 
In terms of nature, the following additional analysis is relevant: 

(€'000) 2010             2009             

Surplus funds      6,903,812 5,835,491     
Loans and advances         897,634 708,857        

Total 7,801,446     6,544,348     

Surplus funds relate to Euroclear Bank’s treasury exposures resulting from clients’ end-of-day positions. Such positions are usually re-
deposited in the market with high quality counterparties, as explained in the credit risk section of Note III. 
 
The group's loans and advances exposure is concentrated on the major banks with which surplus funds are invested and, to a lesser 
extent, on the overdrafts of Euroclear Bank Participants. Geographic concentrations have been based on the residence of the counterparty. 

(€'000) 2010             2009             2010             2009             2010             2009             2010             2009             

At 31 December

Loans and advances to
- central governments                    2 -                                     -   -                                     -   5                                      2 5                   
- financial institutions      6,595,009 5,948,177             419,550 224,425                778,192 359,578             7,792,751 6,532,180     
- corporates             6,657 11,007                         136 1,149                        1,900 7                               8,693 12,163          

Total 6,601,668     5,959,184     419,686        225,574        780,092        359,590        7,801,446     6,544,348     

Europe Americas Other Total
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XIX. Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                         2009                         

At 31 December
Equity shares
- Quoted prices in active markets 1,482                        1,185                        
- Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data 10,959                      10,957                      

Quoted debt instruments issued by
- central governments and central banks 1,296,809                 1,247,628                 
- financial institutions -                                14,551                      

1,309,250                 1,274,321                 

 
 
All debt securities have fixed coupons. Equity securities do not bear interest. 
 
For unlisted securities, the valuation is based on the prices at which the securities could probably be sold to willing and knowledgeable 
parties. These prices are determined using generally accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models and relevant 
market multiples. 
 
During the course of 2010, Euroclear Bank restructured its Available-for-sale debt instrument portfolio, realising gains of €20,654,000 (2009: 
€16,305,000) (Note IX). 
 
During the course of 2009, in connection with a share buy-back by LCH.Clearnet Group Limited, Euroclear disposed of its shareholding in 
the company, receiving a dividend of €17,568,000 (Note VIII) and realising a gain of €17,465,000 (Note IX).  
 
The group has not reclassified any held-to-maturity financial asset during the year (2009: €0). However, reclassifications did occur in early 
2011, as explained in note XLII. 
 
The maturity profile of the available-for-sale financial assets can be found in Note III. 
 
The movement in available-for-sale financial assets can be summarised as follows: 
 

(€'000) Equity shares Debt securities Total 

At 1 January 2010 12,141                      1,262,180                 1,274,321                 
Additions -                                1,656,602                 1,656,602                 
Redemptions and disposals -                                (1,583,196) (1,583,196)
Gains/losses from changes in fair value
- Gains/losses on redeemed or sold securities -                                (7,643) (7,643)
- Gains/losses on held securities 300                           (8,047) (7,747)
Amortisation of discounts and (premiums) -                                (19,878) (19,878)
Net change in accrued interest -                                (3,209) (3,209)

At 31 December 2010 12,441                      1,296,809                 1,309,250                 

(€'000) Equity shares Debt securities Total 

At 1 January 2009 122,598                    980,578                    1,103,176                 
Additions 761                           1,388,487                 1,389,248                 
Redemptions and disposals (100,656) (1,110,299) (1,210,955)
Gains/losses from changes in fair value
- Gains/losses on redeemed or sold securities (10,532) (7,502) (18,034)
- Gains/losses on held securities (30) 7,649                        7,619                        
Amortisation of discounts and (premiums) -                                (10,887) (10,887)
Net change in accrued interest -                                14,154                      14,154                      

At 31 December 2009 12,141                      1,262,180                 1,274,321                 
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XX. Held-to-maturity financial assets 
 
 

(€'000) 2010               2009               

At 31 December
Quoted debt instruments issued by
- central governments and central banks 297,910          298,729          

297,910          298,729          

 
All debt securities have fixed coupons and are quoted in an active market. The Held-to-maturity portfolio solely consists of sovereign debt issued by 
Germany, France, Austria, Italy and Belgium. 
 
The group has not reclassified any held-to-maturity financial asset during the year (2009: €0). However, sales and reclassifications did occur in 
early 2011, as explained in note XLII. 
 
The maturity profile of the held-to-maturity financial assets can be found in Note III. 
 
The book value and the fair value of the held-to-maturity financial assets can be detailed as follows: 
 

(€'000) Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

At 31 December
Quoted debt instruments issued by
- central governments and central banks 297,910          302,823          298,729          305,539          

297,910          302,823          298,729          305,539          

2010 2009

 
 
The movement in held-to-maturity financial assets can be summarised as follows: 
 

(€'000) 2010               2009               

At 1 January 298,729          299,551          
Amortisation of discounts and (premiums) (819) (822)

At 31 December 297,910          298,729          
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XXI. Financial instruments held for trading 
 
 
The group's financial assets and liabilities held for trading are comprised of the following derivatives which can be used by the group to hedge 
interest rate and foreign currencies exposures: 
- interest rate futures are contractual obligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in interest rates or to buy or sell a financial 

instrument on a future date at a specific price; 
- interest rate swaps and overnight indexed swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Such transactions result in 

an economic exchange of interest rates; 
- interest rate options are contractual agreements under which the seller grants the purchaser the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell at 

or by a set date or during a set period, a financial instrument at a predetermined price; 
- currency forwards represent commitments to buy or sell foreign and domestic currencies on a future date at a predetermined price. 

In order to reduce the volatility of its net interest earnings, Euroclear Bank uses certain interest rate derivatives. In particular, it enters into trans-
actions in interest rate futures and options, as well as overnight indexed swaps. 
Although these transactions do not qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS, such transactions allow Euroclear Bank to protect the interest rate 
margin on the reinvestment of its long core deposits.  

At the end of 2010, all such transactions had matured and at this point in time, no renewal had taken place for hedging the 2011 interest 
rate margin. The reason for this resides in the very low interest rates prevailing for the major currencies at the end of 2010. Such 
transactions may however be reinstated in the course of 2011 should market conditions become more favourable. 
Furthermore, in certain circumstances, currency forward exchange contracts are used by certain companies of the Euroclear group to hedge the 
fair value of some specific liabilities expressed in foreign currencies. These transactions are, however, not accounted for as hedges. 

1. Fair value and notional amounts 
 
At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the fair value and the notional amounts of the group's trading derivatives were as follows: 
 

(€'000) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

At 31 December 2010
Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange 2,883              2,688              692,418          9,692              

Stock options (Note V to Parent company financial statements) 2,819              2,819              14,706            14,706            

Total 5,702              5,507              707,124          24,398            

At 31 December 2009
Interest rate derivatives
- Interest rate options 845                 -                      600,000          -                      
- Interest rate swaps 17                   14                   173,539          33,780            
- Interest rate futures 1,015              -                      487,827          -                      

Total 1,877              14                   1,261,366       33,780            

Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange 84                   61                   12,907            10,523            

Stock options (Note V to Parent company financial statements) 4,061              4,061              45,604            45,604            

Total 6,022              4,136              1,319,877       89,907            

Fair value Notional amount

 
 
The notional amount of assets related to forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2010 principally relates to outstanding 
currency swaps. 
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XXII. Derivatives used for hedging 
 
 
In addition to the interest rate hedging described in Note XIX, which is classified as trading under IFRS, the group's policy is to hedge the follow-
ing exposures: 

- foreign exchange risk arising from expected future income streams sensitive to foreign exchange movements; and 
- structural currency exposures. 
 
Some of Euroclear Bank's fee income is sensitive to the level of foreign exchange rates. In order to protect this revenue stream from adverse 
movements in foreign exchange rates, Euroclear Bank enters into currency forward exchange contracts, whereby it sells the relevant currencies 
on a future date at a predetermined price. As an alternative, Euroclear Bank also uses forward plus contracts, which combine different 
foreign exchange options, and whereby the bank can take advantage of a favourable exchange rate move up to a certain barrier level. 
 
Such transactions are classified as cash flow hedges. 

In addition, the group also uses currency forward exchange contracts to hedge its net investments in foreign operations. Such transactions are 
classified as hedges of net investments. 

The positions taken on the hedging book are managed according to the following key principles: 

- an exposure once hedged will not be re-opened; and 
- unwinding of positions will be done only in exceptional circumstances, for instance in case of an over-hedged position. 

 
1. Cash flow hedges 
 
At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the fair value and the notional amounts of the group's derivatives used for cash flow hedges were 
as follows: 
 
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:  
 

(€'000) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

At 31 December 2010
Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange 269                 412                 22,590            8,615              
- Foreign exchange options -                      1,446              -                      60,171            

Total 269                 1,858              22,590            68,786            

At 31 December 2009
Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange 268                 874                 10,652            55,202            

Total 268                 874                 10,652            55,202            

Fair value Notional amount

 
 
The group applies hedge accounting for expected revenue streams influenced by changes in foreign exchange rates for certain currencies.  
 
The amounts recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve at year-end will be gradually released to the income statement during the 
following year, when the related cash flows materialise. 
 
There was no ineffectiveness arising from cash flow hedging to be recognised in profit or loss as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 
2009. 
 
There were no transactions for which cash flow hedge accounting had to be ceased in 2010 or 2009 as a result of the highly probable cash 
flows no longer being expected to occur. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Euroclear plc annual report 2010 Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

   
   

73 

 

 
XXII. Derivatives used for hedging (continued) 
 
 
The movements in the cash flow hedging reserve can be detailed as follows: 
 

(€'000) Gross amount Deferred tax Net amount

At 1 January 2010 (606) 206                      (400)

Amount released from equity to profit or loss during the period (6,029) 2,050                   (3,979)
Change of fair value directly recognised in equity during the year 6,492                   (2,207) 4,285                   
Change to cash flow hedging reserve during the year 463                      (157) 306                      

At 31 December 2010 (143) 49                        (94)

At 1 January 2009 1,990                   (957) 1,033                   

Amount released from equity to profit or loss during the period 2,293                   (779) 1,514                   
Change of fair value directly recognised in equity during the year (4,889) 1,942                   (2,947)
Change to cash flow hedging reserve during the year (2,596) 1,163                   (1,433)

At 31 December 2009 (606) 206                      (400)

 
 
2. Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation 
 
At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the fair value and the notional amounts of the group's derivatives used for the hedge of net 
investments in a foreign operation were as follows: 
 

Notional 
(€'000) Notes Assets Liabilities amount 

At 31 December 2010
Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange 1,254                   116                      131,947               

Total III 1,254                   116                      131,947               

At 31 December 2009
Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange -                           1,789                   125,349               

Total III -                           1,789                   125,349               

Fair value

 
 
The group hedges part of the currency translation risk of net investments in foreign operations (EMXCo, Xtrakter, Euroclear UK & Ireland, 
the UK branch of Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Sweden). No ineffectiveness was recognised in the income statement arising from 
hedges of net investments in foreign operations. 
 
The movements in the hedge of net investments in foreign operations reserve as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 were as 
follows: 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

At 1 January 24,564                 38,530                 

Amount released from equity to profit or loss during the period (2,093) (5,071)
Change of fair value directly recognised in equity during the year (6,958) (8,895)
Change to hedge of net investments in foreign operations reserve during the year XXXVI (9,051) (13,966)

At 31 December 15,513                 24,564                 
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XXIII. Other Assets 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Items in process of collection 232,958               166,361               
Taxation and social security 23,840                 40,884                 
Other assets (after impairment) XIV 53,584                 44,983                 

310,382               252,228               

 
Items in process of collection principally relate to coupon and redemption proceeds for clients of Euroclear Bank. 
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XXIV. Pre-payments and accrued income 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Pre-payments 25,065                 14,512                 
Accrued fee income 90,062                 73,619                 
Other acrued income 829                      935                      

115,956               89,066                 
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XXV. Property, plant and equipment 
 
 

Land and Furniture and IT Other 
(€'000) buildings fixtures equipment equipment Total

Cost
At 1 January 2010 116,484             20,252               205,788             57,544               400,068             
Additions 563                    30                      12,648               2,035                 15,276               
Transfer and disposals -                        (607) (1,198) (2,571) (4,376)
Exchange differences -                        212                    909                    338                    1,459                 

At 31 December 2010 117,047             19,887               218,147             57,346               412,427             

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2010 (56,968) (16,334) (161,236) (38,515) (273,053)
Depreciation charge (3,651) (1,314) (21,831) (5,796) (32,592)
Transfer and disposals -                        313                    1,198                 2,432                 3,943                 
Exchange differences -                        (157) (691) (173) (1,021)

At 31 December 2010 (60,619) (17,492) (182,560) (42,052) (302,723)

Net book value at 31 December 2010 56,428               2,395                 35,587               15,294               109,704             

Land and Furniture and IT Other 
(€'000) buildings fixtures equipment equipment Total

Cost
At 1 January 2009 115,738             22,271               221,651             61,118               420,778             
Additions 746                    64                      7,529                 2,714                 11,053               
Acquisition of subsidiaries -                        952                    4,220                 1,585                 6,757                 
Transfer and disposals -                        (3,174) (28,161) (8,470) (39,805)
Exchange differences -                        139                    549                    597                    1,285                 

At 31 December 2009 116,484             20,252               205,788             57,544               400,068             

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2009 (53,258) (16,856) (164,797) (40,491) (275,402)
Acquisition of subsidiaries -                        (920) (2,706) (1,393) (5,019)
Depreciation charge (3,710) (1,352) (21,786) (4,725) (31,573)
Transfer and disposals -                        2,865                 28,538               8,393                 39,796               
Exchange differences -                        (71) (485) (299) (855)

At 31 December 2009 (56,968) (16,334) (161,236) (38,515) (273,053)

Net book value at 31 December 2009 59,516               3,918                 44,552               19,029               127,015             

 
The net book value of IT equipment includes €1,052,226 (2009: €2,140,000) in respect of IT equipment held under non-cancellable finance lease 
agreements. The lease terms are less than one year.  
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XXVI. Goodwill and intangible assets 
 
 

Internally Contractual
developed Purchased customer Contractual Unpatented

(€'000) software software Know-how Goodwill relationship commitment technology Total 

Cost
At 1 January 2010 29,811         63,586         45,920         1,403,658    23,091            5,150               56,274           1,627,490    
Additions -                   804              -                   -                   -                     -                       -                    804              
Transfer and disposals -                   -                   -                   -                   -                     (5,150) -                    (5,150)
Exchange differences 54                338              165              25,492         36                  -                       3,713             29,798         

At 31 December 2010 29,865         64,728         46,085         1,429,150    23,127            -                       59,987           1,652,942    

At 1 January 2010 (28,707) (50,537) (44,526) (185,000) (226) (5,150) (20,836) (334,982)
Amortisation charges (1,028) (5,382) (720) -                   (233) -                       (15,134) (22,497)
Impairment -                   -                   -                   (304,167) -                     -                       -                    (304,167)
Transfer and disposals -                   -                   -                   -                   -                     5,150               -                    5,150           
Exchange differences (49) (269) (55) -                   (6) -                       (1,720) (2,099)

At 31 December 2010 (29,784) (56,188) (45,301) (489,167) (465) -                       (37,690) (658,595)

Net book value at 31 December 2010 81                8,540           784              939,983       22,662            -                       22,297           994,347       

Internally Contractual
developed Purchased customer Contractual Unpatented

(€'000) software software Know-how Goodwill relationship commitment technology Total 

Cost
At 1 January 2009 28,097         55,642         45,855         1,391,803    21,965            4,802               54,231           1,602,395    
Additions 61                7,646           -                   -                   -                     -                       -                    7,707           
Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,643           3,842           -                   1,109           1,120              -                       -                    7,714           
Transfer and disposals -                   (3,905) -                   (221) -                     -                       -                    (4,126)
Exchange differences 10                361              65                10,967         6                    348                  2,043             13,800         

At 31 December 2009 29,811         63,586         45,920         1,403,658    23,091            5,150               56,274           1,627,490    

At 1 January 2009 (25,966) (45,420) (43,823) -                   -                     (3,201) (5,903) (124,313)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (1,462) (2,957) -                   -                   (75) -                       -                    (4,494)
Amortisation charges (1,271) (5,211) (694) -                   (151) (1,712) (14,365) (23,404)
Impairment -                   -                   -                   (185,000) -                     -                       -                    (185,000)
Transfer and disposals -                   3,399           -                   -                   -                     -                       -                    3,399           
Exchange differences (8) (348) (9) -                   -                     (237) (568) (1,170)

At 31 December 2009 (28,707) (50,537) (44,526) (185,000) (226) (5,150) (20,836) (334,982)

Net book value at 31 December 2009 1,104           13,049         1,394           1,218,658    22,865            -                       35,438           1,292,508    

Provisions for amortisation and 
impairment

Provisions for amortisation and 
impairment

 
Goodwill and the contractual customer relationship set out in the tables above relate to the acquisition of EMXCo, Euroclear Belgium, Euroclear 
Finland, Euroclear France, Euroclear Nederland, Euroclear NIEC, Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear UK & Ireland and Xtrakter Limited. 
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XXVI. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued) 
 
 
Determination of the cash-generating units 
 
Since 2008, goodwill impairment reviews have principally been based on a single cash-generating unit (CGU) for the Single Platform (SP). This 
was considered appropriate following the launch in January 2009 of the Euroclear Settlement of Euronext-Zone Securities (ESES) platform, and 
the intention to migrate Euroclear UK & Ireland, Euroclear Finland and Euroclear Sweden to the SP in the following years.  
 
During 2010, the Board decided to adopt a more modular approach to the delivery of tangible benefits to clients and accordingly to discontinue 
significant parts of the SP initiatives. It was therefore no longer appropriate to continue to focus on the SP CGU for impairment review purposes 
and to return to reviews at the level of the 4 relevant operating segments. i.e. ESES (reflecting Euroclear Belgium, Euroclear France, Euroclear 
Nederland and Euroclear NIEC), Euroclear UK & Ireland (EUI)/EMX Company Ltd (EMX), the activities of EMX have been integrated into EUI in 
the course of 2010, Euroclear Finland/Euroclear Sweden and, separately, Xtrakter. 
 
Except for Euroclear Sweden and Xtrakter, goodwill and contractual customer relationship are expressed and tested for impairment purposes in 
euros. At the time of the acquisition of EUI, the related goodwill was considered as a non-monetary asset of the acquirer and therefore expressed 
in euros. At the time of migration to IFRS, which considers goodwill to be a monetary asset of the acquired entity, Euroclear decided not to restate 
prior years’ business combinations. The goodwill relating to EMX, now appraised together with that of EUI, is expressed in sterling but is 
translated into euros at the spot rate on closing date for the purpose of impairment testing. 
 
Basis on which recoverable amounts have been determined 
 
“Value in use” has been the measurement basis for all segments in 2010. 
 
For Euroclear Finland and Sweden, specific intangible assets relating to their respective platforms were recognised in the consolidated accounts 
and these are being amortised over their estimated useful life. 
 
The net book values of the goodwill, and Euroclear Belgium’s contractual customer relationships, before and after the 2010 impairment review, 
are set out in the table below. The 2009 figures have been re-analysed to ensure comparability. 
 
 

Before 
impairment

After 
impairment

Before 
impairment

After 
impairment

Euroclear UK & Ireland / EMXCo 453,960             203,960             532,628             457,628             
ESES 485,261             485,261             495,261             485,261             
NCSD 321,575             271,575             396,617             296,617             
Xtrakter 1,151                 1,151                 1,116                 1,116                 

1,261,947          961,947 1,425,622          1,240,622          

2010 2009

 
 
These are the only intangible assets considered to have indefinite useful lives. 
 
The 2010 valuation of all the entities concerned is based on a 5-year free cash flow forecast followed by a terminal value based on annual multi-
year plan forecasts. For several years previously, the period for delivery and recharge of the SP initiatives had made it appropriate to extend the 
“5-year free cash flows forecast” to a longer period in order to determine a suitable basis for the computation of the perpetual value. 
 
 
Key assumptions related to discount factors 
 
Discount rates are calculated based on the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). Such discount rates result from the combination of 3 factors: 
 
1. Risk-free rates: For impairment review purposes, the Euroclear policy is to compute the risk-free rates as the average rates for the 10-year 

government bond for the relevant countries. These averages are computed over the twelve month period prior to the review.  
2. Beta: The beta represents the degree of volatility of the expected return for a particular company vis-à-vis the overall market, and is applied to 

the equity risk premium. Since betas are not readily available for the group CSDs, betas of listed companies in sectors relevant to the 
companies are taken as guidance, e.g. European stock exchanges and banks processing high transaction volumes, involving settlement 
and/or custody. Due to the different nature of its business, the beta for Xrakter is calculated as the weighted average of betas for a selection of 
relevant companies.  

3. Equity risk premium: The risk premium is measured as the extra return that equity investors expect to achieve over risk-free assets, on 
average. The Euroclear policy is to use long-term arithmetic averages to determine the applicable equity risk premia, in accordance with the 
country where the entity is incorporated.  

 
Perpetual growth rates applicable to the CGU’s take into account the expected long-term growth of the equity/fixed income markets, and the 
strong franchise that the relevant CSD’s have in their respective local markets.  
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XXVI. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued) 
 
 
The discount rates and perpetual growth rates used for each CGU in the 2010 and 2009 impairment reviews were as follows: 
 
 

Discount rate
Perpetual growth 

rate Discount rate
Perpetual growth 

rate

Euroclear UK & Ireland / EMXCo 9.10% 2.00% 8.09% 3.00%
ESES 8.50% 2.00% 8.34% 1.87%
NCSD 10.30% 2.00% 9.28% 2.50%
Xtrakter 9.30% 2.00% 9.17% 2.50%

2010 2009

 
The 2010 review 
 
Considering a combination of slow and progressive market recovery throughout 2011 and the years beyond, together with market volatility 
and anticipated market developments on CSDs such as investor accounts expected to be internalized at the participant systems in Finland, 
the Board has taken a conservative approach in the financial plan. The multi-year forecasts for CSDs show an improving mid-to long term 
profitability thanks to amongst other cost saving measures that have been taken over the past years. The discounted cash flows of 
Euroclear UK & Ireland take into account business uncertainty related to its pricing structure and volume sensitivity. 
 
Conclusions 
 
The Board concluded that it was appropriate to record a total impairment charge of €300,000,000, of which €250,000,000 relates to 
Euroclear UK & Ireland and €50,000,000 to NCSD (reflecting further concerns about Euroclear Finland). A further charge of €4,167,000 was 
recorded in the Euroclear plc consolidated financial statements in order to align the remaining values of goodwill with those in the 
consolidated financial statements of Euroclear SA/NV. 
 
For ESES and Xtrakter, the valuation exercise indicated that the current values of goodwill and related intangibles are still justified. 
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XXVII. Deposits from central banks 
 
 

(€'000) 2010             2009             

Deposits 223,516        1,493,662     

Total 223,516        1,493,662     

 
A large number of national central banks are clients of Euroclear Bank. As of 31 December 2009, in addition to current account deposits, one 
central bank had placed €1,095,000,000 on an overnight deposit. 
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XXVIII. Deposits from banks and customers 
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At 31 December 2010

Deposits from
- central governments 2,686         -                   -                   -                   -                   -                 -                   2,686            
- financial institutions 7,055,360   299,349        4,341            -                   10,862          -                 605               7,370,517     
- corporates 145,879      6,366            -                   -                   -                   -                 1                   152,246        

Finance lease -                 248               248               403               -                   -                 -                   899               

Total 7,203,925   305,963        4,589            403               10,862          -                 606               7,526,348     

 
The fair value of deposits with a maturity greater than one year at 31 December 2010 was €11,656,000. 
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At 31 December 2009

Deposits from
- central governments 6,760         -                   -                   -                   -                   -                 -                   6,760            
- financial institutions 5,058,710   271,622        3,894            -                   10,246          2,958         638               5,348,068     
- corporates 178,976      6,347            -                   -                   -                   -                 -                   185,323        

Finance lease -                 291               291               574               850               -                 -                   2,006            

5,244,446   278,260        4,185            574               11,096          2,958         638               5,542,157     

 
The fair value of deposits with a maturity greater than one year at 31 December 2009 was €14,016,000. 
 
In terms of nature, the following additional analysis is relevant: 
 

(€'000) 2010             2009             

Deposits 7,093,356     5,168,354     
Borrowings 432,992        373,803        

7,526,348     5,542,157     
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XXVIII. Deposits from banks and customers (continued) 
 
 
Deposits from banks and customers include finance lease liabilities as follows (Note XXV):  
 

(€'000) 2010             2009             

Gross finance lease liabilities - minimum lease payments:
- up to one year 955 1,227            
- later than one year but not later than five years -                   902               
- over five years -                   -                   

Future interest finance charges 56                 123               

Present value of finance lease liabilities

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:
- up to one year 899               1,156            
- later than one year but not later than five years -                   850               
- over five years -                   -                   
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XXIX. Other liabilities 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Funds to be assigned 244,411               231,634               
Taxation and social security 10,185                 11,108                 
Creditors 17,432                 17,056                 
Other 3,093                   5,150                   

Total 275,121               264,948               

 
 
 ‘Funds to be assigned’ principally represent funds received and other items in the process of reconciliation.  
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XXX. Accruals and deferred income 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Accrued fee expense 57,927                 51,401                 
Accrued payroll expense 104,118               100,041               
Other accrued expense 31,223                 45,820                 
Deferred income 10,183                 4,933                   

203,451               202,195               
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XXXI. Provisions for liabilities and charges  
 
 

 

(€'000) Onerous  lease Redundancy Dilapidation Litigation
Other

provisions Total

At 1 January 2010 4,847                 672                    2,837                 813                    28                      9,197                 
Capitalisation of dilapidation provision -                        -                        285                    -                        -                        285                    
Additions 14,040               20,373               1,205                 564                    287                    36,469               
Unused amounts reversed during the period (3,064) (165) (259) (63) (24) (3,575)
Amounts used (1,219) (514) (124) -                        -                        (1,857)
Unwinding of discount 93                      -                        -                        -                        -                        93                      
Effect of change in the discount rate 164                    -                        -                        -                        -                        164                    
Exchange differences 223                    5                        63                      36                      -                        327                    

At 31 December 2010 15,084               20,371               4,007                 1,350                 291                    41,103               

 
The increase in the onerous lease provision relates to premises leased by several Euroclear entities that are or will become vacant before the 
expiration of the lease contracts and which are either not sub-let, or are/will be sub-let at terms and conditions below those in Euroclear’s 
leases. During 2010, Euroclear decided to re-occupy certain office space in London and the related onerous lease provision recorded in 2009 
has been reversed. The provisions will be progressively utilised over the remaining period of the leases concerned. 

The redundancy provision predominantly relates to operations in France and is expected to be utilised during 2011. 

Provisions for dilapidation costs have been recorded to reflect end-of-lease obligations in several countries. 
 
In January 2011, Euroclear Sweden has been ordered to pay 4,149,000 Swedish krona plus interest for misuse of dominant position between 
1999 and October 2001. As Euroclear Sweden had previously considered that it would win the case, no provision had been recorded in 
previous years. Euroclear Sweden intends to recover the costs from its previous shareholders but no accrual for this recovery has been 
included in the 2010 accounts. The provision, which includes an estimate of the interest, is expected to be utilised during 2011. 
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XXXII. Defined benefit plans 
 
 
The group has several defined benefit pension plans covering employees in Belgium, France, Japan, The Netherlands, Sweden and 
Switzerland. The group also provides medical plans and termination indemnities for its employees. 

The assets of the plans are held separately from those of the group. 

The most recent full actuarial valuations of the plans, under IFRS, were made by independent qualified professional actuaries as follows: 
- Euroclear Bank - all plans: 31 December 2010 
- Euroclear Belgium SA/NV - all plans: 31 December 2010 
- Euroclear France - all plans: 31 December 2010 
- Euroclear Nederland - pension plan: 31 December 2010 
- Euroclear plc - pension plan: 31 December 2010 
- Euroclear SA/NV - all plans: 31 December 2010 
- Euroclear Sweden - all plans: 31 December 2010 

The actuarial valuation of all plans as of 31 December 2010 showed a total deficit of €35,211,000 (2009: €43,143,000). 
 
The pension cost in 2010 of €10,541,000 (2009: €12,888,000) has been fully recognised in the current year. The contribution, reflecting employer's 
contributions for funded plans and benefit disbursements for unfunded plans, amounted to €14,527,000 (2009: €15,361,000). 
 
The major assumptions used by the actuaries in their valuations were: 
 

2010                    2009                    

Discount rate 5.00% 5.21%
Expected rate of return on assets 6.40% 6.52%
Expected inflation rate 1.98% 1.96%
Future salary increases 4.74% 4.78%
Expected medical cost trend rate 5.91% 5.72%

 
 
The above percentages are weighted averages of the assumptions used for the individual plans. 
 
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice and published statistics in each territory (MR/FR table in Belgium, TGHF 
05 table in France, AG Prognosetafel 2010-2060 in The Netherlands, EPF 2004 rates in Japan and FFFS2007:31 in Sweden).  
 
The value of assets in all plans and the expected rates of return were: 
 

€'000

Equities 93,014                 7.50% 83,012                 7.48%
Bonds 45,313                 4.47% 30,698                 4.38%
Property 247                      -                       574                      -                       
Cash 426                      1.41% 484                      1.33%
Other 4,854                   4.28% 4,693                   4.19%

Total market value of assets 143,854               119,461               

2010 2009

Value of assets
Long-term rate of 

expected return Value of assets
Long-term rate of 

expected return

 
 
The above percentages are weighted averages of the expectations for the individual plans.  
 
The expected return on assets is based on market expectations, at the beginning of the period, for return over the entire life of the related asset 
class, net of administrative fees. It is determined by using the building block approach which factors in long-term inflation and the expected long-
term net return on each asset category.  
 
‘Other’ represents an insurance company investment product with a guaranteed minimum interest rate. 
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XXXII. Defined benefit plans (continued) 
 
 
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Present value of funded obligations (154,085) (147,716)
Fair value of plan assets 143,854               119,461               

(10,231) (28,255)

Present value of unfunded obligations (22,525) (13,632)
Unrecognised past service cost 504                      926                      
Irrecoverable surplus (2,959) (2,182)

Pension deficit (35,211) (43,143)

 
 
The irrecoverable surplus relates to plans for which the surplus of plan assets over plan obligations is not available for offset with other group 
pension fund liabilities. 
 
The changes in the net deficit are as follows: 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Deficit in plans at 1 January (43,143) (56,033)
Employer's expense (10,541) (12,888)
Gains/(losses) for the year 4,594                   10,818                 
Actual employer's contributions 14,527                 15,361                 
Exchange differences (648) (401)

Deficit in plans at 31 December (35,211) (43,143)

 
 
The impact on Other comprehensive income is as follows: 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Actuarial gains/(losses) for the year 5,252                   11,168                 
Impact of change in irrecoverable surplus (658) (350)
Exchange differences (116) 59                        

Impact on statement of other comprehensive income 4,478                   10,877                 

 
 
The cumulative actuarial loss recognised in Other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2010 was €54,501,000 (2009: €58,979,000). 
 
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Employer's current service cost (excludes employee contributions) 12,162                 10,133                 
Interest cost 8,963                   7,991                   
Expected return on assets (8,126) (5,797)
Amortisation of past service cost 423                      561                      
Losses/(gains) on curtailments and settlements (2,881) -                           

Total, included in staff costs 10,541                 12,888                 
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XXXII. Defined benefit plans (continued) 
 
 
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: 
 

(€'000) 2010               2009               

Present value of obligations at 1 January 161,348          143,311          
Service cost 12,162            10,133            
Interest cost 8,963              7,991              
Benefit payments (3,081) (3,392)
Settlements (3,962) (1,575)
Curtailments (2,881) -                      
Past service cost -                      450                 
Experience (gains)/losses (2,977) 2,998              
(Gains)/losses due to assumption changes 4,051              177                 
Exchange differences 2,987              1,255              

Present value of obligations at 31 December 176,610          161,348          

 
 
Changes in plan assets are as follows: 
 

(€'000) 2010               2009               

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 119,461          88,027            
Employer contributions 14,527            15,361            
Benefit payments (3,081) (3,392)
Expected return on plan assets 8,126              5,797              
Experience gains/(losses) 6,326              14,343            
Settlements (3,962) (1,575)
Exchange differences 2,457              900                 

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 143,854          119,461          

 
The amounts shown for curtailments in 2010 reflect the impact of the restructuring and related redundancies in France, Sweden and The 
Netherlands. The amount shown for settlements in 2009 and 2010 relate to plan members in The Netherlands who left the Company. 
 
Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 December 2011 are €10,558,000. 
 
The amounts recognised on the balance sheet are as follows: 

(€'000) 2010               2009               2008               2007               2006               

Present value of defined benefit obligations (176,610) (161,348) (143,311) (130,595) (132,365)
Fair value of plan assets 143,854          119,461          88,027            96,087            91,781            
Unrecognised past service cost 504                 926                 1,037              1,149              1,295              
Irrecoverable surplus (2,959) (2,182) (1,786) (1,320) (1,259)

Deficit in plans (35,211) (43,143) (56,033) (34,679) (40,548)

 
Details of experience adjustments for the year: 
 
(€'000) 2010 2009               2008               2007               2006               

Experience gains/(losses) on plan assets 6,326              14,343            (34,130) (7,158) 1,806              
Experience (gains)/losses on plan liabilities (2,977) 2,998              2,181              3,618              (399)
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XXXII. Defined benefit plans (continued) 
 
 
The effect of a 1% movement in the assumed medical cost trend rate would be as follows: 

 
(€'000) Increase Decrease

- Effect on the defined benefit obligations 3,812            (2,839)
- Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost 605               (438)

 
The movement in the deferred tax asset relating to the pension deficit is as follows: 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010             2009             

Amount credited/(charged) through equity XVI (1,586) (3,384)
Amount credited/(charged) through the income statement XVI (835) (606)
Exchange differences 353               194               

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax asset (2,068) (3,796)
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XXXIII. Subordinated liabilities 
 
 

(€'000) Book value Fair value. Book value Fair value.

At 31 December
Fixed/Floating Rate Guaranteed Non-Cumulative Perpetual Securities 299,496                  253,488                  299,245                  232,203                  

Total 299,496                  253,488                  299,245                  232,203                  

Repayable
- in more than two years but not more than five years 299,496                  253,488                  -                             -                             
- in more than five years -                             -                             299,245                  232,203                  

Total 299,496                  253,488                  299,245                  232,203                  

2010 2009

 
The Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Guaranteed Non-Cumulative Perpetual Securities above are denominated in euro and were issued at par by 
Euroclear Finance 2 in June 2005 (principal amount of €300,000,000). The proceeds of the issue and the €4,500,000 capital of Euroclear 
Finance 2 were lent to Euroclear Bank through the full subscription of Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Perpetual Notes (principal amount of 
€304,500,000, net of €2,600,000 of issue costs) issued by Euroclear Bank. These notes provide Upper Tier II regulatory capital to Euroclear 
Bank on a standalone basis, whereas the Securities provide Hybrid Tier I regulatory capital to Euroclear Bank on a consolidated basis. 
Euroclear Bank has irrevocably guaranteed, on a subordinated basis, the due payment of all sums payable by Euroclear Finance 2. The notes 
rank equally with all unsecured obligations of Euroclear Bank and rank in priority to the rights and claims of all classes of equity. They are sub-
ordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of Euroclear Bank. The securities rank equally with all other present and future, direct, unsecured, 
perpetual, non-cumulative and subordinated obligation of Euroclear Finance 2 and rank in priority to the rights and claims of all classes of equity. 
They are subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors both of Euroclear Finance 2 and Euroclear Bank. Euroclear Finance 2 has options to 
redeem the Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Guaranteed Non-Cumulative Perpetual Securities on 15 June 2015 and on any interest payment 
date thereafter. Upon the occurrence of a supervisory event or any event resulting in a general concursus creditorum on the assets of Euroclear 
Bank, as defined in the terms and conditions of Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Guaranteed Non-Cumulative Perpetual Securities, the 
securities together with the accrued interest will be converted into Conversion Profit-sharing Certificates in consideration for a contribution in 
kind of the Securities to Euroclear Bank. Upon the occurrence of such an event, the notes will also be redeemed at their principal amount 
together with accrued interest. 

The difference between the fair value of the subordinated liabilities, which represents their quoted price plus accrued interest, and their book value 
reflected the particular market conditions of that period, in particular the lack of liquidity for hybrid capital instruments. Prevailing interest rates and 
spreads at 31 December 2010, taken alone, would have indicated a significantly higher fair value. 

During 2009, Euroclear Finance 2 repurchased a nominal amount of €6 million of its issued securities (Note X). This transaction resulted in an 
equivalent repurchase of the notes issued by Euroclear Bank. 
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XXXIV. Redeemable preference shares 
 
 

('€000) 2010                    2009                    

Preferred, non voting, redeemable shares 14                        14

 
In May 2000, Euroclear plc issued 50,000 preferred, non-voting, redeemable shares of one pound sterling each, which are 25% paid up. They 
have no voting rights but receive each year, on 1 June, a preferred dividend equal to 6.66% of their paid up nominal value. Subject to the 
provisions of the Companies Act, the pound sterling shares shall be redeemed 100 years from their date of issue or at any time prior thereto at 
the option of the company. On redemption, the company shall pay to the holder the paid up nominal value of the sterling shares. 

In the event of a winding up of the company, or a reduction of capital involving a repayment, the non-voting, non-equity, redeemable sterling 
preference shares have priority over the other classes of share capital. 
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XXXV. Share capital 
 
 
Authorised share capital 4,000,000 shares of 1 euro each

Equity shares

Issued, allotted and fully paid share capital Ordinary Class 'S' Total (€'000)

At 1 January and 31 December 2010 3,330,556          500,120             3,830,676          3,831                 

At 1 January and 31 December 2009 3,330,556          500,120             3,830,676          3,831                 

Number of shares

 
 
At 31 December 2010 and 2009, there was no stock option plan on the shares of Euroclear plc or any subsidiary. 

Equity shareholders have the right to attend and vote at general meetings and to receive dividends, except that class S shareholders are not 
entitled to vote on the appointment of any directors of the Company other than an S director. 
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XXXVI. Other reserves 
 
 

(€'000) Notes

Available-for-
sale 

revaluation 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve

Hedge of net 
inv. in 

foreign 
operations 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Legal 
reserve Other Total

At 1 January 2010 7,441            (400) 24,564          (44,699) 71,978          1,105,714     1,164,598     
Fair value adjustments XIX, XXII (15,390) 463               (9,051) -                   -                   -                   (23,978)
Deferred tax on fair value adjustments XVI 5,328            (157) -                   -                   -                   -                   5,171            
Foreign currency translation differences -                   -                   -                   36,596          -                   -                   36,596          
Transfer to non-distributable reserves -                   -                   -                   -                   92                 -                   92                 
Transfer to retained earnings -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (250,497) (250,497)

At 31 December 2010 (2,621) (94) 15,513          (8,103) 72,070          855,217        931,982        

At 1 January 2009 17,857          1,033            38,530          (72,152) 67,525          1,135,714     1,188,507     
Fair value adjustments XIX, XXII (10,351) (2,596) (13,966) -                   -                   -                   (26,913)
Deferred tax on fair value adjustments XVI (65) 1,163            -                   -                   -                   -                   1,098            
Foreign currency translation differences -                   -                   -                   27,453          -                   -                   27,453          
Transfer to non-distributable reserves -                   -                   -                   -                   4,453            55,000          59,453          
Transfer to retained earnings -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   (85,000) (85,000)

At 31 December 2009 7,441            (400) 24,564          (44,699) 71,978          1,105,714     1,164,598     

 
 
The hedge of net investment in foreign operations reserve relates to the group’s subsidiaries in Sweden and the United Kingdom. 

In addition to the translation of structural currency exposures relating to the group's subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the euro, 
the foreign currency translation reserve includes the translation impact when other group entities moved to the euro as their functional 
currency. 

The foreign currency translation reserve also includes the translation impact of goodwill and intangible assets expressed in Swedish krona and 
sterling that were recognised at the time of acquisition of subsidiaries in Sweden, and EMXCo and Xtrakter in the United Kingdom. 

The legal reserve represents non-distributable amounts required to be established as separate reserves in compliance with local laws in 
certain countries where the group operates. 

Other reserves include: 
- amounts previously classified as a Merger reserve under UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Since Merger Relief 

accounting is no longer permitted under IFRS, this amount is now classified under Other reserves. As with the Merger reserve under UK 
GAAP, any time there is an impairment charge relating to the goodwill of the relevant subsidiaries, there is a transfer to Retained earnings 
from this reserve for an equal amount, only within Shareholder’s equity. In 2010, a transfer of €250,000,000 was made to cover the goodwill 
impairment relating to the Euroclear UK & Ireland. In 2009, the transfer amounted to €85,000,000 and covered the goodwill impairment 
relating to the Euroclear UK & Ireland and ESES operating segments. Details on the 2010 impairment charge are set out in Note XXVI. 

- €22,267,000 relating to the acquisition of EMXCo in 2006; and  
- a non distributable reserve of €55,000,000 required to be established by Euroclear SA/NV during the duration of a loan that it made to 

Euroclear Investments to partially finance a capital increase in Euroclear SA/NV. 
 
At 31 December 2009, the Other reserves caption also included a €497,000 General reserve of Euroclear plc. During 2010, this was transferred 
to Retained earnings. 
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XXXVII. Dividends paid 
 
 

€ per share 2010                    2009                    

Equity paid 11.46 20.49

(€'000)

Equity paid 43,900                 78,491                 

 
See Note XLII for details of the proposed 2010 equity dividend. 
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XXXVIII. Note to the consolidated statement of cash flows 
 
 
1. Reconciliation of operating loss to net operating cash flows 

 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Loss before taxation (118,090) (491)
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation and amortisation XXV, XXVI 55,089                 54,977                 
- Impairment XIV 304,472               184,912               
- Interest paid on redeemable preference shares XXXIV 1                          1                          
- Interest on subordinated loan added back VI 12,702                 12,825                 
- Dividends received VIII (307) (17,814)
- Realised gains on available-for-sale financial assets IX (20,654) (33,770)
- Realised gains on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost X -                           (2,088)
- (Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 288                      (14)
- Provision for liabilities and charges XIII 33,058                 5,221                   

Other non-cash movements (12,372) (10,635)

Cash flows from operating loss before changes in operating assets/liabilities 254,187               193,124               

Net increase/(decrease) in deposits from banks and customers 280,376               (1,882,586)
Net (increase)/decrease in monetary reserve XVII 198,215               (208,488)
Net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances XVIII (63,109) (61,208)
Net (increase)/decrease in other assets XXIII (58,513) 120,801               
Net increase/(decrease) in other liabilities XXIX 10,173                 (300,290)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 621,329               (2,138,647)

 
 
2. Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the balance sheet 
 

Effect of Effect of
At foreign At At foreign At

1 January exchange Cash 31 December 1 January exchange Cash 31 December
(€'000) 2010             movements Flow 2010             2009             movements Flow 2009             

Cash and balances at central banks 736,739        5,742             (308,643) 433,838        1,020,049     (1,301) (282,009) 736,739        
(Note XVII)
Loans and advances  (Note XVIII) 6,471,996     433,971         760,698        7,666,665     8,724,777     (89,193) (2,163,588) 6,471,996     

Total 7,208,735     439,713         452,055        8,100,503     9,744,826     (90,494) (2,445,597) 7,208,735     

 
 
Cash equivalents represent Loans and advances with an initial maturity of three months or less, including accrued interest. 
 
3. Reconciliation of cash equivalents to Cash and balances with central banks and Loans and advances 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Cash and balances with central banks XVII 433,838               736,739               
Loans and advances 7,666,665            6,471,996            

Cash and cash equivalent at year end 8,100,503            7,208,735            

 Cash and balances with central banks -  monetary reserve XVII 10,390                 208,605               
 Loans and advances with initial maturity above three months 134,781               72,352                 

 Cash and balances with central banks XVII 444,228               945,344               

 Loans and advances XVIII 7,801,446            6,544,348            
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XXXIX. Contingent liabilities and commitments 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

At 31 December
Assets pledged as collateral 1,581,413 1,522,713
Securities lending indemnifications 9,417,945 6,954,266
Litigation 23,948 -                           

 
 
Assets pledged as collateral include:  
- investment securities with a book value of €1,580,663,000 (2009: €1,521,963,000) deposited with the Belgian National Bank as potential 

collateral, principally for TARGET-related exposures. There was no exposure at 31 December 2010 (2009: €0). 
- a bank deposit of €750,000 (2009: €750,000) pledged by Euroclear Finland to a third party registration fund in order to fulfil its obligations 

as account operator. 

Under the terms of the Euroclear Securities Lending and Borrowing Programme, Euroclear Bank provides an indemnification to securities 
lenders whereby if a securities borrower is unable to return the securities, Euroclear Bank will indemnify the lender with replacement 
securities or their cash equivalent. As of 31 December 2010, the amount of such guarantees amounted to €9,417,945,000 (2009: 
€6,954,266,000), which represents market value plus accrued interest. Euroclear Bank's policy is that all securities borrowings are covered 
by collateral pledged by the borrowing banks and customers. 

Euroclear Bank is currently involved in potentially material litigation in the Commercial Court in the UK. The claim against Euroclear Bank 
has been brought by a client which is seeking damages for the alleged breach of contract and/or negligence by Euroclear Bank in certain of 
its past operations. In particular, the case concerns a specific transaction entered into pursuant to a Derivatives Service Agreement which 
operated between Euroclear Bank, the client and Lehman Brothers in September 2008, immediately prior to the insolvency of Lehman 
Brothers. The cause of action is set out in the client's Particulars of Claim, which were served on Euroclear on 19 November 2010. 
Euroclear served its Defence on 20 December 2010 in which it strongly rejected the client's allegations, and received the client's Reply on 
11 February 2011. The stated value of the client's claim is approximately US $32 million (plus interest). The financial consequences of 
losing this case are, however, likely to be greater than this figure because, under English law, the Court may order Euroclear Bank to pay a 
significant proportion of the legal costs incurred by the client in bringing a successful claim. The Board is of the opinion that Euroclear Bank 
is in a good position to defend this claim and consequently has made no provision. Litigation is, however, inherently uncertain, and this 
opinion may have to be reassessed. Euroclear Bank has insurance cover that would enable it to recover all except the first €10 million, if it 
was eventually to lose the case. The first €15 million of the insurance cover is provided by Euroclear Re. The €23,948,000 shown in the 
table above reflects the euro equivalent of the client’s claim, excluding any estimate for interest or legal costs.  
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XL. Operating lease commitments 
 
 

Vehicles, Vehicles,
plant and plant and

(€'000) Property equipment Property equipment

Group company as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases: 80,119                 29,130                 82,604                 15,812                 
- up to one year 20,065                 11,969                 21,786                 9,428                   
- later than one year and not later than five years 43,602                 17,161                 41,255                 5,782                   
- over five years 16,452                 -                           19,563                 602                      

2010 2009

The total sublease payments receivable relating to the above operating leases amounted to €7,055,000 (2009:€7,280,000) 
 

Minimum lease payments recognised as an expense 23,005                 11,240                 23,412                 8,963                   

 
 
Future minimum lease payments receivable under non cancellable leases: 2,386                   62                        850                      94                        
- up to one year 2,386                   31                        850                      31                        
- later than one year and not later than five years -                           31                        -                           63                        
- over five years -                           -                           -                           -                           
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XLI. Related party disclosures 
 
 
Euroclear plc, incorporated in the United Kingdom, is the ultimate parent of the Euroclear group. A list of its shareholders can be found on 
pages 124 and 125. 
Euroclear plc's investments in its subsidiaries are set out in note II to the parent company financial statements. 

Transactions with related parties, other than those between companies of the group, eliminated on consolidation, are limited to key manage-
ment compensation. Transactions between Euroclear plc, as parent company, and its subsidiaries are described in Note XV to the parent com-
pany financial statements. 

Key management compensation 
 
The compensation of key management (members of the management committees of Euroclear SA/NV and its (l)CSD subsidiaries and EMXCo and 
Xtrakter, group division heads and the Euroclear plc Executive Secretary) and non-executive Directors was as follows: 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Short-term employee benefits 19,279                 22,071                 
Post-employment benefits 1,818                   4,337                   
Other long-term benefits 5,045                   1,180                   
Termination benefits 1,742                   3,046                   

Total compensation of key management 27,884                 30,634                 

Emoluments of non-executive directors 957                      1,258                   

Total compensation of key management and director 28,841                 31,892                 

Emoluments of highest paid director 387                      479                      

 
For 2010, the Commission Bancaire, Financière et des Assurances (CBFA) in Belgium must review and approve the compensation principles 
for members of the management committees of Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Bank and of certain other senior management. This review 
process will not be completed until after the 2010 consolidated financial statements have been reviewed and approved by the Board. The 
amounts for 2010 above therefore include the level of variable remuneration accrued during 2010 and the currently expected allocation 
between short-term and long term benefits. Any change in the allocation will be explained in the 2011 consolidated financial statements. 
 
No loans or similar transactions occurred with Directors, key management or their close family members. 

The companies employing the Euroclear plc non-executive Directors are subject to the same terms, conditions and tariffs as other companies. 

Included in the fees of non-executive Directors are fees paid directly to the respective employers of the Euroclear Directors, amounting 
to €216,000 (2009: €500,000) 

Three directors waived the right to receive emoluments totalling €75,000 (2009: Three directors; €90,000). 

Directors' emoluments are in the form of fees with the exception of insurance benefits for one director amounting to €22,000 (2009: €18,000). 
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XLII. Events after the balance sheet date 
 
 
Proposed dividend 
 
On 10 March 2011, the Directors resolved to propose a dividend in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2010 of €11.00 per 
equity share, which will distribute €42,137,000 of shareholders' equity. The dividend will be paid on 10 June 2011 to shareholders on the 
register on 21 April 2011. 
 
Sale of Held-to-Maturity securities 
 
In January 2011, in view of credit concerns about the sovereign debt of certain countries, Euroclear Bank decided to sell €200 million of its €290 
million Held-to-Maturity (HTM) portfolio, realising a pre-tax loss of €1,261,000. These securities, representing the reinvestment of the proceeds 
from Euroclear Bank’s hybrid capital issued in 2005, had been classified as HTM in accordance with management's intention, at that time, to keep 
them until maturity. As a consequence of these sales, and in accordance with IAS 39, the remaining €90 million of the HTM portfolio has been 
reclassified as Available-for-Sale (AFS) at its fair value on the date of transfer. No securities may be classified as HTM before January 2014. 
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Euroclear plc 
 
 
We have audited the group financial statements of Euroclear plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the Consolidated 
Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes.  The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union. 
 
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 12, the directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
Opinion on financial statements  
In our opinion the group financial statements:  
• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then 

ended; 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and  
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the group financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the group financial statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:  
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or  
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  

 
Other matter  
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Euroclear plc for the year ended 31 December 2010.  
 

 
 
John Hitchins (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
11 March 2011 
 
Notes: 

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Euroclear plc website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the 
auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website. 

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions. 
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Parent company statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2010 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiary undertakings II 1,562,921            1,562,921            
Deferred income tax assets III 60                        71                        
Trade and other receivables IV 12,441                 14,420                 

Total non-current assets 1,575,422            1,577,412            

Current assets
Trade and other receivables IV 5,309                   4,957                   
Derivative financial instruments V 2,955                   4,092                   
Cash and cash equivalents VI 19,839                 45,243                 

Total current assets 28,103                 54,292                 

Total assets 1,603,525            1,631,704            

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company
Ordinary shares VII 3,831                   3,831                   
Share premium 143,223               143,223               
Other reserves VIII 1,209,959            1,210,456            
Retained earnings 239,546               266,715               

Total equity 1,596,559            1,624,225            

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Redeemable preference shares IX 15                        14                        
Pension deficit X 386                      450                      

Total non-current liabilities 401                      464                      

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables XI 473                      408                      
Current income tax liabilities 3,273                   2,546                   
Derivative financial instruments V 2,819                   4,061                   

Total current liabilities 6,565                   7,015                   

Total liabilities 6,966                   7,479                   

Total equity and liabilities 1,603,525            1,631,704            

 
 
The Notes on pages 20 to 27 and 104 to 122 form part of these financial statements. 
 
These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by 
 

 
 
Sir Nigel Wicks, Chairman of the Board 
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Statement of changes in equity 
 
 

(€'000) Capital
Share

premium
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings

Total
equity

At 1 January 2010 3,831            143,223        1,210,456     266,715        1,624,225     
Profit for the year (Note I) -                   -                   -                   16,173          16,173          
Dividends paid (Note XXXVII to Euroclear plc consolidated financial statements) -                   -                   -                   (43,900) (43,900)
Transfer to retained earnings (Note VIII) -                   -                   (497) 497               -                   
Pension reserve -                   -                   -                   61                 61                 

At 31 December 2010 3,831            143,223        1,209,959     239,546        1,596,559     

At 1 January 2009 3,831            143,223        1,210,456     329,641        1,687,151     
Profit for the year (Note I) -                   -                   -                   15,565          15,565          
Dividends paid (Note XXXVII to Euroclear plc consolidated financial statements) -                   -                   -                   (78,491) (78,491)

At 31 December 2009 3,831            143,223        1,210,456     266,715        1,624,225     

 
The Notes on pages 20 to 27 and 104 to 122 form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows  
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations XII 20,680                 48,574                 
Income tax paid (2,183) (20,840)

Net cash generated from operating activities 18,497                 27,734                 

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company's shareholders (43,900) (78,491)
Dividends paid to holders of redeemable preference shares (1) (1)

Net cash used in financing activities (43,901) (78,492)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (25,404) (50,758)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year VI 45,243                 96,001                 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year VI 19,839                 45,243                 

  
 
The Notes on pages 20 to 27 and 104 to 122 form part of these financial statements. 
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I. Group profit dealt with in the accounts of Euroclear plc 
 
 
For 2010, a profit after tax of €16,173,000 (2009: €15,565,000) of the group's overall profit attributable to equity shareholders was recorded 
in the accounts of Euroclear plc. As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the income statement of Euroclear plc has not 
been presented separately. 
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II. Investments in subsidiary undertakings 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

At 1 January 1,562,921            1,562,921            

At 31 December XV 1,562,921            1,562,921            

 
At 31 December 2010, Euroclear plc had the following interests in the issued ordinary share capital of subsidiary undertakings. 

 

Name 
Country of 
incorporation Nature of business 

Proportion 
of voting 

rights and 
ordinary 

shares held 

Consolidated subsidiaries    
Caisse interprofessionelle de dépôts et 
de virements de titres SA1 

 
Belgium 

 
Central Securities Depository for Belgium 

 
100% 

Calar Belgium SA/NV2 Belgium Property investment 100% 
EMX Company Limited1 United Kingdom Non-trading 100% 
Euroclear SA/NV3 

 
Belgium 
 

(I)CSD holding company, ownership of share processing 
platforms and delivery of shared non-operational services 100% 

Euroclear Bank SA/NV1 Belgium Banking, securities settlement and custody services 100% 
Euroclear Finance 2 SA2 Luxembourg Financing vehicle 100% 
Euroclear Finland Oy4 Finland Central Securities Depository for Finland 100% 
Euroclear France SA1 France Central Securities Depository for France 100% 
Euroclear Investments Luxembourg Investment holding 100% 
Euroclear Properties France SAS3 France Property investment 100% 
Euroclear Re SA3 Luxembourg Reinsurance 100% 
Euroclear Sweden AB5 Sweden Central Securities Depository for Sweden 100% 
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited1 

 
United Kingdom 
 

Central Security Depository for the UK and Ireland, and 
investment-fund order routing 100% 

NCSD Holding AB1 Sweden Investment holding 100% 
NCSD Systems AB4 Sweden Dormant 100% 
Nederlands Centraal Instituut voor 
Giraal Effectenverkeer BV (Necigef)1 

 
The Netherlands 

 
Central Securities Depository for The Netherlands 

 
100% 

Nederlands Interprofessioneel 
Effectencentrum NIEC BV(NIEC)1 

 
The Netherlands 

 
Central Securities Depository for The Netherlands 

 
100% 

VKI AB4 Sweden Dormant 100% 
Xtrakter Limited1 United Kingdom TRAX trade matching and reporting 100% 
    
1 Held through Euroclear SA/NV.  
2 Held through Euroclear Bank SA/NV. 
3 Held through Euroclear Investments. 
4 Held through Euroclear Sweden AB. 
5 Held through NCSD Holding AB. 
 
EMX Company Limited’s investment-fund order routing business was transferred to Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited in September 2010. 
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II. Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued) 
 
 

Name 
Country of 
incorporation Nature of business 

Proportion 
of voting 

rights and 
ordinary 

shares held 
    
Non-consolidated subsidiaries    
CIN (Belgium) Limited1 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
CREST Client Tax Nominee (No. 1) 
Limited1 

United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 

CREST Depository Limited2 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
CREST International Nominees Limited1 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
CREST Stamp Nominee (No. 1) Limited2 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
CREST Stamp Nominee (No. 2) Limited2 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
CRESTCo Limited2 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
EC Nominees Limited3 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
EOC Equity Limited3 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
Euroclear International Services Limited4 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
Euroclear Nominees Limited3 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
FundSettle EOC Nominees Limited3 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
Trinity Nominees Limited2 United Kingdom Nominee company 100% 
    
 

1 Held through CREST Depository Limited. 
2 Held through Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited. 
3 Held through Euroclear Bank SA/NV. 
4 Held through Euroclear SA/NV. 
 
These companies have not been consolidated since they are not material. No transactions have occurred between these companies and 
the other companies in the group.
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III. Deferred income tax assets 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Defined benefit plan 60                        71                        

Total 60                        71                        

 
 
A deferred tax asset has been recognised on the defined benefit plan liability (see Note X).  
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IV. Trade and other receivables 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Non-current assets
Loans to related parties XV 12,441                 14,420                 

Total 12,441                 14,420                 

Current assets
Accrued fee income from related parties XV 5,195                   4,853                   
Pre-payments 79                        80                        
Other assets 35                        24                        

Total 5,309                   4,957                   

 
 
Euroclear Properties France reimbursed €2,000,000 of its loan in November 2010. The fair value of the loan at 31 December 2010 was 
€14,055,000 (2009: €16,080,000).  
 
The fair value of the current trade and other receivables equals their carrying amount as at 31 December 2010 and 2009. 
 
No trade and other receivables were impaired or past due as at 31 December 2010 and 2009. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivable mentioned above. 
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V. Derivative financial instruments 
 
 
At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the fair value and the notional amounts of the company's derivative financial instruments 
were as follows: 
 

(€'000) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

At 31 December 2010
Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange 136                 -                      3,256              -                      

Stock options 2,819              2,819              14,706            14,706            

Total 2,955              2,819              17,962            14,706            

At 31 December 2009
Foreign exchange derivatives
- Forward foreign exchange 31                   -                      3,471              -                      

Stock options 4,061              4,061              45,604            45,604            

Total 4,092              4,061              49,075            45,604            

Fair value Notional amount

 
 
All derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability held for trading as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the derivative assets in the balance sheet. 
 
The Belgian-based members of Euroclear SA/NV and Euroclear Bank Management Committee and certain members of senior 
management participate in a stock option scheme (not involving shares of any Euroclear group company) managed by the Board of 
Directors of Euroclear plc.  
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VI. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Cash at bank and on hand 2,748                   1,860                   
Short-term bank deposits 17,091                 43,383                 

Total 19,839                 45,243                 

 
 
The amount held by related parties at 31 December 2010 was €16,772,000 (2009: €42,526,000) (Note XV). 
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VII. Share capital 
 
 
For details, see Note XXXV to the Euroclear plc consolidated financial statements. 
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VIII. Other reserves 
 
 

(€'000)

Non-
distributable

capital
reserve

General
reserve

Other
reserves                 Total

At 1 January 2010 10,752               497                    1,199,207          1,210,456          
Transfer to retained earnings -                        (497) -                        (497)

At 31 December 2010 10,752               -                        1,199,207          1,209,959          

At 1 January and 31 December 2009 10,752               497                    1,199,207          1,210,456          

 
 
Euroclear plc ordinary shares issued as deferred consideration in 2004, in connection with the acquisition of 20% of Clearnet in 2002, were 
revalued from €33,444,000 in 2002 to €22,692,000 when issued. Since the investment in LCH.Clearnet Group Limited (Clearnet having 
merged with London Clearing House Limited in 2003) was recorded in a subsidiary, Euroclear Bank, the decrease in the cost of the 
investment is recorded in the Euroclear plc parent company financial statements as a non-distributable capital reserve. 
 
During 2010, the General reserve was transferred to Retained earnings. 
 
Other reserves include €1,176,940,000 previously classified as a Merger reserve under UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP). Since Merger Relief accounting is no longer permitted under IFRS, this amount is now classified under Other reserves. The 
remaining €22,267,000 relates to the acquisition of Euroclear Belgium in 2006. 
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IX. Redeemable preference shares 
 
 
For details, see Note XXXIV to the Euroclear plc consolidated financial statements. 
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X. Pension deficit 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Defined benefit plan 386                      450                      

Total 386                      450                      

 
 
The plan, relating to annuity pensions payable to former Executive Secretaries, transferable to their spouses in case of death, has been 
valued for the first time in 2009 in accordance with IAS 19 rules. 
 
At 31 December 2010, the plan relates to the estimated obligations for one spouse (2009: Two spouses).  
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XI. Trade and other payables 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Amounts due to related parties XV 228                      165                      
Social security and other taxes 54                        40                        
Accruals and deferred income 99                        128                      
Other liabilities 92                        75                        

Total 473                      408                      
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XII. Cash generated from operations 
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Profit before income tax 19,089                 18,465                 

Adjustments for:
- Fair value gains on derivative f inancial instruments (105) 877                      
- Interest on redeemable preference shares 1                          1                          
- Unrealised foreign exchange gain on redeemable preference shares (1) (1)

Other non-cash movements (6) -

Changes in working capital:
- Trade and other receivables 1,638                   30,650                 
- Trade and other payables 64                        (1,418)

Cash generated from operations 20,680                 48,574                 
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XIII. Contingent liabilities 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Contingent liabilities
Loan guarantee (contract amount) XV 13,204                 15,413                 
Loan guarantee to subsidiary (contract amount) XV -                           40,000                 

Total 13,204                 55,413                 

 
 
The loan guarantee relates to a loan taken out by Calar Belgium. The loan guarantee to subsidiary related to a loan taken out by Euroclear 
SA/NV, the last instalments of which were reimbursed during 2010. 



Euroclear plc annual report  2010 Notes to the parent company financial statements (continued) 

   
   

118 

  
XIV. Commitments 
 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Commitments (contract amount)
Liquidity facility provided to subsidiary - one year or less XV 20,000                 20,000                 

 
 
The Company has contractually committed to make a liquidity facility of up to € 20,000,000 available to Euroclear SA/NV. No amount has 
been drawn on this facility. 
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 XV. Related-party transactions 
 
 
Euroclear plc is the ultimate parent of the Euroclear group. Its investments in its subsidiaries are set out in Note II. 
 
The following is a summary of the balances relating to transactions with Euroclear plc's subsidiaries included in its financial statements: 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

Assets
Non-current assets 1,575,362            1,577,341            
Investment in subsidiaries II 1,562,921            1,562,921            
Trade and other receivables IV 12,441                 14,420                 

Current assets 21,967                 47,379                 
Trade and other receivables IV 5,195                   4,853                   
Cash and cash equivalents VI 16,772                 42,526                 

Total assets 1,597,329            1,624,720            

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables XI 228                      165                      

Total liabilities 228                      165                      

Income statement
Revenues 20,225                 19,365                 
Administrative expenses (564) (603)
Other income 696                      758                      
Finance income 77                        729                      

Total income statement 20,434                 20,249                 

Off-balance sheet
Guarantees provided XIII 13,204                 55,413                 
Liquidity facility provided XIV 20,000                 20,000                 

Total off-balance sheet 33,204                 75,413                 

 
 
 
Further details of the transactions with related parties and of key management compensation are provided below. 
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XV. Related-party transactions (continued) 
 
 
1. Transactions with its subsidiaries 
 
Unsecured loans 
 
The loan transactions and related interest are as follows. 
 

(€'000) Notes 2010                    2009                    

At 1 January 14,420                 16,784                 
Reimbursement during the year (2,000) (2,000)
Net change in accrued interest 21                        (364)

At 31 December IV 12,441                 14,420                 

 
 
The loan to Euroclear Properties France has an interest rate of 4.82% and is reimbursable in 9 annual instalments of €2,000,000 as from 
May 2011, although Euroclear Properties France may with prior notice reimburse all or part of the loan. Three reimbursements, each 
amounting to €2,000,000, have been made in November 2005, May 2009 and November 2010. 
 
No provisions have been recognised in respect of this loan. 
 
Bank accounts and term deposits 
Euroclear plc also has sight and unsecured short-term deposit accounts at Euroclear Bank. The deposits are remunerated at market rates 
of interest. 
 
No provisions have been recognised in respect of these deposits. 
 
Administrative support 
Certain administrative support costs are periodically recharged to and by other companies within the Euroclear group. 
 
Licence agreement 
Under a licence agreement, Euroclear plc has granted to Euroclear Bank the right to operate the Euroclear System and the right to use and 
sub-licence the Euroclear Trademark. The agreement may be terminated by either party with 3 years notice. Euroclear Bank pays Euroclear 
plc a royalty fee of 2.7% (2009: 2.7%), computed on certain qualifying revenues. 
 
Guarantees provided 
Euroclear plc provided a guarantee to Euroclear Bank in connection with the bank's loans to Euroclear SA/NV. Euroclear SA/NV paid 
Euroclear plc a guarantee fee of 5 bps on the outstanding capital amount. Since the remaining instalments of the loan were reimbursed 
during 2010, the outstanding amount of the guarantee at 31 December 2010 was zero (2009: €40,000,000). 
 
Euroclear plc provides a guarantee to a Belgian bank in connection with that bank's loan made to Calar Belgium SA/NV, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Euroclear Bank, in 1995. Calar Belgium pays Euroclear plc a guarantee fee of 20 bps on the outstanding capital amount. At 31 
December 2010, the amount of the guarantee was €13,204,000 (2009: €15,413,000). 
 
Liquidity facility 
In July 2005, Euroclear plc provided a liquidity facility to Euroclear SA/NV for an aggregate principal amount of €20,000,000. The facility 
was made for an initial period of one year, automatically renewed. It can be terminated by either party with three months notice. A fee of 5 
bps is computed on the amount of the facility regardless of whether the facility is used and any utilisation of the facility (none to date) is 
remunerated at Euribor + 12.5 bps. 
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XV. Related-party transactions (continued) 
 
 
2. Key management compensation 
 
The compensation of key management was as follows:  
 
 

(€'000) 2010                    2009                    

Short-term employee benefits 311                      284                      
Post-employment benefits 41                        39                        

352                      323                      

Fees of non-executive directors 294                      226                      

Total 646                      549                      

 
 
 
Further information relating to Directors’ emoluments can be found in Note XLI to the Euroclear plc consolidated financial statements. No 
loans or similar transactions occurred with Directors, key management or their close family members. 
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XVI. Events after the balance sheet date 
 
 
Proposed dividend 
 
On 10 March 2011, the Directors resolved to propose a dividend in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2010 of €11.00 per 
equity share, which will distribute €42,137,000 of shareholders' equity. The dividend will be paid on 10 June 2011 to shareholders on the 
register on 21 April 2011.
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Euroclear plc 
 
 
We have audited the parent company financial statements of Euroclear plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the 
Parent Company Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flow and the related notes. 
These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out within note II of the consolidated 
financial statements. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 12, the directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
Opinion on financial statements  
In our opinion the parent company financial statements:  
• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of its cash flows for the year then ended; 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the 

Companies Act 2006; and  
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the parent company financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the parent company financial statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:  
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or  
• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or  
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or  
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
Other matter  
We have reported separately on the consolidated financial statements of Euroclear plc for the year ended 31 December 2010. 
 

 
 
John Hitchins (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
11 March 2011 
 
Notes: 

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Euroclear plc website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the 
auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website. 

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions. 
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List of Euroclear plc shareholders 
As per registrations completed at Companies House as of 28 February 2011 
 
 
A 
Abbey National plc 
London, United Kingdom 
Allied Irish Bank plc 
Dublin, Ireland 
Allsec Nominees Limited 
Dundee, United Kingdom 
Arab Banking Corporation (BSC) 
Manama, Bahrain 
Asco Nominees Limited 
Manchester, United Kingdom 
Astaire Group plc  
London, United Kingdom 
Aviva International Insurance Limited  
London, United Kingdom   
 
B 
Banc of America Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Banca del Ceresio 
Lugano, Switzerland 
Banco Santander Central Hispano SA 
Madrid, Spain 
Bangkok Bank Public Limited Company 
Bangkok, Thailand 
Bank Julius Baer & Co. Ltd 
Zurich, Switzerland 
Bank of Bermuda Limited 
Hamilton, Bermuda 
Bank of China 
Beijing, China 
Bank of England 
London, United Kingdom 
Bank One Europe Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Bank Sarasin & Co. Ltd 
Basel, Switzerland 
Bank Vontobel AG 
Zurich, Switzerland 
Banque Palatine 
Paris, France 
Barclays Bank plc 
London, United Kingdom 
Barratt & Cooke Nominees Limited 
Norfolk, United Kingdom 
BGC International 
London, United Kingdom 
Blankstone Sington Limited 
Liverpool, United Kingdom 
BMO Capital Markets Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
BNL International Investments 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg 
BNP Paribas Private Investment 
Management Limited  
London, United Kingdom  
BNP Paribas Securities Services 
Paris, France 
BNP Paribas UK Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
BNY International Financing Corporation 
New York, USA 
Brewin Dolphin Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Brown Shipley & Co Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
BTI Investments 
London, United Kingdom 
 
C 
CACEIS Bank 
Paris, France 
Calyon 
Paris, France 
Capita IRG plc 
Kent, United Kingdom 
 
 

 
 
Cazenove IP Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Charles Stanley & Co Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Chuo Mitsui Trust and Banking 
Co Ltd 
Tokyo, Japan 
Citigroup Global Markets Europe  
Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Citigroup Global Markets Inc 
New York, USA 
Citibank International PLC 
London, United Kingdom 
Citibank NA 
London, United Kingdom 
Clydesdale Bank plc 
Glasgow, United Kingdom 
Collins Stewart (CI) Ltd 
Guernsey, United Kingdom 
Collins Stewart Europe Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Commerzbank AG  
Frankfurt am Main, Germany  
Commerzbank AG (London Branch)  
London, United Kingdom  
Computershare Investor Services plc 
Edinburgh, United Kingdom 
Corner Banca SA 
Lugano, Switzerland 
Credit Agricole Asset 
Management Group 
Paris, France 
Credit Suisse First Boston 
Zurich, Switzerland 
Credit Suisse Securities 
(Europe) Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Credit Suisse (UK) Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
 
D 
Daiwa Capital Markets Europe Limited  
London, United Kingdom  
Daiwa Securities Group Inc 
Tokyo, Japan 
Danske Bank AS 
Copenhagen, Denmark 
Davco Nominees Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Davy Nominees Limited 
Dublin, Ireland 
DekaBank Deutsche Girozentrale 
Frankfurt am Main, Germany 
Deutsche Bank AG 
Frankfurt/Main, Germany 
Deutsche Bank AG 
London, United Kingdom 
Dolmen Securities Limited 
Dublin, Ireland 
 
E 
Equiniti Limited  
Lancing, United Kingdom  
Euronext NV 
Amsterdam, The Netherlands 
Evolution Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
 
F 
FHF (Nominees) Ltd 
Leeds, United Kingdom 
FIL Limited  
Pembroke HM, Bermuda 
 
 
 

 
 
Fiske plc 
London, United Kingdom 
Fortis Bank (Nederland) NV 
Amsterdam, The Netherlands 
Fortis Bank NV 
Brussels, Belgium 
Fortis Holdings (UK) Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Fox-Pitt Kelton Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
 
G 
Garban Securities Holdings (Europe) 
Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Gee and Co 
Toronto, Canada 
GHC Capital Markets Ltd  
Leicester, United Kingdom  
Goldman Sachs International 
London, United Kingdom 
Gulf International Bank BSC 
Manama, Bahrain 
 
H 
HALB Nominees Limited 
Birmingham, United Kingdom 
Halifax Share Dealing Limited 
Halifax, United Kingdom 
Hargreaves Lansdown Stockbrokers 
Limited 
Bristol, United Kingdom 
HB Markets plc  
London, United Kingdom 
HSBC Bank PLC 
London, United Kingdom 
HSBC France 
Paris, France 
HSBC Holdings plc 
London, United Kingdom 
HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt Gesellschaft 
für Bankbeteiligungen mbH 
Dusseldorf, Germany 
 
I 
ING Belgium SA 
Bruxelles, Belgium 
ING (London) (No. 12) Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Instinet Europe Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International 
S.A. 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg 
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
Torino, Italy 
Investec Group Investments (UK) Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
 
J 
James Brearley & Sons Limited 
Blackpool, United Kingdom 
J.P. Morgan Europe Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
J.P.Morgan International Finance 
Limited 
New York, USA 
 
K 
KAS BANK NV 
Amsterdam, The Netherlands 
KBC Bank N.V.  
Brussels, Belgium  
Killik & Co Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Kuwait Investment Company (SAK) 
Safat, Kuwait 
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L 
La Roche & Co. 
Basel, Switzerland 
LCF Rothschild Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Lehman Brothers International (Europe) (in 
administration)  
London, United Kingdom 
Les Fils Dreyfus & Cie SA 
Basel, Switzerland 
LFCM Holdings LLC 
New York, USA 
Lloyds TSB Bank plc 
London, United Kingdom 
Lombard Odier Darier Hentsch & Cie 
Geneva, Switzerland 
Luxembourg State and Savings Bank 
Trust Company SA 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg 
 
M 
Merrill Lynch International 
London, United Kingdom 
Merrill Lynch Nominees Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
MF Global UK Limited  
London, United Kingdom  
Midas Nominees Limited 
Manchester, United Kingdom 
Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking 
Corporation 
Tokyo, Japan 
Mizuho Corporate Bank Ltd 
Tokyo, Japan 
Mizuho Investors Securities Co Ltd 
Tokyo, Japan 
Mizuho Securities Co Ltd  
Tokyo, Japan  
Mizuho Trust & Banking Co Ltd 
Tokyo, Japan 
M M Warburg & Co 
Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien 
Hamburg, Germany 
Mole Nominees Limited 
Dublin, Ireland 
Morgan Stanley Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Morgan Stanley UK Group 
London, United Kingdom 
 
N 
Natexis Bleichroeder Inc 
New York, USA 
NCB Trust Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Nikko Cordial Securities Inc 
Tokyo, Japan 
Nomura Holdings, Inc 
Tokyo, Japan 
Nomura International plc 
London, United Kingdom 
Nordea Bank Danmark A/S 
Copenhagen, Denmark 
Nordea Bank Finland plc 
Helsinki, Finland 
Nordea Bank Norge ASA 
Oslo, Norway 
Nortrust Nominees Ltd A/C LTD01 
London, United Kingdom 
Numis Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
 
O 
Old Oaks Holdings Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
OMFS (GGP) Limited  
London, United Kingdom 
 
P 
Pendle Nominees Limited A/C HP 
Blackburn, United Kingdom 
Pendle Nominees Limited 
Blackburn, United Kingdom 
Pershing Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Pictet & Cie 
Geneva, Switzerland 
 
 

Prudential Equity Group, LLC 
Newark, USA 
Puilaetco Dewaay Private Bankers S.A. 
Bruxelles, Belgium 
 
R 
Rathbone Brothers plc 
London, United Kingdom 
RBC Dominion Securities Inc 
Toronto, Canada 
Redmayne (Nominees) Limited 
Leeds, United Kingdom 
Rensburg Sheppards Investment 
Management Limited 
Leeds, United Kingdom 
Rensburg Sheppards PLC 
Leeds, United Kingdom 
Resona Bank Limited 
Tokyo, Japan 
Reyker Nominees Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Robert Fleming Holdings Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Royal Bank of Canada Europe Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Rulegale Nominees Limited 
Bury, United Kingdom 
 
S 
Sampo Bank plc 
Helsinki, Finland 
Schroder Investment Management 
Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Shinsei Bank Limited 
Tokyo, Japan 
Sicovam Holding s.a 
Paris, France 
SIX Swiss Exchange AG  
Zurich, Switzerland  
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
Stockholm, Sweden 
Smith & Williamson Corporate Finance Limited  
London, United Kingdom  
Smith & Williamson Investment 
Management Ltd 
London, United Kingdom 
Société Générale 
Paris, France 
Société Générale (London Branch) 
London, United Kingdom 
Speirs & Jeffrey Limited 
Glasgow, United Kingdom 
St Ann's Square Nominees Limited 
Manchester, United Kingdom 
State Street International Holdings 
Boston, USA 
State Street London Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
State Street Nominees Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 
Tokyo, Japan 
Svenska Handelsbanken 
Stockholm, Sweden 
 
T 
Taiwan Depository & Clearing 
Corporation 
Taipei City, Taiwan 
TD Waterhouse Investor Services 
(Europe) Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Teathers Ltd  
London, United Kingdom 
The Bank of East Asia 
(Nominees) Limited 
Hong Kong 
The Bank of New York 
New York, USA 
The Bank of New York 
(Nominees) Limited 
Manchester, United Kingdom 
The Bank of Nova Scotia 
Toronto, Canada 
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd 
Tokyo, Japan 
 
 

The Bank of Yokohama, Ltd 
Tokyo, Japan 
The Governor and Company of the Bank of 
Scotland 
Edinburgh, United Kingdom 
The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Limited 
Hong Kong 
The Irish Stock Exchange Limited 
Dublin, Ireland 
The London Stock Exchange plc 
London, United Kingdom 
The Northern Trust Company 
London, United Kingdom 
The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V.  
Amsterdam, The Netherlands  
The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. (London 
Branch)  
London, United Kingdom  
The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. (Paris Branch)  
Paris, France  
The Royal Bank of Scotland plc 
Edinburgh, United Kingdom 
The Share Centre Ltd 
Aylesbury, United Kingdom 
The Sumitomo Trust & Banking Co Limited 
Tokyo, Japan 
Tullett Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
 
U 
UBS AG, Zurich 
Zurich, Switzerland  
Union Bancaire Privée 
Geneva, Switzerland 
 
W 
Walker Crips Group plc 
London, United Kingdom 
W H Ireland Limited 
Manchester, United Kingdom 
Wilkinform (Nominees) Limited 
Turnbridge Wells, United Kingdom 
Winterflood Securities Limited 
London, United Kingdom 
Wood Gundy SA 
Geneva, Switzerland 
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